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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher
investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make
the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated
investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever
for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of China Eco-Farming Limited (the “Company”) (the “Director(s)”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the
best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this report misleading.

This report will remain on the Company’s website at http://www.aplushk.com/clients/8166chinaeco-farming/
index.html and the “Latest Company Announcements” page of the GEM website for at least 7 days from the date
of its posting.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. So David Tat Man (“Mr. So”) (BRZE X% 4%), aged 36,
is an executive Director. Mr. So holds a bachelor degree in
surveying from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
is @ member of The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors
and The Hong Kong Institute of Directors. Mr. So started his
career in the investment department of Savills (Hong Kong)
Limited and then worked in a company that specialized in
China property investment prior to joining the Company. He
has extensive experience in investment in China and Hong
Kong. Mr. So joined the Group in January 2014.

Mr. Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith (“Mr. Ng") (R .5%4), aged
60, is an executive Director and Company Secretary of the
Company. Mr. Ng graduated from the University of Alberta,
Canada, with a Bachelor’'s degree in Commerce, majoring
in Accounting. He also obtained a Master of Commerce
degree in Professional Accounting from the University of New
South Wales, Australia and is a Certified Public Accountant
in Australia and a member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Ng has over 20 years of
management and accounting experience.

Mr. Ng was an executive director of U-RIGHT International
Holdings Limited (“U-RIGHT") from July 2011 to December
2017 (stock code: 627), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, which received petitions from the Hong Kong
Court against the company and its wholly owned subsidiary,
Uni-Capital Limited filed by Detusche Bank A.G., Hong Kong
Branch on 6 October 2008, before Mr. Ng's tenure of office.
The winding-up petition against U-RIGHT was subsequently
dismissed pursuant to the order of the Hong Kong Court
dated 16 September 2013.

Mr. Ng was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company in September 2014 redesignated as
an executive Director in September 2016 and was appointed
as Company Secretary in March 2018.
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PROFILE OF THE DIRECTORS
EXRE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Leung Chung Hee (“Mr. Leung”), (&%) aged
59, is appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company.
Mr. Leung is the Vice Chairman of Hong Kong Vegetable
Union. Mr. Leung has been working in the sales of fruits and
vegetables for over 40 years. Mr. Leung is very experience
in the retail and wholesale field and is well-connected. Mr.
Leung joined the Group in July 2020.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey (“Mr. Yick”) (BEELE),
aged 37, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr. Yick
is also the chairman of the remuneration committee and
members of the audit committee and nomination committee
of the Company. Mr. Yick graduated from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University with a Bachelor of Science degree. He
subsequently obtained the Juris Doctor degree as well as the
Postgraduate Certificate in Laws (PCLL) from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Yick was admitted to practice
law as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 2012. He has been a
member of The Law Society of Hong Kong since then. Mr.
Yick worked in both international and reputable local law
firms and is currently working as a solicitor with emphasis
on corporate finance practice at a local law firm. Mr. Yick
principally engages in Hong Kong listing projects and assists
in legal compliance of Hong Kong listed companies.

Mr. Yick was an independent non-executive director of
Mengke Holdings Limited (stock code: 1629), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from
November 2016 to December 2018. Mr. Yick joined the
Group in September 2014.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)
Mr. Zhang Min (“Mr. Zhang”) GRE%t4), aged 63, is an
independent non-executive Director. He is also the chairman
of the nomination committee, members of the audit
committee and remuneration committee of the Company.
Mr. Zhang holds a Bachelor of Philosophy Degree from the
Beijing Normal College and a Master of Laws Degree from
the Renmin University of China.

Mr. Zhang was an executive director of Value Convergence
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 821), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from June 2018 to
December 2019.

Mr. Zhang was the chief executive officer and an executive
director of Junefield Department Store Group Limited (stock
code: 758), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange from June 2016 to August 2018.

Mr. Zhang possesses over 20 years' experience in the banking
industry through his work with the China Construction Bank
Corporation Group. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in March
2015.

Ms. Yuen Wai Man (“Ms. Yuen”) (RE#8{#& 1), aged
49, is appointed as an independent non-executive Director.
Ms. Yuen is also the chairman of the audit committee and
members of the nomination committee and remuneration
committee. Ms. Yuen graduated from The University of
Hong Kong with a degree in Business Administration in
1994. She is the fellow member of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, fellow member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
overseas member of The Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Ms. Yuen has worked in accounting
and auditing area for over 25 years. Ms. Yuen is currently
an independent non-executive director of Chinese Strategic
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8089), a company listed on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange. Ms Yuen joined the Group in
September 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREwRKRD

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) was principally
engaged in the business of one-stop value chain services,
property investment, trading of grocery food products,
trading of consumables and agricultural products, provision
of money lending services and provision of financial services.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
recorded revenue of approximately HK$35,196,000 (2019:
HK$31,836,000), representing an increase of approximately
10.6% as compared to that of last year. Loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$58,845,000 (2019: HK$99,411,000).
The basic loss per share of the Company was approximately
HK6.31 cents (2019: HK12.37 cents).

Property Investment

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the property
investment segment reported revenue of approximately
HK$266,000 (2019: HK$3,222,000), representing an
decrease of approximately 91.7%, as compared to the last
year. The decrease was due to decrease in rental income from
commercial office. At 31 December 2020, the Group held
properties in the People’s Republic of China (PRC) and Hong
Kong for investment purpose amounted to approximately
HK$18,367,000 (2019: HK$136,793,000) included
investment properties held been sale. The portfolio’s rental
yield was shown in the table below.

Key performance - data of property investment
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Average occupancy level b AKX 14.3% 56.3%
Average monthly rental income FEFK (FHK N
per square metre (sq.m) BHEEERA HK$157# 7T HK$895 7T

Definition and calculation: Average occupancy level, being
percentage of floor area occupied by tenant. Average
monthly rental income per sq.m. being average rental income
charged to tenant per sq.m. of floor area leased.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)

One-stop Value Chain Services

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the one-
stop value chain services segment reported a revenue
of approximately HK$3,002,000 (2019: HK$7,282,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 58.8%, as
compared to the last year.

In order to improve the performance of this business, during
the financial year 2020, the team of this business segment
put a lot of efforts and resources to find new customers.
However, due to the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic, many
companies have cut their budget on information technology
(IT) related services.

Facing this predicament, the Directors started to search for
new business opportunities. They diversify the One-Stop
Value Chain Services Business and expand into other related
fields. During the second half year of 2020, the Group started
to enter into the gaming industry to sell gaming related
products.

Key performance - data of one-stop value chain
services
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Gross profit margin ETIES 4% 0.9%

Definition and calculation: Gross profit margin, being TE&E&TE ! EFXAEF LD EEEDN
percentage of gross profit to segment turnover. Batbe
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREwRKRD

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)

Trading of Consumables and Agricultural Products
During the year ended 31 December 2020, this
business segment reported a revenue of approximately
HK$14,375,000 (2019: HK$11,674,000), representing an
increase of approximately 23.1%, as compared to the last
year. This business segment is mainly composed of re-usable
bags trading business and bulk commodities trading in resin
plastics (ABS) and polyethylene (PE) which commenced last
year. It is regarded that taking part in the bulk commodities
trading business would broaden the income stream of the
Group and helps the management to actively identify plastic
related business opportunities. Further to the COVID-19
pandemic, the Group distributes the local manufactured
surgical masks of teenager masks and adult masks under
the brand of MIHK (“MIHK"). Inno-Bag Limited, a subsidiary
of the Group, is the official authorised sale agent of MIHK
and is selling the masks to hospitals, educational institutions,
medical or related institutions as well as other retail
customers.

Key performance - data of trading of consumables and
agricultural products
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Gross profit margin EFE 10.5% 15.4%

Definition and calculation: Gross profit margin, being
percentage of gross profit to segment turnover.

Trading of Grocery Food Products

In the trading of grocery food products segment, the
Group is the sole and exclusive distributor for the sale and
distribution of ramen and udon products under the brand
of “Nittin” (H7T)in Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan. The
outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic also makes frozen foods
became popular. The Directors decided to grip this chance to
expand the product mix in this segment and entered into the
frozen food industry. Starting from the second half year of
2020, after careful analysed on current market situation and
environment, the Group introduced new products including
imported frozen seafood.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)

Trading of Grocery Food Products (continued)

During the Reporting Period, the segment reported a revenue
of approximately HK$14,738,000 (2019: HK$5,182,000),
representing an increase of approximately 184.4% as
compared with the last corresponding period.

The trademark licence agreement and the sole distributorship
agreement for ramen and udon were renewed for a period
of 3 years on 25 March 2019. Details of the renewal was
disclosed in the announcement of the Company date at 25
March 2019.

Key performance — data of trading of grocery food
products
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Gross profit margin ETIES 8.4% 31.6%

Definition and calculation: Gross profit margin, being
percentage of gross profit to segment turnover.

Provision of money lending services

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group's
money lending services segment reported a revenue of
approximately HK$1,381,000 (2019: HK$1,280,000),
representing an increase of approximately 7.9% as compared
with the last corresponding period. With majority of the loans
were secured by un-listed company shares, the Group has put
its effort in maintaining, developing and expanding its Money
Lending Business.
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Key performance - loan interest data B IE — 20 Fl 5 Bl iE
2020 2019
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Interest rate earned B BREF] S 15.2% 1.7%

Definition and calculation: Interest rate earned, being
percentage of interest income divided by loan amount.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREwRKRD

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)

Provision of financial services

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group has a
licensed operating subsidiary, China AF Asset Management
Limited, a company holding Type 4 (advising on securities)
and Type 9 (asset management) licence under Securities and
Futures Commission (the “SFC"). The Group also provides
financial consultancy services. This segment reported a
revenue for the year ended 31 December of 2020 of
HK$1,434,000 (2019: HK$3,196,000), representing a
decrease of approximately 55.1% as compared with last
corresponding period. It was mainly due to the corporate
finance division operating under the name of China AF
Corporate Finance Limited ceased to operate and has made
an application to SFC to revoke its licence in September
2019. The licence was revoked in May 2020.

Securities investments

The Group had equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income and financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss in aggregate of approximately
HK$28,114,000 as at 31 December 2020, representing
approximately 10.41% of the Company’s total assets (31
December 2019: approximately HK$17,256,000, representing
approximately 4.86% of the Company’s total assets).

The Company’s investment strategy is to invest in securities
that have growth potential, with the aims to capture capital
appreciation and diversify the Company’s investment
portfolio (as detailed below) in order to reduce concentration
of investment risks in one industry and maximise value
for the Shareholders. The composition of the investment
portfolio may change from time to time during the coming
year. In order to mitigate the possible financial risks related
to the equities, the investment portfolio will be monitored
regularly and appropriate actions would be taken whenever
necessary in a prudent manner in response to changes in
market situation. Below is additional information in relation
to the significant investments with market value exceeding
HK$10,000,000 as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December
2019:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREwRKRD

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)

Securities investments (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 and year ended
31 December 2019 (continued)

Notes:

These are all listed companies on the Stock Exchange.
For the year ended 31 December 2020, together with
their subsidiaries are mainly engaged in sales of alcoholic
beverages, the provision of financial services, the provision of
blockchain services, the provision of loan financing services,
the provision of auction of alcoholic beverages business,
provision of QR codes on product packaging and solutions
and online advertising display services, the manufacture
and sale of packaging products, investments and trading
in securities, money lending, properties investments,
securities trading, trading business and dealing in, advising
on securities and asset management, futures and options
broking, EPC and consultancy operations, financing and
solar power generation, provision of secured financing
services and microfinance services, shipping and logistics,
design manufacture, supply and installation of passenger
vehicle leather upholstery, supply and installation of vehicle
electronic accessories.

Anhui Damingyuan Tourism Development Company
Limited* (Z#ABBEIKIEE BRHBERAFE), a company
listed on Shanghai Equity Exchange in the PRC until 28
February 2018, which is principally engaged in development
of tourism resources business. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 19 July 2016 and 31
August 2016.

This is another listed company on Shanghai Equity Exchange
in the PRC which is principally engaged in selling comfort
shoes and insoles, as well as foot related products.

*  For identification purposes only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Board admits the responsibility to environmental
protection. Over the years, the Group has committed to
reduce waste and pollution with a view of effective and
efficient resources utilisation in the office spaces. Staff are
reminded from time to time the Group's direction in this
respect.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations
The Group’s main business and operation work within
common trade practice environment and the Group
endeavours to comply with all legal and regulatory
requirements. In relation to the human resources, the
Group is committed to comply with the requirements of the
applicable laws and regulations, such as the Employment
Ordinance, ordinances in relation to discrimination, the
Privacy Ordinance and the Minimum Wage Ordinance.
The Group also values good conduct of the employees
and has set out clear guidelines to prevent bribery and to
regulate the acceptance of benefits by the employees. On
the corporate level, the Group continuously complies with
the requirements under the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the GEM (“GEM Listing Rules”) of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)
and the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”), such as
disclosure of interests, corporate governance, Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers
and “Inside Information” disclosure. The Group employs legal
and financial advisers when undergoing acquisitions or other
corporate exercises. During the year ended 31 December
2020, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and rules by the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREwRKRD

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)

Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers
The Group recognises importance of retaining talents to
ensure the ongoing execution of business plans. The Group
has established all-rounded staff policy and guidelines for
staff welfare, provide a safe workplace, and support the
development of talent. The Group provides incentives to
its employees based on their performance. The Group
encouraged employees to update their work-related
knowledge, skill by providing training offered by external
organisations. During the year ended 31 December 2020,
the employee voluntary turnover rate of the Group was kept
at a low level. During the year, no violation of labour law
was recorded. The key customers of the Group include the
long term trading customers and tenants of the investment
properties. The key suppliers of the Group are the suppliers
of the trading business. The Group has established long
term and solid business relationship with the suppliers which
ensures stable supply and quality products which meet
customers’ demand. During the year, there was no material
dispute between the Group and the customers/suppliers.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recorded
a revenue of approximately HK$35,196,000 (2019:
HK$31,836,000), representing an increase of approximately
10.6% as compared to that of last year.

Cost of sales for the year under review was approximately
HK$29,365,000 (2019: HK$20,658,000), representing an
increase of approximately 42.1% as compared to that of last
year. The increase of cost of sales was mainly due to increase
plastics and frozen foods volume.

Administrative expenses for the year under review was
approximately HK$54,386,000 (2019: HK$47,777,000),
representing an increase of approximately 13.8% as
compared to that of last year. The increase was mainly
attributable to salaries and other benefits, loss on written-off
of after receivables and share-based payment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Finance costs for the year under review was approximately
HK$8,455,000 (2019: HK$11,945,000), representing a
decrease of approximately 29.2% as compared to that of last
year. The decrease was mainly due to decrease in interest-
paid and payable for borrowings.

The Group recorded a loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company in the amount of approximately
HK$58,845,000 (2019: HK$99,411,000). Basic loss per share
of the Company decrease from HK12.37 cents for the year
ended 31 December 2019 to HK6.31 cents for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group financed its business operations mainly with its
internally generated resources and borrowings during the
year under review. At 31 December 2020, the bank balances
and cash of the Group was approximately HK$2,951,000
(2019: HK$2,416,000).

At 31 December 2020, the net assets of the
Group was approximately HK$175,135,000 (2019:
HK$222,591,000) and the net current liabilities was
approximately HK$2,665,000 (2019: the net current assets
HK$70,757,000).

Gearing Ratio

At 31 December 2020, the total liabilities of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$94,990,000 (2019:
HK$132,273,000), which mainly comprised of trade and
other payables, contract liabilities, borrowings, margin
loans payables, lease liabilities, financial guarantee contract,
amount due to non-controlling interests, income tax payable
and deferred tax liabilities. These liabilities are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, United Satate Dollars,
Australian Dollars and New Taiwan Dollars.

At 31 December 2020, the Group had total assets of
approximately HK$270,125,000 (2019: HK$354,864,000).
The gearing ratio of the Group, expressed as the ratio of total
liabilities to total assets, turned to 0.35 as at 31 December
2020 (2019: 0.37).

EEEwmR O

B #5E1EE (48)
O] BE 4F & P Bl &S Al AN 49 238,455,000 7T (&
T—HEF 1 11,945,00087T)  REFRLE
29.2% LR/ T EERPRERNEN REM
M BRIV PTER

AEERBEAARNEBEARLEAFERSIR
$%E849758,845,0008 7w (ZE— N F :
99,411,000 7T) c N AR SREREIBHE
E_E-NE+_A=+—RHLEEZ1237
BUTHESEE _S_EF+_H=+—H
IEFEEZ6.3181 e

MHEETRMBEER

REBEEE AEEFTEURNTELEE RN
ERAHLEBREREES RIZEF
+ZA=+—B > AEENRTEFREERS
#9742,951,0008 75 (ZZE— N4 1 2,416,000
7T) ©

RIE-_EF+_RB=+—H Hx&EEZ
BEPFENA175,135,0008T (ZE—H
£ 1222,591,00087T) RREBEERENR
2,665 00087 (CE—HiE  RHEETE
70,757,000387T) ©

BESALLEE

N _E_EF+_HA=+—H x&EHzE
B4REEX 794,990,000 T (ZEBE—NF :
132,273,00087T) » TEGERNERAKE
HEMHEBE -aHEaB B BORESE
T HEEE MBEREHN  BAIEZRER
RERNIE  FENFEMBRIERIBESE - %
ZEBUBT ARB - Ex - BaAkHAEK
sT{Eo

RZE_ZEF+_-_BA=+—H &~EEHZ
B EX 270,125,000 7T (ZE—HF !
354,864,00087w) - R _Z2-ZF+_H
—t+—H AEBZEEABLEE UREE
BB ELERT) BF 4035 CE—NF:
0.37) °

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIEZ 4 EHRAF
Annual Report 2020 — &~ T £

17



18

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREwRKRD

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Segmental Information

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year ended
31 December 2020 by business segment is set out in note 7
to the consolidated financial statements.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had 36 (2019: 47)
total number of full-time employees. Staff costs, including
directors’ emoluments of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2020 were approximately HK$18,219,000 in
total (2019: HK$17,442,000). The Group determines the
remuneration and compensation payable to its staff based
on individual performance and expertise. Apart from basic
remuneration, share options may be granted to eligible
employees by reference to the Group’s performance as well
as individual contribution.

Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s issued ordinary
share capital was HK$9,325,524.30 divided into 932,552,430
shares of HK$0.01 each (“Shares”) (2019: HK$9,325,524.30
divided into 932,552,430 shares of HK$0.01 each).

Fund Raising Activities

Issue of Convertible Bond Ill & Convertible Bond IV as a
consideration of an acquisition — completed

On 28 May 2015, Skyline Top Limited and Yardley Wealth
Management Limited (“Yardley”) became shareholders
(the “JV Partners”) of Delightful Hope Limited (the “JV
Company”) for the purpose of the proposed acquisition. The
JV Company is owned as to 50% by each of the JV Partners.
The directors of the Company considered the JV Company is
the subsidiary of the Company in accordance with HKFRS10
Consolidated Financial Statement.

Upon formation of JV Company, the JV Partners have agreed
to make provision for the management and administration
of the JV Company's affairs, and set out their respective
obligations and rights on the terms and conditions set in the
shareholders’ agreement (the “Shareholders’ Agreement”).

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIRE4EXEFRAE
Annual Report 2020 —Z ~— ZEER

FA 5[0l 8 (48)
SEER

HE_Z_ZF+_A=+—HILEFE K
EEREF DB D 2 REBOWENRGSE
KM ET 0

& 8 R BN EL R

N _E_EF+_HA=+—H x&EEH%HAE
EHIZERMEE (T —HE 1 478) oA
ARE_ ST _TE+_B=+—HLEEZ
BTHA (BIEEEMS) §££4918,219,000%
T (CB—H4F 17,442,000 7T) c &NEET
EREEEZENREAERECENES
e R o BREAF TN IRBEAER
XBEUKRENEEZEMAGEREERT
B

BRI

RZEZEF+ZHA=+—H ' &x2aE
BT EBRAA9,325,524.308B DA
932,552,430 SR EE0.01B T2 &H (TR
31) (ZZTE—HE 9,325,524308B7T° DB
932,552,430 & R EE0.01B T2 KRH) °

EEEE
BITORRES = ROBRESAEDSIKIE
rE-EXH

RZIE—HAFABAZ+/N\B  XBEEERA
RN EEEERAR (NEF)) iz
WEEERAFEERAE (EE271) W
KRR (TEEBMH) AERBIHEEBHEE
HHES0% AABEERA RIBFSZBUHER
SEAFI0ORGEMBRR 5ERARE
NGNS =N

N

SHAEEARR cEBHERENER
BERBZEBFHETE  WIRBRRBZE

(TARER ) PREIR U IR TR E R B
Y75 R R o



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Fund Raising Activities (continued)

Issue of Convertible Bond Ill & Convertible Bond IV as a
consideration of an acquisition — completed (continued)
On 29 May 2015, the Company, the JV Company, Yardley
and Rich Best Asia Limited (the “Vendor”) entered into
the sale and purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase
Agreement”) pursuant to which (i) the Vendor has agreed
to sell and the JV Company has agreed to purchase entire
equity interest in China Smart Asia Limited, a subsidiary of
Chinese Strategic Holdings Limited (“Chinese Strategic”),
which the shares of Chinese Strategic are listed on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8089); and (ii)
the Vendor has agreed to assign the JV Company, and the
JV Company has agreed to accept the assignment of sale
loan at an aggregate consideration of HK$93,000,000,
which shall be settled and discharged by the JV Company
in accordance with the time, mode and manner set out
under the Sale and Purchase Agreement: (i) forthwith upon
the execution of the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the
JV Company and Yardley shall jointly and severally pay the
sum of HK$20,000,000 either in cash or by cashier order
to Chinese Strategic for and on behalf of the Vendor as
deposit (the “Deposit”), and the Deposit shall be applied for
part payment of the consideration at completion; (i) the JV
Company and Yardley shall jointly and severally pay a further
sum of HK$26,500,000 either in cash or by cashier order to
Chinese Strategic for and on behalf of the Vendor for partial
payment of the balance of the consideration at completion;
and (iii) the remaining balance of the consideration in the
sum of HK$46,500,000 shall be settled and discharged by
the Company’s issuance to the Vendor (or any nominee of
the Vendor) (a) the convertible bonds (“Convertible Bond
") in the principal amount of HK$23,000,000; and (b) the
convertible bonds (“Convertible Bond V") in the principal
amount of HK$23,500,000 at completion.

Upon exercise of conversion rights attaching to the
Convertible Bond Il and Convertible Bond IV, 186,000,000
new shares shall be issued.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREwRKRD

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Fund Raising Activities (continued)

Issue of Convertible Bond Ill & Convertible Bond IV as a
consideration of an acquisition — completed (continued)
The completion of the acquisition involving the issue of
Convertible Bond Ill and Convertible Bond IV as a part of the
consideration took place on 20 August 2015.

Further details of the issue of convertible bonds as
a consideration of an acquisition are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 29 May 2015, 20
August 2015 and the circular of the Company dated 27 July
2015.

Convertible Bond Il expired on 31 March 2017 and
subsequently the Company received a redemption notice
from the Convertible Bond Ill holder for the principal amount
of HK$23,000,000. The amount remained outstanding after
expiry and the Company has agreed with the Convertible
Bond Ill holder to pay an interest of 5% per annum from 1
April 2017 up to the date of settlement, the amount was
fully settled with interest on 29 March 2018.

Conversion Bond IV expired on 30 September 2018 and the
Company received a redemption notice from the Convertible
Bond IV holder for the principal amount of HK$23,500,000.
The redemption was settled by cash and a deed of settlement
with the bond holder.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Placing of new shares

On 20 September 2019, the Company entered into the
placing agreement with a placing agent who would place
on a best effort basis of a maximum of 155,426,486 placing
shares under general mandate of the Company at HK$0.055
per placing shares. The placing was completed on 31 October
2019. Net proceeds from the placing are expected to be
approximately HK$8.4 million and will be used as general
working capital and for repayment of loans. Details are set
out in the announcements issued by the Company on 20
September 2019 and 31 October 2019.
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On 20 February 2018, the Company entered into the placing
agreement with a placing agent, it is proposed that the
placing agent would propose to offer for subscription of
1,200,000,000 placing shares at HK$0.08334 per placing
shares (“Placing 1”), and the placing agent has agreed to
procure subscriptions for the placing shares. The maximum
gross proceeds from the Placing | will be approximately
HK$100,008,000. Details are set out in the announcement
issued by the Company dated 20 February 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREwRKRD

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Placing of new shares (continued)

On 9 March 2018, the Company announced to terminate
Placing | and will be replaced by a new placing agreement
with a placing agent. It is proposed that the placing agent
would propose to offer for subscription of 1,200,000,000
placing shares at the placing price of HK$0.083 per placing
share (“Placing II”). The maximum gross proceeds from the
placing were approximately HK$99,600,000 and the net
proceeds after deducting the placing commission and other
relevant expenses were approximately HK$96,900,000.
Further details of the placing are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 9 March 2018 and
29 March 2018. The net proceeds from placing were used as
follows:
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Since completion of placing on HK$20.0 million Redemption of Convertible Nil
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HK$44.5 million Partial repayment of loan Nil
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HK$5.0 million General working capital Nil
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposal of
investment properties

Disposal of investment properties

On 30 July 2020, the Vendor, being an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, has entered into the Agreement
with the Purchaser, pursuant to which the Vendor has
agreed to sell and the Purchaser has agreed to purchase the
Properties at the Consideration of NT$72,380,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$19,088,000). The Properties is located
on 12th Floor, No. 35, Lane 235, Jingmaoer Road, Nangang
District, Taipei City, Taiwan and with two car parking spaces
numbered 166 and 167 in the building. The Disposal was
completed in October 2020.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 30
July 2020, 20 August 2020 and 8 October 2020 and circular
of the Company dated 21 September 2020.

On 29 October 2019, the Vendor, an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Sale
and Purchase Agreement with the Purchaser pursuant to
which the Vendor has agreed to sell, and the Purchaser has
agreed to purchase, the properties located in Shenzhen
City, Guangdong Province, the PRC, at the consideration
of RMB69,449,988 (equivalent to approximately
HK$77,325,617 based on the exchange rate note of RMB1
to HK$1.1134 quoted on 31 January 2020). The Disposal was
duly completed in 2020.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
29 October 2019, 19 November 2019, 19 December 2019,
17 January 2020, 12 February 2020, 24 February 2020, 25
February 2020, 10 March 2020, 2 April 2020 and 9 April
2020 and circular of the Company dated 23 March 2020.

The Disposal constitutes a very substantial disposal of the
Company under the GEM Listing Rules. A special general
meeting was held on 9 April 2020, the Disposal was duly
passed by the shareholders by way of poll.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREwRKRD

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposal of
investment properties (continued)

Disposal of investment properties (continued)

On 20 May 2020, the Vendor, an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Sale and
Purchase Agreement with the Purchaser pursuant to which
the Vendor has agreed to sell, and the Purchaser has agreed
to purchase a house located in Shenzhen City, Guangdong
Province, the PRC at a consideration of RMB9,800,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$11,022,000). The Disposal
was duly completed.

On 30 August 2019 and 3 September 2019, the Group
entered into and signed seven sale and purchase agreements
with independent third parties to dispose seven of the
investment properties held by the Group which are all located
in the PRC with fair value of approximately RMB2,304,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$2,623,000) as at 31
December 2018. The transactions were duly completed in
2019.

Acquisition of interest in certain properties in
Shenzhen, the PRC by additional acquisition of further
equity interests a subsidiary

On 17 July 2017, Yardley Wealth Management Limited
("YWML") and Skyline Top Limited (“STL"), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement (the
“Agreement”) pursuant to which the YWML has agreed to
sell and the STL has agreed to purchase the sale shares (the
“Sale Shares”), representing 50% of the issued share capital
of Delightful Hope Limited (the “Target Company”) for cash
consideration of HK$55,000,000. The Target Company is a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and is owned
as to 50% by each of YWML and STL. Following completion,
the Target Company will be wholly owned by the STL and will
become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

The principal assets of the Target Company consist of
properties comprise 8 commercial units of a total gross
floor area of approximately 1,690 sg.m. in Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC, and a residential house in
Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province, the PRC of a total
gross floor area of approximately 315.23 sq.m. According
to the audited consolidated account of the Target Company,
the book value of the properties was approximately
HK$110,236,000 as at 31 December 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposal of
investment properties (continued)

Acquisition of interest in certain properties in
Shenzhen, the PRC by additional acquisition of further
equity interests a subsidiary (continued)

The consideration payable by the STL to the YWML for the
Sale Shares is HK$55,000,000 and shall be satisfied by the
STL's payment in cash to the YWML or its nominee in the
following manner: (a) as to the part payment in the sum
of HK$20,000,000, within 14 days after the date of the
Agreement; (b) as to the balance of HK$35,000,000, upon
completion.

On 31 July 2017, a supplemental agreement was entered
into between the parties that the part payment in the sum
of HK$20,000,000 shall be paid on or before 28 August
2017 or such later date as the parties may agree in writing.
HK$20,000,000 of the above payment has been paid.

On 17 January 2018, the parties had entered into a second
supplemental agreement whereas the timing of payment
of the balance of HK$35,000,000 was extended from 17
January 2018 to 17 January 2019. On 19 March 2019, the
parties had entered into a third supplemental agreement
whereas the Long Stop Date has been extended from 17
January 2019 to 31 March 2020 and further extended to 30
September 2020, and payment of the remaining balance shall
be paid by one or several instalments on or before the Date
of Completion. As at the date of this report, the amount of
HK$13,585,610 remained outstanding.

Disposal of subsidiaries

On 2 July 2020, Luster Shine Limited (“Luster Shine”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and the Transferee,
an independent third party, entered into a sale and purchase
agreement pursuant to which Luster Shine has agreed to sell,
and the Transferee has agreed to acquire, the entire equity
interest in Ever Chance Management Limited (“Ever Chance”)
at a cash consideration of HK$1 and the amount due from
Ever Chance at a consolidation of HK$10,000. Ever Chance is
a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability.
The disposal was completed on 2 July 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREwRKRD

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposal of
investment properties (continued)

Disposal of subsidiaries (continued)

On 7 April 2020, Fantastic Alliance Investments Limited
(“Fantastic”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and the Transferee, an independent third party, entered into
a sale and purchase agreement pursuant to which Fantastic
has agreed to sell, and the Transferee has agreed to acquire,
the entire equity interest in Sino Eco Green Limited (“Sino”)
at a cash consideration of HK$1,000,000 and the amount
due from Sino at a consideration of $1. Sino is a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability. The disposal
was completed on 29 May 2020.

On 29 November 2018, Shenzhen City Chengi Enterprise
Consultancy Management Company Limited (“Chengi”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
the transferee, an independent third party, entered into the
equity transfer agreement pursuant to which the Chenqi
has agreed to sell, and the Transferee has agreed to acquire,
the entire equity interest in Shenzhen City Jintaiyuan
Investment Development Company Limited (“Jintaiyuan”) at
the consideration of RMB21,000,000 (being approximately
HK$23,635,500).

Jintaiyuan is an investment holding company incorporated in
the PRC with limited liability, which holds 15% equity interest
in Bengbu Higreen Agricultural Product Logistics Company
Limited* (FEBTERERYWRAER QA ("Higreen
Agricultural”).

On 14 December 2018, the Transferee and the Chengi
entered into a memorandum in relation to the disposal.
According to the Equity Transfer Agreement, the Transferee
is obligated to pay a total consideration of RMB21,000,000
upon the completion date. The Transferee paid Chengi a total
of RMB14,000,000 and a final payment of RMB7,000,000
was to be paid on the equity change registration completion
date. The equity change registration completion date took
place on 11 December 2018. At the request of the Transferee
and after arm’s length negotiations between the Parties, the
Parties have entered into the memorandum to extend the
final payment of RMB7,000,000 to be paid within six months
upon the signing of the memorandum. The final payment
was subsequent settled in 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Litigation

Ever Chance Management Limited (“Ever Chance”), was
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has
received a petition to wind-up by Harbour View 23 Limited
(the "Petitioner”). The Petitioner as Plaintiff commenced civil
proceedings against Ever Chance as Defendant at the Lands
Tribunal under a Tenance Agreement date 24th November
2016. Upon application by the Petitioner, judgment was
granted against Ever Chance and it was adjudged that Ever
Chance do pay the Petitioner (a) outstanding rent in the sum
of HK$618,960.00; (b) arrears of rent/mesne profits in the
sum of HK$144,424.00; (c) management fees in the sum of
HK$81,300.40; (d) rates in the sum of HK$23,845.11; (d)
air-conditioning charges in the sum of HK$50,384.34; (e)
adjudged interest from overdue rent at the rate of 1.5% per
month in the sum of HK$23,468.90; and (f) assessed costs to
the application in the sum of HK$3,200.00. The Petition has
been presented to the Court and shall be heard on 26 August
2020. Ever Chance was disposed of on 2 July 2020.

Shenzhen Shengshi Fugiang Technology Company Limited
(Shengshi Fugiang), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, has received a claim for lost of assets at
the sum of approximately RMB1.70 million. The Plaintiff
commenced civil proceedings against Shengshi Fugiang and
filed a statement that they cannot retrieve the furniture and
equipment from the premises owned by Shengshi Fugiang
and was leased to the Plaintiff, and therefore Shengshi
Fugiang should compensate for the Plaintiff’s lost. Shengshi
Fugiang has made a counter-claim against the Plaintiff for
outstanding rent and delay in deliver vacant possession at the
sum of approximately RMB980,000. The case was first heard
in Court on 26 February 2021 and waiting for the Court to
arrange the second hearing.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREwRKRD

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Charges on Group's Assets

As at 31 December 2020, investment held for trading have
been pledged to brokers’ accounts to obtain a margin loan
financings of approximately HK$6,514,000 (31 December
2019: HK$6,012,000). Further, the Group had charges on
certain investment properties in Hong Kong to obtain term
loans from money lender in Hong Kong of HK$10,000,000
(2019: HK$21,158,000). Furthermore, the Group had charges
on certain investment properties in the PRC of approximately
HK$6,607,000 (2019: HK$6,683,000) as securities for a term
loan granted to an associate company.

Contingent Liabilities and Guarantee

At 31 December 2020, the Group has provided financial
guarantee to Gold Wide Holdings Limited, which is classified
as an interest in associate in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group, for a term loan with a principal
amount of RMB13 million, bearing interest of 8% per annum
for a period of three years up to 14 January 2022. (2019:
RMB13 million).

Capital Commitments

At 31 December 2020, the Group had capital commitment
amounting to approximately HK$58,566,000 (2019:
HK$55,582,000).

Exposure to Fluctuation in Exchange Rates

All of the Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are
mainly denominated either in Hong Kong dollars or Renminbi
or United State Dollars, Australian Dollars or New Taiwan
dollars. The Directors do not consider that the Group is
exposed to any material foreign currency exchange risk.
Therefore, no hedging devices or other alternative have been
implemented.

Events after the Reporting Period
Details are set out in note 54 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the global economic activities will continue
being affected by the COVID-19 pandemic for some time.
However, as more COVID-19 vaccines are being developed
and people are getting vaccinated, local economy is expected
to recover slowly as business activities pick up. The Group
will continue allocating its resources carefully in different
segments as to optimize its investment returns.

One-stop value chain services

The economy of Hong Kong has been hit hard by the
COVID-19 pandemic during the start of 2020 until now.
Other than using more effort to discover new potential
customers and provide more varieties to attract customers,
the Directors are always striking to find other way out and
explore other industries, such as the gaming industry, so
as to sustain its business during this tough atmosphere in
Hong Kong. The entering into of the gaming industry was
originally the temporary thought of the Company. However,
the Directors noticed that this industry is indeed a profitable
industry even during this difficult period. The Company will
not rule out the possibility of developing in the gaming
industry in the future and may devote more resources in
developing gaming related products. Overall, the Directors
believe that after the recovery of COVID-19 pandemic, the
economy of Hong Kong is expected to turnaround, and
performance of this business will be improved.

Property investment

The Group originally has few property investments in the
Greater China Region, especially in Hong Kong, the PRC
and Taiwan. References are made to the announcements
and circulars of the Company dated 29 October 2019,
24 February 2020, 23 March 2020, 30 July 2020 and 21
September 2020 in relation to, among other things, the
disposal of properties. In view of the tension between USA
and China, as well as the pessimistic global atmosphere, since
2019, the Group has started to dispose its properties to avoid
the further uncertain environment of the property market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREwRKRD

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS (continued)

Property investment (continued)

In addition to the adverse environment, in 2020, the global
economy was seriously affected by the outbreak of the
COVID-19 pandemic. There were big-scale lockdowns in
different countries that led to global economic downturns.

In light of the above, the Directors believe that the global
downturn will bring negative impacts on the property market
in 2021. The unfavorable economic atmosphere will in turn
affect the people’s decision in investing of properties, thus
the prospect of the property market was unfavorable.

Trading of consumables and agricultural products

The Directors considered the Consumables Trading Business
demonstrates a steady growth in the past years and is
optimistic about its future contribution to the Group in terms
of revenue and profit.

Taking part in the bulk commodities trading business in
resin plastics (ABS) and polyethylene (PE) has led the Group
into the recycle business of used plastic products. Plant and
equipment were leased for this development, management is
looking forward to the potential growth in this area.

Although there is economic downturn due to COVID-19
pandemic and this business segment was affected, the
management still strived its best to develop and maintain the
business. By providing value-added customisation services to
the products, it is believed that the sale of re-usable bags is
able to maintain a steady growth.

The Group has contributed to the society continually by
way of donation, including but not limited to donating free
masks to schools and charity organizations and sponsor
various campaigns in relation to environmental protection.
Hence, the Group will endeavor to promote its brand through
online marketing, sponsoring various environmentally friendly
campaigns and participate in more brand building activities in
Hong Kong and China.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS (continued)

Trading of consumables and agricultural products
(continued)

With the help of these multi-dimensional advertisements and
promotions especially through online marketing, the Group
will be benefited from having more market shares in the
field, expanding its customer base in Hong Kong, as well as
building up reputation and goodwill in Hong Kong. Most
importantly, the revenue and profit this segment are expected
to be in an upward trend.

In the near future, the Group would like to expand the
Consumables Trading Business to the PRC by advertising
through social media and sponsoring various events to be
held by local reputable environmental friendly organisations.

Trading of grocery food products

Demand for frozen or fresh fish, livestock and poultry has
increased the most in the first seven months of 2020 no
matter for non-supermarket shops or supermarkets. The
Directors believed that this was due to the outbreak of
COVID-19 pandemic which most people prefer to stay at
home to prevent infection. Apart from udon and ramen, the
Directors decided to widen its food products portfolio in the
second half year of 2020 and introduced different varieties of
frozen seafood.

Although the pandemic started to moderate lately, the
Directors believed that people’s consciousness on health will
remain for a period of time, such that demand for frozen or
fresh fish, livestock and poultry will remain stable. Even after
the pandemic is totally under control, it is believed that the
demand will not decrease significantly, as they still share a
big proportion among all goods in non-supermarket shops or
supermarkets. Therefore, the Directors will from time to time
source more varieties of frozen seafood to expand market
share in the frozen food sector. Also, the Directors will source
more dairy products such as bread and pastry to diversify the
risk the Group's food product portfolio.

The Group will also put more use of online platform and
social media to enhance the business. The Directors target to
explore the foreign grocery food market. They will discover
more online platforms in other countries so as to broaden its
customer base to all over the world.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREwRKRD

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS (continued)

Trading of grocery food products (continued)

With the experienced procurement and sales team of the
Group, the Group is optimistic that the Grocery Food Trading
Business, no matter online or offline, will progressively pick
up in the future and revenue of this business will be improved
after introducing more varieties of food products and
broadening of customer base.

Provision of money lending services

Under the current economy environment, the Directors
believe that there will be increase demand of money lending
of individuals or corporate customers. However, at the same
time, risk of default may increase as it may be hard for the
customers to repay the loan. The management will further
enhance the loan approval procedures and carefully filter and
screen out customers with high risks in order to protect the
interest of the Group. The Directors are of the view that it is
a critical time to develop the Money Lending Business. The
Group will continue to maintain sound credit control policy to
balance the finance income against credit risk from respective
borrowers.

Provision of financial services

The performance of the Financial Services Business was not
satisfactory. In addition to the global economic downturn
and recession in Hong Kong due to the COVID-19, Hong
Kong’s gross domestic product contracted significantly in
2020, the global economy upheaval resulting the global
financial industry takes time to recover. Further to the United
State sanctions imposed to Hong Kong on August 2020 and
the tension between United State and China, Hong Kong
financial institutions face the unknown threats that might
harm the Hong Kong economy.

In view of the abovementioned, the Directors considered the
financial service industry is unfavourable in the long-term
and decided to scale down the Financial Services Business in
relation to the asset management and advising on securities
in the future. The Group will, depending on the market
conditions, reallocate its resources from the financial services
to develop other businesses that the Group expected to have
a brighter prospect.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MATERIAL DIFFERENCES BETWEEN UNAUDITED AND
AUDITED ANNUAL RESULTS

Since financial information contained in the Unaudited
Preliminary Announcement was neither audited nor agreed
with Asian Alliance as at the date of the publication
and subsequent adjustments have been made to such
information, shareholders and potential investors of the
Company are advised to pay attention to certain differences
between the financial information of the unaudited and
audited annual results of the Group. Set forth below are
principal details and reasons for the material differences in
such financial information.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREwRKRD

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND i atE R B MR EIRE R
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE T T A=+ —HIFFEE
2020 2020
—EITHE CEIEHF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 NOTES
FHET FET FET W
(Audited) (Unaudited) (Differences)
(BEZ) (REEZ) (%)
Revenue W e
Goods and services 75 i K AR 7% 33,549 34,690 (1,141) 1
Leases HE 266 266 -
Interest under effective BRERNZREFE
interest method EOFIIS) 1,381 1,381 =
Total revenue 4B T 35,196 36,337 (1,141) 1
Cost of sales THE R A (29,365) (30,434) 1,069 1
Gross profit EH] 5,831 5,903 (72) 1
Other gains or losses Hm ol &5 18 10,061 4,545 5,516 2
Impairment losses under TR EEREEREE
expected credit THREREFEE
loss model, net of reversal 5[0 (10,781) 582 (11,363) 3
Loss from changes in fair value & E#ERAFEE
of investment properties, net  EhUiz (B518) F 58 (11,673) (10,527) (1,146) 4
Gains (loss) from changes in fair ##AFEFABTZ
value of financial assets at fair &RIEEANTFE
value through profit or loss U (E518) 7,278 7,278 -
Impairment loss on goodwill  FEERERIE = - -
Impairment loss on interest in R Bt E /A Bl R YR
associates BEE (855) = (855) 5
Selling and distribution expenses #4 & 5z %0 85 F 2 (1,174) (1,174) -
Administrative expenses TERX (54,386) (42,489) (11,897) 6
Share of results of associates ML= A B XE4E (9,258) 5,593 (14,851) 7
Finance costs R AR AN (8,455) (6,983) (1,472) 8
Loss before tax PRIZAIES 18 (73,412) (37,272) (36,140)
Income tax (expense) credit FriSiiE% 14,528 (1,679) 16,207 9
Loss for the year KEERIE (58,884) (38,951) (19,933)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS |
ERERROA

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND fm ot H D E UL X (@)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEr T EFEf A —HIFFEE
2020 2020
—EITF CE2°EHF
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  NOTES
F#ET FHET FHx s
(Audited) (Unaudited) (Differences)
(RRE%) CREEEZ) C=5)

Other comprehensive income  HEti2mEWE ) !

(expense):
Item that will not be reclassified T & E #7482
to profit or loss: BmIEH
Fair value loss on investments  3ZAF{Et A EHME
in equity instruments at HW@m s Em TR
fair value through other KEN A TFEEIE
comprehensive income (2,206) - (2,206) 10

Item that may be reclassified ~— HZBE#H HHEE
subsequently to profit or loss:  #BmZBEH .
Exchange differences arising ~ B BINEFELZ
on translation of foreign PE 2 = %8
operations 11,834 15,912 (4,078) 11

Other comprehensive income  AFEHME2mE U E
(expense) for the year, (FER) (BRFTER
net of income tax %) 9,628 15,912 (6,284)

Total comprehensive expense NG E 2458
for the year (49,256) (23,039) (26,217)

Loss for the year attributable to: FE{5ASERE 518 -

Owners of the Company KATEB A (58,845) (38,967) (19,878)
Non-controlling interests JFER IR (39) 16 (55)
(58,884) (38,951) (19,933)

Total comprehensive expense  ELAFEEZEMY

for the year attributable to: 48 .
Owners of the Company KABER A (48,322) (26,970) (21,352)
Non-controlling interests JEER IR (934) 3,931 (4,865)
(49,256) (23,039) (26,217)
LOSS PER SHARE SKEE
Basic and diluted (HK cents) BEARRKE#E CE1) (6.31) (4.18) (2.13)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREwRKRD

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION ﬁ%‘é’,ﬂj’ﬁﬂf;ﬂﬁ
At 31 December 2020 RIEZZEF+"F=+—H
2020 2020
—EIEF 2T EHF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 NOTES
F#ET TFET FAET e
(Audited) (Unaudited) (Differences)
(&EZ) (R&EZ) (Z%8)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Plant and equipment R R 58 1 1,387 2,107 (720) 12
Right-of-use assets EREEE 1,010 1,010 =
Investment properties KEYE 18,367 18,983 (616) 13
Goodwill [ 725 725 =
Intangible asset mILEE 758 - 758 12
Interests in associates REEAB z #m 43,436 59,142 (15,706)  5&7
Equity instruments at fair AT EFT ARM
value through other ENIL Gl i
comprehensive income TE 7.871 9,571 (1,700) 14
Deposits paid 2ffgE 86,152 69,559 16,593 15
Other receivables Hfh fE W78 12,459 = 12,459 16
Loans to associates EEE A BER
B™® 7,075 - 7,075 17
179,240 161,097 18,143
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Inventories, finished goods F5 8 MHm 69 69 =
Trade and other receivables FE W BR FR R ELAth
FEW R IR 34,900 59,220 (24,320) 16
Loan and interest receivables  FEUNE R EFE 2,876 10,151 (7,275) 18
Loans to associates M EATER
£ 29,836 45,770 (15,934) 17
Financial assets at fair value BN EEAE R
through profit or loss Z2EMEE 20,243 20,243 -
Restricted bank balance ZIRHIIRITAE &R 10 = 10 19
Bank balances and cash IRITHGNRIES 2,951 2,961 (10) 19
90,885 138,414 (47,529)
Assets classified as held for sale DAL EBE - = S
90,885 138,414 (47,529)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE SRR DT

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION ZEIFBERRER (@)

(continued)
At 31 December 2020

AN — =
\—7—

—gE+A=+—A

2020 2020
—E-EHF T _EF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 NOTES
FET FET FHET M
(Audited) (Unaudited) (Differences)
(EE%) (CRE&2E1Z) (Z%8)
CURRENT LIABILITIES EaE
Trade and other payables FE 13 BR R Ko ELAth
NS 30,857 32,031 (1,174) 1
Contract liabilities EHNEE 1,246 105 1,141 1
Amounts due to non- FE(TIEIERGRG 2R
controlling interests HEmmaa 2,745 2,745 =
Borrowings E 41,318 41,318 -
Margin loans payable FEHREBEEM 6,514 6,514 -
Lease liabilities HE :éiff 517 1,024 (507) 20
Financial guarantee contract FHEEREDN 10,306 827 9,479 21
Income tax payable FET PSR 47 94 47 22
93,550 84,658 8,892
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENEESRE (2,665) 53,756 (56,421)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS WEERTEEE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 176,575 214,853 (38,278)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JERBI&E
Borrowings =R - _ _
Lease liabilities HEaE 506 = 506 20
Deferred tax liabilities EILMIEEE 934 15,301 (14,367) 9
1,440 15,301 (13,861)
NET ASSETS BEEFE 175,135 199,552 (24,417)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREwRKRD

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION ZEIFBERRER (B

(continued)

At 31 December 2020 R_E_EFL_/F=+—H

2020 2020
—EEHF ZTF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 NOTES
FHET FET THE7xT s
(Audited) (Unaudited) (Differences)
(REZ) (R E1Z) (Z%8)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARfHEE
Share capital Rg 7 9,325 9,325 =
Reserves (B 129,250 148,804 (19,554)
Equity attributable to owners ~ Z&ATEAR A
of the Company FEfL 138,575 158,129 (19,554)

Non-controlling interests R I SRR 36,560 41,423 (4,863)

TOTAL EQUITY LR 175,135 199,552 (24,417)

Note: Mk -

1. Revenue in the amount of HK$1,141,000 was adjusted and 1. EEEA1,141,0008 AR EESE LR
reclassified to contract liabilities after examination of cut- T’Eu”juﬂ”ﬁ%%“*ﬁ% HaB-aTmEm
off. Certain goods was invoiced before but delivered after R BMFEEARABEZERE  BRMBEF
financial year ended. Related cost of sales was adjusted EAERBR - 1BRNHE M A B EEER
accordingly. o

2. The material difference of other gains or losses was 2. HtE R GEENEAEEFEZEZANHT
mainly due to recognition of the other income for gain HEE BRI EINF) BRI i i s AU A
on settlement of loan and interest receivables and B/ DEREFF) BULA o
understatement of loan interest income.

3. The differences were a result of impairment assessment 3. ZERERZRANGEMETENTGHERARE

of the Group's trade receivables, other receivables, loan

and interest receivables, loan to associates and financial

guarantee contract after reassessment by valuer.

The difference was a result upon finalisation of the valuation 4.

of the Group’s investment properties.

Interest in associates are accounted for using the equity 5.
method in these consolidated financial statements. Upon
final assessment of the carrying amount of these associates,

HK$855,000 was impaired on interest in associates.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(continued)
Note: (continued)

The difference was mainly arising from reclassification of net
foreign exchange reserves, decoration expenses and property
agency commission, provision for compensation expense and
overstatement of provision for depreciation expenses.

The difference was mainly arising from the finalisation
of financial statements of the Group’s PRC associate
companies.

The difference was mainly arising from understatement of
interest expenses.

The difference was mainly arising from net reversal of
deferred tax upon disposal of investment properties in the
PRC.

The fair value loss of HK$2,206,000 represented the result
of the fair value assessment of the Group's investments in
unlisted shares in the PRC after reassessment by valuer.

The differences was a result of upon finalization of financial
statements of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries, associates and
equity investment.

The difference was mainly arising from reclassification
of a motor vehicle license of HK$758,000 from plant
and equipment to intangible asset and reversal of the
depreciation.

The change resulted from a decrease of approximately
HK$600,000 in loss from changes in fair value of investment
properties after reassessment by valuer.

The differences resulted from a decrease of approximately
HK$1,700,000 in fair value loss of the Group’s investments in
unlisted shares in the PRC after reassessment by valuer.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEw &2

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(continued)
Note: (continued)

15.

20.

21.

22.

The difference was mainly arising from reclassification of a
loan to associate and certain loan and interest receivables to
deposits paid which was a result of settlement of these loans
by acquisition of investment properties in PRC.

The difference of trade and other receivables was mainly
arising from reclassification of an amount due from
current accounts of the Group and exchange reserve, and
reclassification of certain other receivables to non-current
assets.

The difference of loan to associates was mainly arising
from overprovision of loan interest income HK$4,398,000,
underprovision of exchange difference HK$6,869,000
reclassification of deposit paid for acquisition of properties
HK$3,720,000 and reclassification part of the loan from
current assets to non-current assets.

The difference was mainly arising from a result upon
finalisation impairment assessment under the expected credit
loss model of all borrowers.

The difference was mainly arising from reclassification of
HK$10,000 from bank balances and cash to restricted bank
balance.

The difference was mainly arising from reclassification of
HK$507,000 from current liabilities to non-current liabilities.

The differences resulted from an increase of approximately
HK$9,479,000 in allowance for expected credit losses after
reassessment by valuer.

The difference was mainly arising from reversal of
overprovision of income tax.
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The Directors present the annual report and audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 50 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income on pages 102 to 103
of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of the principal activities of the Group
as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance can be found in the Management Discussion and
Analysis set out on pages 8 to 40 of this annual report. These
discussions form part of this Directors’ Report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
311 of this annual report.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in Note
16 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The five largest customers accounted for approximately
58.1% (2019: 41.1%) of the Group’s turnover, and the five
largest suppliers accounted for approximately 56.4% (2019:
86.7%) of the Group's cost of sales, for the year ended 31
December 2020. To the best knowledge of the Directors,
at no time during the year ended 31 December 2020, any
Director or his associates or any shareholder (who owned
more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital) has
any interest in the above-mentioned customers or suppliers.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year ended 31 December
2020 in the share capital of the Company are set out in Note
39 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on pages 106 to 107 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2020, the Company did not have any
reserves available for cash/in specie dividend distribution to
shareholders of the Company.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For ascertaining shareholders’ right to attend and

vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the

"AGM")

Latest time to lodge transfers 4:00 p.m.

on 3 June 2021 (Thursday)

Book close date 4 June 2021 (Friday)

To 10 June 2021 (Thursday)
(both dates inclusive)

Record date 10 June 2021 (Thursday)

AGM date 10 June 2021 (Thursday)
In order to qualify for the right to attend and vote at the
AGM, all transfers accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong
branch share registrar and transfer office, Union Registrars
Limited, at Suites 3301-04, 33/F, Two Chinachem Exchange
Square, 338 King's Road, North Point, Hong Kong before the
above latest time to lodge transfers.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company has adopted a new share option scheme on 6
May 2011 (the “Share Option Scheme”).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years from 6 May 2011 to 5 May 2021, unless terminated
otherwise as in accordance with the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is
to enable the Group to grant options to eligible participants
the Directors may at its absolute discretion select as incentives
or rewards for their contribution to the Group. Eligible
participants include any employee (whether full-time or part-
time, including executive directors, non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors), shareholder,
customer, supplier of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or
any entity (“Invested Entity”) in which the Group holds an
equity interest; any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support, any adviser
(professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of
business or business development of the Group or any
Invested Entity; and any other group or classes of participants
who have contributed or may contribute by way of joint
venture, business alliance or other business arrangement to
the development and growth of the Group.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group (including both exercised or outstanding options) to
each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time
being (the “Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options
in excess of the Individual Limit in any 12-month period
up to and including the date of such further grant shall be
subject to the Shareholders’ approval in general meeting of
the Company. Where any grant of options to a substantial
Shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company or any of their respective associates, would result
in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options already granted and to be granted (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant:
(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue;
and (ii) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the shares at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5
million; such further grant of options must be approved by
the Shareholders in general meeting.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

An option may be exercised at any time during a period to
be determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on the date upon which the
offer for the grant of options is made but shall end in any
event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of
the option subject to the provisions for early termination
as set out in the Share Option Scheme. Unless otherwise
determined by the Directors and stated in the offer of the
grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum period
required under the Share Option Scheme for the holding of
an option before it can be exercised.

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance
of the grant of an option. The subscription price for shares
under the Share Option Scheme will be a price determined by
the Directors, but shall not be less than the higher of (i) the
closing price of shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheet on the date of the offer of grant, which
must be a business day; (i) the average closing price of shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer of
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 6
May 2011, the Company was also authorised to issue up to
242,459,969 shares (i.e. 121,229,984 consolidated shares
upon the share consolidation effective on 11 October 2013)
upon exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose,
options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group) to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group,
being 10% of the shares in issue on 6 May 2011 (the
“General Scheme Limit”). The Company may seek separate
Shareholders’ approval in general meeting to grant options
beyond the General Scheme Limit to participants specifically
identified by the Company before such approval is sought.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the maximum number of
shares to be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time.

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIRE4EXEFRAE
Annual Report 2020 —Z — T £

RERc ST (48)
BRENRESFMRETLNE S AKEAZH
B3 P AE r] IS T JE 1T 162 > X HAREI Pl 4R I 2 A %2
HEREZRZEBN EEEABERLTES
ERNREREENRUBEREZ BES+F
R (IREEINERES S 2R PR LR
REEIRIN -FRIFEEFAERERERER
TFTABRNBREZZHTIE BRESS
TWEREFAENTEBREZREHME-

LEAEIEBTARNREBREERMNE X
T REBREAS ZROBBELARES
BEZBR BWARLRUT=ZEZERS
(ERBRODEETERERSR ERXZH)
M e HREBRMAIZWHE ()ERF
RONEZRTEREBHALERS BE
B 2P g H BRI Z FHWTHE 5 Kii)
R EE

A TE——FRANHBETZARBEREE
FRAE L ARBERBREBRESEIREAE
EEMEMBRESSZTREEIERRE

FEE REmME > RIEEREA B RARE
B HAmERE S BERE RN B )
BITHER IMERREEITRE242,459,9698
B BPRMDEHNR _Z—=5+B+—H4%
M1&2121,229,984R & 5% » TREIR Z &
——FHRANBEETRBZ10% (T—HRE
BIEPRY)) o ARBMRREAE LIS KEK
RETHE BERRABAESKZHERER
AIEEZ2HERHBB R LR2E
R BEW LA IRIFER B A E
E(E A EMERES IR HEERITENE
REETHEERRFETROBERZS SR
BARNBFRFEETRAN30%-



SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, options in respect
of 55,800,000 Shares, were granted and accepted on 7
December 2020 to a Director and certain eligible participants
under the Share Option Scheme. Closing price of the Shares
on 7 December 2020 was HK$0.0550.

As at 31 December 2020, the number of Shares in respect of
which options had been granted and accepted and remained
outstanding under the Share Option Scheme was 55,800,000
(2019: nil), representing approximately 5.98% (2019: 0.00%)
of the Company’s issued share capital as at that date.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
The Directors who held office during the year ended 31
December 2020 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. So David Tat Man
Mr. Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith

Non-executive Director
Mr. Leung Chung Hee

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey

Mr. Zhang Min

Ms. Yuen Wai Man

Each non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Director has signed an appointment letter with the Company
for a fixed term of two years and may be terminated by not
less than three months prior notice in writing served by either
party to the other in accordance with the provisions set out in
the respective appointment letter.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
(continued)

Each executive Director has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for an initial fixed term of two years
and will continue thereafter until terminated by not less
than six months’ notice in writing served by either party to
the other in accordance with the provisions set out in the
respective service agreement. Each of the executive Directors
may receive a discretionary bonus, the amount of which
will be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion
having regard to the operation results of the Company and
performance of the Directors.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at
the AGM has a service contract with the Company, which
is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey, Mr.
Zhang Min and Ms. Yuen Wai Man, an annual confirmation
of their independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules and the Company considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There was no contract of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted during or at the end of the year ended 31
December 2020.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, chief executive
and the five highest paid individuals of the Group are set
out in Notes 13A and 13B to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS OR
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions
of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Future Ordinance (the “SFO")) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they have taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were required to be entered in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules relating to securities transactions by the Directors, were
as follows:

Long position in the underlying shares in respect of the share
options of the Company (which were regarded as unlisted
physically settled equity derivatives) granted under the Share
Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 6 May 2011:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S RIGHTS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBT SECURITIES

Save as disclosed under the section “DIRECTORS’ AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS” above,
at no time during the Reporting Period, there subsisted
arrangements to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
is a party, being arrangements whose subjects are, or one
of whose objects is, to enable any of the directors or the
chief executive of the Company to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including
debentures) of the Company or any other body corporate,
and none of the directors of the Company, their spouse or
their children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe
for the securities of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2020.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

So far as the Directors are aware of and having made due
enquiries, as at 31 December 2020, the following parties,
other than the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company, had interests or short positions directly or indirectly
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO or recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)
Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of

the Company:
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Approximate
percentage of
the Company'’s

Number of issued share

Name Capacity Shares capital

EERQT

BETREZ

"4 g Rin&E BAaEst

So Chi Ming ("Mr. So”) (Note 1) Beneficial owner, interest of spouse and 161,676,000 17.34%
gam (st (M) interest of controlled corporation (Notes 2)
BEnkE N EBERRXENZEER (MzE2)

Yeung Sau Han Agnes (“Ms. Yeung”) Beneficial owner, interest of spouse and 161,676,000 17.34%
BEMe LT (MBrt)) interest of controlled corporation (Notes 2)
BEnkE N EBERRXENZEER (MzE2)

Ever Better Holdings Limited ("Ever Better”) Interest of controlled corporation 146,352,000 15.69%
REREE RS (Note 2)
(Hi¥2)

A 'S Investment Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 146,352,000 15.69%
("A'S Investment”) EREEA (Note 2)
(Hi¥2)

Notes: M5E -

Mr. So is uncle of So David Tat Man, an executive director of
the Company.

Mr. So and Ms. Yeung are spouses. Based on the disclosure
of interests forms both filed on 1 September 2020 by Mr.
So and Ms. Yeung, Mr. So has an interest of 11,904,000
Shares as beneficial owner, and Ms. Yeung has an interest of
3,420,000 Shares as beneficial owner. By virtue of the SFO,
Mr. So is deemed to be interested in the Shares owned by
Ms. Yeung and Ms. Yeung is deemed to be interested in the
Shares owned by Mr. So. A S Investment has an interest of
146,352,000 Shares as beneficial owner. A S Investment is
wholly-owned by Ever Better. Ever Better is owned as to 50%
by Mr. So and 50% by Ms. Yeung.

1. BITERTARRTESHREX 2K -
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PEEERD (FABREREAN) BB TR
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company: (continued)

Save as disclosed above, the Company is not aware of any
other person, other than a director or the chief executive
of the Company, who held interests or short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company as at 31
December 2020 as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

REPURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2020, neither the
Company, nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1. Continuing Connected Transactions — sale and
distribution of grocery food products
On 4 February 2016, Chan Kee and Right Ocean
entered into the Sole Distributorship Agreement
whereas Chan Kee has agreed to appoint Right
Ocean as its sole and exclusive distributor for sale
and distribution of the Products within the territories
of Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan (the “Sale
Transactions”).

Right Ocean is indirectly held as to 51% by the
Company and 49% by Ms. Yoo, Chan Kee (90%
held by Mr. Chan, the spouse of Ms. Yoo) is therefore
connected person at subsidiary level of the Company
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules and
the Sale Transactions contemplated under the Sole
Distributorship Agreement constitute continuing
connected transactions on the part of the Company
subject to reporting, announcement and annual
review requirements of Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

1.

Continuing Connected Transactions — sale and
distribution of grocery food products (continued)

The Master Agreement

The Sole Distributorship Agreement

Date:
HHR :

Parties:

HESYSI

Duration:
B -

Subject matter:

TEFH:

Annual Caps:

FELR:

Transaction amount:

RPEH

Terms:
BT

25 March 2019
“E-NAF=BZ+EHH

(i) Chan Kee
(i) PREC

(ii) Right Ocean
(i)  EB
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Commencing from 4 February 2019 and continue for a period of 3 years
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The Sale Transactions
HERS

The Sale Transactions will be subject to the following annual caps:

HERXZRANEG MIFEEL

The aggregate amounts payable by Right Ocean to Chan Kee for the Sale

PR

Transactions shall not exceed HK$12 million, HK$15 million and HK$18 million

for the years ending 31 December 2019, 31 December 2020 and 31 December

2021, respectively.

HE-T—AF+-A=+—B ZFE-BF+-A=+—BRIF—
F+IA=+—BLFE ASRENERZENTRENLLE HHTF

BBB12aERA T - 1SAEBATRIBEEATT-

For the year ended 31 December 2020: approximately HK$3.3 million

RB&EZZ_ZF+_A=+—HLEFE 33888

On normal commercial terms and at rates no less favourable from independent

third parties in respect of the transactions similar to the Sale Transactions.
Detailed payment terms are specified in individual contracts governing

particular transactions.
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Details were set out in the Company’s announcement

dated 25 March 2019.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

1.

FERZ (&)

Continuing Connected Transactions — sale and 1. BEAEX S —HERSIHEHES

distribution of grocery food products (continued) =)

Definitions EZE

"Chan Kee” Chan Kee Holdings Limited

MPREC B R EBBRAF

“Products” various products being packaged ramen and udon noodles
sold by Chan Kee and purchased by and to be distributed by
Right Ocean

(%% Bl B HECHEKRBRESBEERDENZEBOENERSEI
7

“Right Ocean” Right Ocean Asia Limited

T8 15 BB MNBRAE]

“Sole Distributorship Agreement”

the agreement entered into between Chan Kee and
Right Ocean dated 25 March 2019 in respect of the Sale
Transactions

Rl BMIEE R BT LNBBA -_ZE—NLFE=A
—+EHBNH=E

The above transactions have complied with the
requirements for continuing connected transactions
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Directors are of the opinion that the above
transactions were conducted in the ordinary course of
business of the Group.

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, the Independent Non-
executive Directors have reviewed the continuing
connected transactions set out above and have
confirmed that these continuing connected
transactions were entered into (i) in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal
commercial terms or on terms no less favourable
to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third parties; (iii) in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing them on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company and its Shareholders as a whole; and (iv)
have not exceeded the relevant maximum amount
capped in accordance with the announcements of the
Company dated 25 March 2019.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

1. Continuing Connected Transactions — sale and

distribution of grocery food products (continued)
Definitions (continued)
Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited, the Company’s
auditors, were engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised)”Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”
and with reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Asian
Alliance (HK) CPA Limited have issued their unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in
with respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed above by the Group in accordance with
the GEM Listing Rule 20.54. A copy of the auditors’
letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions during the year
ended 31 December 2020 are set out in Note 48 to the
consolidated financial statements.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or controlling shareholders of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) had any business or interest that
compete with the business of the Group or has or may have
any other conflict of interest with the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2020.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES
Details of the retirement benefits schemes are set out in Note
44 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's Bye-laws although there is no restriction against
such under the laws in Bermuda.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company'’s corporate governance practices are
set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” section of this
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
Details of the Company’'s environmental,
governance practices are set out in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” section of this report.

social and

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees and senior
management of the Group is set up by the remuneration
committee of the Company on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
remuneration committee of the Company, having regard
to market competitiveness, individual performance and
achievement.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to Directors and eligible employees, details of the
scheme is set out under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” above and also in Note 43 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required
under the GEM Listing Rules during the year ended 31
December 2020 and up to the date of this report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) on 31 July 2001 with written terms of reference
in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise
the financial reporting process and internal control and risk
management systems of the Group. The Audit Committee
currently comprises three independent non-executive
Directors; namely Ms. Yuen Wai Man (Chairman), Mr. Yick
Ting Fai, Jeffrey and Mr. Zhang Min.

The audited financial results of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

AUDITOR

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited (“Asian Alliance”) was
appointed as auditor of the Company on 30 November 2018
and subsequently re-appointed at the general meetings held
on 23 May 2019 and 5 June 2020. The consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 by Asian
Alliance. A resolution for the re-appointment of Asian
Alliance as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM.

By Order of the Board
So David Tat Man
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 April 2021
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INTRODUCTION

The board of Directors (the “Board”) and the management
of the Company are committed to the maintenance of good
corporate governance practices and procedures.

The corporate governance principles of the Company
emphasise a quality Board, sound internal controls,
transparency and accountability to all shareholders of the
Company.

The Company has complied with the applicable code
provisions on Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
15 to the GEM Listing Rules throughout the year under
review except for the following deviation:

The code provision A.2.1 of the Code provides, among
others, the roles of chairman and chief executive should
be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. Throughout the year ended 31 December 2020,
the Company did not appoint a chairman. The Board will
keep reviewing the structure of the Board from time to time.
If candidate with suitable knowledge, skills and experience
is identified, the Company will make appointment to fill the
post of chairman as appropriate.

Under code provision A.2.7 of the Code, the chairman of
board should at least annually hold meetings with the non-
executive directors (including independent non-executive
directors) without the executive directors present. As the
Company does not have the Chairman, no such meeting was
held in this regard for the year ended 31 December 2020.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the rules set out in Rules 5.48
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by Directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company was not aware
of any non-compliance with the required standard as set out
in such code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
the Directors throughout the year ended 31 December 2020.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises six Directors, two are
executive Directors, one non-executive director and three are
independent non-executive Directors.

The Board members for the year ended 31 December 2020
and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. So David Tat Man
Mr. Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith

Non-executive Director
Mr. Leung Chung Hee

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey

Mr. Zhang Min

Ms. Yuen Wai Man

The Directors’ biographical information are set out on pages
5 to 7 in this report. All executive Directors have given
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group.
Each executive Director has sufficient experience to hold the
position so as to carry out his duties effectively and efficiently.
There is no relationship among the members of the Board.

The Company is committed to having a diversity of the
Board to complement the Company'’s corporate strategy. The
Company considers that having a Board with diverse culture
would assure Directors that their views are heard, their
concerns are attended to and they serve in an environment
where bias, discrimination and harassment on any matter
are not tolerated. The Board has adopted a board diversity
policy which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Board. Board appointments are based on merit
and candidates are considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board
including, but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board
consisted of three independent non-executive Directors who
have appropriate and sufficient experience and qualification
to carry out their duties so as to protect the interests of the
shareholders of the Company. One of the independent non-
executive Directors has appropriate professional qualification
or accounting or related financial management expertise
as required by Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules.
Each independent non-executive Director has signed an
appointment letter with the Company for an initial fixed
term of two years and may be terminated by not less than
three months prior notice in writing served by either party to
the other or in accordance with the provisions set out in the
respective appointment letter.

The Board considers that all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent and have received from
each of them the annual confirmation of independence
required by Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Board is responsible for approving and monitoring of
the Group's overall strategies and policies; approving of
business plans; evaluating the performance of the Group and
overseeing the management. The Board focuses on overall
strategies and policies with particular attention paid to the
growth and financial performance of the Group.

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group
to the executive Directors and senior management, while
reserving certain key matters for its approval. Decisions of
the Board are communicated to the management through
executive Directors who have attended Board meetings.

The Company has arranged insurance coverage on Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions which
may be taken against its Directors and officers in the
execution and discharge of their duties or in relation thereto.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE
The Board meets regularly at least four times a year to review
the financial and operating performance of the Group.

Details of the attendance record of each Director at the
meetings of the Board and general meetings of the Company
are as follows:
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Attendance of
HE
Board General
Meetings Meetings
EX5EEE RRXE

Executive Directors WITES

Mr. So David Tat Man BRENSE

Mr. Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith SENEE
Non-executive Director EHITES

Mr. Leung Chung Hee RRERE
Independent Non-executive Directors BiIERITES
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey SRR E

Mr. Zhang Min RE LS

Ms. Yuen Wai Man RE#XL

BOARD PRACTICES

Apart from the four regular Board meetings of the year
ended 31 December 2020, the Board met on other occasions
when a board-level decision on a particular matter was
required. The Directors received detailed agenda and
documents prior to the meetings of the Board to ensure that
the Directors were able to make informed decisions regarding
the matters discussed in the meetings. All Directors may
access the advice, regulatory updates on governance and
regulatory matters from professional parties if necessary.

The Company Secretary and the company secretarial team are
responsible to take and keep minutes of all Board meetings
and committee meetings and ensure compliance with the
procedures of the Board meetings and general meetings
of the Company. Draft minutes are normally circulated
to Directors for comment within a reasonable time after
each meeting and the final version is open for Directors’
inspection.

9/9 3/3
9/9 3/3
0/4 0/1
9/9 1/3
9/9 2/3
9/9 2/3
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary
induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses
as well as his/her responsibilities under the relevant statutes,
laws, rules and regulations.

The Company provides regular updates and presentations
on changes and developments relating to the Group's
business and the legislative and regulatory environments to
the Directors at the Board meetings. Trainings conducted by
professional service provider regarding Listing Rules’ updates
on corporate governance have been provided to the Directors
to ensure a high standard of corporate governance is upheld
and that the Directors possess up-to-date information to
discharge their duties.

The Directors are committed to complying with Code
Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code on Directors’ training.
All Directors have participated in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills and provided a record of training they received for the
year ended 31 December 2020 to the Company.

All of the Directors have either attended seminars organised
by external professionals relevant to the business or directors’
duties or read professional materials publicated by regulators
or professional bodies for the year ended 31 December 2020.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The positions and roles of chairman of the Board and chief
executive of the Company should be held and performed
separately by two individuals to ensure their respective
independence, accountability and responsibility. During
the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company did not
appoint a chairman or a chief executive.

The Board will keep reviewing the current structure from
time to time. If candidate with suitable knowledge, skills and
experience is identified, the Company will make appointment
to fill the posts as appropriate.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) had been formed in 2005
pursuant to a resolution passed by the Board. Following the
re-domicile of the Company from the Cayman Islands into
Bermuda in October 2007, it was re-established pursuant
to a resolution passed by the Board on 15 February 2008
and specific terms of reference were adopted. As at the
date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprises
three members, all are independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey, Ms. Yuen Wai Man and Mr.
Zhang Min. Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The role and function written in the terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee are no less exacting terms
than the Code. The Remuneration Committee makes
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy.
The Remuneration Committee also reviews and recommends
the Board on its proposals relating to the remuneration
of the executive Directors with reference to the Board's
corporate goal and objectives. No Directors or any of his/
her associates can be involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration. Factors such as salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
Directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group
and desirability of performance-based remuneration are
considered by the Remuneration Committee to determine
the remuneration package of individual executive Directors
including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment; or relating to
dismissal or removal for misconduct to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair, not
excessive, reasonable and appropriate.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Frequency of Meetings and Attendance

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Remuneration
Committee of the Company held two meetings to review
the remuneration packages of all Directors and senior
management and to advise on remuneration packages of
newly appointed Directors. Details of the attendance of the
meeting are as follows:
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Attendance
Name of members ME%E HERE
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey (Chairman) SEBRE (F/F) 2/2
Ms. Yuen Wai Man REB LT 272
Mr. Zhang Min REMLE 2/2

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) had been formed in 2005
pursuant to a resolution passed by the Board. Following
the re-domicile of the Company from the Cayman Islands
into Bermuda in October 2007, the Nomination Committee
was re-established pursuant to a resolution passed by the
Board on 15 February 2008 and specific terms of reference
were adopted. As at the date of this report, the Nomination
Committee comprises three members, of which all of them
are independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Yick
Ting Fai, Jeffrey, Mr. Zhang Min and Ms. Yuen Wai Man. Mr.
Zhang Min is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The functions of the Nomination Committee are reviewing
and supervising the structure, size and composition of the
Board, identifying qualified individuals to become members
of the Board, assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors and making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors
and senior management.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Nomination
Committee will carry out the selection process by making
reference to the skills, experience, professional knowledge,
personal integrity and time commitments of the proposed
candidates, including the independence status in the case of
an independent non-executive Director, the Company’s needs
and other relevant statutory requirements and regulations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Board has also adopted a board diversity policy which
sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.
Accordingly, selection of candidates to the Board is based
on a range of measurable objectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience and qualifications, skills, knowledge
and length of service, having due regard to the Company’s
own business model and specific needs from time to time.
With the existing Board members coming from a variety
of business and professional background, the Company
considers that the Board possesses a balance of skills,
experience, expertise and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirements of the Company’s business.

Frequency of Meetings and Attendance

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Nomination
Committee held two meetings to review the composition,
size and structure of the Board, to assess the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors and to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of
Directors. Details of the attendance of the meetings are as
follows:
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Attendance
Name of members HE%E HE R
Mr. Zhang Min (Chairman) RELE (£/EF) 2/2
Ms. Yuen Wai Man REB LT 272
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey SRERESE 2/2

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) on 31 July 2001 with written terms of reference
in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting process and risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. As at the date of this report,
the Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Yuen Wai Man, Mr. Yick Ting
Fai, Jeffrey and Mr. Zhang Min. Ms. Yuen Wai Man is the
chairman of the Audit Committee.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERERS

AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

The responsibilities of the Audit Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditors and
to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement
of the external auditors, and any questions of resignation
or dismissal of such auditors; reviewing the quarterly,
interim and annual reports and accounts of the Group; and
supervising the financial reporting process and effectiveness
of risk management and internal control systems of the
Group. The Audit Committee had during the year performed
such functions and reviewed the unaudited quarterly and
interim results and audited annual results for the year ended
31 December 2020.

Frequency of Meetings and Attendance

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Audit Committee
of the Company held four meetings to review and supervise
the financial reporting process, and corporate governance
and internal control review and make recommendation to the
Board on reappointment of the external auditor. They had,
in conjunction with the external auditor of the Company,
reviewed the annual results of the Group and recommended
to the Board for their consideration and approval. The Audit
Committee of the Company was of the opinion that the
preparation of such results complied with the applicable
accounting standards and requirements and that adequate
disclosures have been made.

Details of the attendance of the Company’s Audit Committee
meetings are as follows:

B%EET (8)
BEZZECEENMINBZEM 2 EE B

REZRAEFEHFHER  TEMINEZH
BN 2 B & R SRR AR U B2 SR BB 2
HENERERZENSEE  ERFTERS
FHRE FREAERKRE  URERMH
RREFRAEERREERANBEIZRT
EEEN - BREZECCERAFERITHR
BTERBE"_T_THF+-_A=+—HL
FEZAKERTERPHERREEZF
EES L

ERRERHEE
BE_Z_THF+_A=+—HLFE &
NEBZEZEEEHRAREH  UEF K
ERMBREBERE - CEEARANINETR
_]LIT/IELXEZJ'” BINSZHBMAESERY

MEBRARNBIINEZBEMEERE
%B’\Jéfg TENREFEE WRNEFTIR
HEBURZERMLE - ARBEZEZES
B REFEZRENTEER S ER
RRE > BEFH B E -

FABDBEREZECTEHENEEFFAOT

Attendance
Name of members HE%TE HERE
Ms. Yuen Wai Man (Chairman) RESBLT EE) 6/6
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey ZREBSTE 6/6
Mr. Zhang Min RE LA 5/6
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties with its written terms of reference as set
out below:

a) to develop and review the Company's policies and
practices on corporate governance;

b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

Q) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and

e) to review the Company’'s compliance with the
corporate governance code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

An amount of approximately HK$1,232,000 (2019:
approximately HK$1,034,000) was charged to the
Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2020. Remuneration to the auditors of the Company, Asian
Alliance (HK) CPA Limited, amounted to HK$970,000 (2019:
HK$1,034,000) and HK$262,000 (2019: Nil) for the provision
of audit services and non-audit services for the year ended
31 December 2020. A resolution for re-appointment of Asian
Alliance (HK) CPA Limited as auditors of the Company will
be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
The Board concurs with the views of the Audit Committee in
determining the re-appointment of auditors of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the
Group's account for each financial period to give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results
and cash flows for that period. In preparing the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020, the Board has selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently; made judgments and
estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable. The Directors
are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps
to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other irregularities.

The auditors of the Company acknowledge their
responsibilities in the independent auditor’s report on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

COMPANY SECRETARY

For the year ended 31 December 2020, Mr. Ng Cheuk Fan,
Keith was the Company Secretary. Pursuant to Rule 5.15
of the GEM Listing Rules, Mr. Ng has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the year ended
31 December 2020.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Right to convene special general meeting

The Directors, on the requisition of shareholder(s) of the
Company holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the rights, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require
a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and
must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the
registered office of the Company in Bermuda and its principal
place of business in Hong Kong for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting,
the requisitionists, may themselves convene a meeting,
but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of two months from the said date.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board.
All enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the head
office of the Company in Hong Kong or the registered office
in Bermuda, or by e-mail to info@chinaeco-farming.com for
the attention of the Company Secretary.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

On the requisition in writing of either (i) any number
of shareholder(s) of the Company representing not less
than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all the
shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right to
vote at the meeting to which the requisition relates; or (ii)
not less than 100 shareholders, the Company shall, at the
expense of the requisitionists: (a) to give to shareholders of
the Company entitled to receive notice of the next annual
general meeting notice of any resolution which may properly
be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; (b)
to circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of any
general meeting sent to them any statement of not more
than one thousand words with respect to the matter referred
to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with
at that meeting.

The requisition must be signed by the requisitionists and
deposited at the head office and principal place of business
in Hong Kong of the Company for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

EERERRS

AESRAER (B8)

MEEGFHEANER
KREERAEEGFEHEA - MEEHLSE
MEBEH WHFEERRBREBRENH
ERIANBERENTMMER NEXE
14+ FEinfo@chinaeco-farming.com » I £ AR UK
BT ABRBEIME -

RERRAGREERZERN
FORERXEZREARBEFA LR 2ERER (B
MARERFAIRRAG EREZHER) 48
RERT+DZ—ZEAHBERRIRE ;
)AL —ERREUZTE S NIRHENK
ToARrERE (MAMERRKBEFRAK
) (amBEEEW T —ERRBFAGE
SZARBRREHEN  LLEAERBIAE
REARE LEABLRNG LEEZIRE
Z ,b)mEREEREARIATEEZRE
BRENABE-—TFZRAE  LEMZ
ARG LEARZEZRBRZMAEE R R E
ZFEe

EREXRBARBRAREZ  WEEXAT
ZRMEBERNBEBNTEEEMB > WaE
R AR RBME -

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIEZ 4 EHRAF
Annual Report 2020 — &~ T £

67



68

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear,
timely and effective communication with the shareholders
of the Company and investors. The Company has disclosed
all necessary information to its shareholders and investors
in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. Moreover, the
Board maintains close communications with the shareholders
and investors of the Company through a number of formal
communication channels which include (i) the publication of
the Company’s latest business developments and financial
performance through its annual, interim and quarterly
reports, notices, announcements and circulars; (ii) the general
meetings providing an opportunity for the shareholders of the
Company to raise comments and exchanging views with the
Board; and (iii) the Company’s website provides an effective
communication platform between the Company and its
investors.

During the year of 2020, there has been no significant
changes in the Company’s constitutional documents.

POLICY ON PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS

The Company has adopted a policy on payment of dividends
("Dividend Policy”) on 30 November 2018 pursuant to
E.1.5 in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules’ Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report with
effective from 1 January 2019.

The Policy sets out principles to determine the amount that
can be distributed to the Shareholders as dividend. The Policy
and the declaration and/or payment of future dividends
under the Policy are subject to the final determination
of the Board that the Policy and the declaration and/or
payment of dividends would be in the best interests of the
Shareholders and the Company. The Board will use their best
endeavours to maintain a balance between the Shareholders’
expectations and prudent capital management with a
sustainable dividend policy.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

POLICY ON PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS (continued)

The Company has always strived to enhance the
Shareholders’ value. The Directors believe that distributing
dividends to the Shareholders is an important method to
create value for them.

The Policy includes the following parameters/factors to be
considered by the Board for declaration of dividend from time
to time:

Circumstances under which the Shareholders may or
may not expect dividend

Il. Financial parameters/factors that shall be considered
for declaration of dividend

Il Internal and external factors that shall be considered
for declaration of dividend

IV. Utilisation of retained earnings
V. Multiple classes of Shares

The Board will review the Policy from time to time and may
exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Policy at any time as it deems fit and
necessary. There is no assurance that dividends will be paid in
any particular amount for any given period.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Goals and objectives

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing
their effectiveness on an ongoing basis. Such risk
management and internal control systems are designed for
managing risks rather than eliminating the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss.

Risk management policy has been established to formalize
the risk management of the Group, to build up a standard
and effective risk management system, improve the
ability of risk prevention, so as to ensure the Group is
operating in a safety and steady environment, the operation
management level could be increased and the Group’s
operational strategy and target could be achieved. The
current practices will be reviewed and updated regularly to
follow the latest practices in corporate governance.

Main features of the risk management and internal
control systems

The Board resolved to delegate its responsibilities (with
relevant authorities) of risk management and internal
control to the Audit Committee. Terms of reference of
the Audit Committee included the followings: (i) review
the Group's financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems; (ii) discuss the risk management
system and internal control systems with management to
ensure that management has performed its duty to have an
effective internal control systems; and (iii) to consider major
investigation findings on risk management and internal
control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own
initiative and management'’s response to these findings.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Main features of the risk management and internal
control systems (continued)

The Audit Committee (on behalf of the Board) oversees
management in the design, implementation and monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

To ensure the efficient and effective operation of the
business and operations, relevant internal control policies
and procedures have been set up for safeguarding assets
against unauthorized use or disposition, controlling over
capital expenditure, maintaining proper accounting records
and ensuring the reliability of financial information used for
business and publication. These policies and procedures are
monitored and reviewed from time to time and updated
where necessary. All employees are made aware of the
policies and procedures in place, with understanding
enhanced by staff communications and training.

The Board has reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group's risk management and internal control systems,
at least quarterly, through the Audit Committee.

Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage
Significant Risks

As a routine procedure and part of the risk management
and internal control systems, executive Directors and
management would meet on monthly basis to review the
financial and operating performance of each department.
The management of the key operating subsidiaries is
also required to keep executive Directors updated of
material development of the department’s business and
implementation of the strategies and policies set by the
Board on regular basis.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage
Significant Risks (continued)

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification
o Identifies risks that may potentially affect the key
processes of the Group’s business and operations.

Risk Assessment
o Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment
criteria developed by the management; and

o Considers the impact on the business and the
likelihood of their occurrence.

Risk Response
o Prioritizes the risks by comparing the results of the
risk assessment; and

o Determines the risk management strategies and
internal control processes to prevent, avoid or
mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

o Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the
risk and ensures that appropriate internal control
processes are in place;

o Revises the risk management strategies and internal
control processes in case of any significant change of
situation; and

o Report the results of risk monitoring to the
management and the Board regularly.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage
Significant Risks (continued)

The Board has in place an internal audit function within
the Group as required under code provision C.2.5 of the
Corporate Governance Code. The Group has engaged an
independent professional adviser (the
Adviser”) to conduct the annual review of the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems for
the year ended 31 December 2020. The scope of review
included revenue and receipt cycle, expenditure cycle, cash
management and treasury cycle, and financial reporting
cycle for the Company and two of our operating subsidiary.
Internal Control Adviser has reported major findings
and areas for improvement to the Audit Committee. All
recommendations from Internal Control Adviser would be
followed up closely to ensure that they are implemented
within a reasonable period of time. The Group therefore
considered that the Group’s risk management and internal
control processes are adequate to meet the needs of the
Company in its current business environment and that
nothing has come to its attention to cause the Board to
believe the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems are inadequate.

“Internal Control

Inside Information Disclosure Policy

An inside information disclosure policy is in place to
ensure potential inside information being captured and
confidentiality of such information being maintained until
consistent and timely disclosure are made in accordance
with the GEM Listing Rules.

On behalf of the Board
So David Tat Man
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 April 2021
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE-HERESHRS

ABOUT THIS REPORT

The purpose of this Environmental, Social and Governance
Report (the “ESG Report”) is not only to communicate
the sustainability strategies, management approaches
and performances of China Eco-Farming Limited and its
subsidiaries (collectively known as the “Group” or “we")
with the stakeholders, but also strengthen the Group's
understanding towards their ongoing activities in sustainable
development of the society and the environment as a whole.
This ESG Report summarizes the efforts and achievements
made by the Group in corporate social responsibility and
sustainable development.

Sustainability Approach

We embed sustainability into the Group’s core principles
by operating with transparency and integrity, fostering our
Group’s culture, building a resilient business, operating
responsibly and creating shared value with our stakeholders.

Across the Group, we work proactively and diligently to
monitor and reduce our environmental footprint, to ensure
effective and ethical governance and to invest in ways that
promote sustainable economic growth. Being a responsible
corporate citizen, we strictly comply with all applicable laws,
take into account the environmental, social and governance
factors and risk management strategies in our operations and
fulfill our social responsibilities with good practical deeds.

Scope of the ESG Report

Unless otherwise stated, this ESG Report covers our Hong
Kong business of trading of grocery food products, trading of
consumables and agricultural products, property investment,
provision of money lending services, one-stop value chain
services and provision of financial services for the period
from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 (the “Reporting
Period").
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THIS REPORT (continued)

Reporting Standard

This ESG Report is prepared in compliance with the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide”
set out in Appendix 20 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”).
The four reporting principles, namely materiality, quantitative,
balance and consistency, form the backbone of this ESG
Report.

For further information regarding our corporate governance,
please refer to the section of “Corporate Governance
Report” in this Annual Report.

Feedback

We will continue to improve and refine the content and
format of our ESG Report. We welcome your feedback and
suggestion. Please send your feedback to us via post at 20/F,
Wanchai Central Building, 89 Lockhart Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE-HERESHRS

COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS

We believe understanding the views and opinion of our
stakeholders is of paramount importance to the long-term
success and growth of the Group. Sustainable development
embraces not only our own ESG performance but also our
relationship with stakeholders. As such, we are devoted to
maintaining close and harmonious relationships with our
stakeholders.

It is crucial to maintain communication with our stakeholders
and obtain valuable advice. We continue to adopt the
following communication channels with stakeholders to
ensure we learn their opinions and suggestions timely
and accurately, so that our business could be improved
and developed in a continuous manner. Stakeholders
communications and expectations can be summarized as
follows:

Stakeholders Communication channels

BRFHENBEE

HPRE EEFNENRMRER HRNE
EENRMMIIERREREE - A FEE
EREBERMESNESGKRIR HEERM
EARF D BRI % o BRIIE > FeFIF5 RE R FIRVIT
PERFEZBEMNENRE % -

BRMNERTBEEBINSGESEREMNE

BoRfEBUTRAFNENBBERE UE
RRE EREMERNSFHENERERE
DURERMNEBFEUERER - FHE
BB R BT -

Expectations and concerns

FnE BEAN B RRIEEE
Employees e Internal meetings e Employees’ compensation and benefits
3= g EEmEKRET
e Performance assessment e Health and safety working environment
BETH BERZEZNITFIRE
e Company activities e (Career development opportunities
RNEEH EoE g S
e Training
=3l
Customers e Business communication e High quality product and service
ey [SEER- G BEEMKMR
e Customer service hotline e Protect the rights of customers
B R RRTSEAR RIEZ P
e Email
BB
Suppliers e Business communication e Fair and open procurement
R [EEY- e NSRYNEP3E
e Visits e Win-win cooperation
h LRaF
e Email
BB

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIRE4EXEFRAE
Annual Report 2020 —Z — T £



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE- e RELSERS

COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS (continued) BlIZ(HENBE (@)
Stakeholders Communication channels Expectations and concerns
& BEAN HAE RFAEERIR
Shareholders e Shareholders’ meetings e Return on investments
g =R RERE b= CIE
e Regular reports and announcements e Information disclosure and
EHRE KA transparency
e Official website BRI BERIERE
B A 48k e Protection of interests and fair

treatment of shareholders

RIERR RS A TR

Community e Official website ¢ Involvement in communities
RR B 75 #8uh ez
e Charitable activities e Business compliance
BEEY WEGR
e Environmental protection awareness
IRIREH
Government and e Information submission e Compliance with laws and regulations
regulatory bodies ERXE R BT ERRER

BN REEEHE e Email e Promote regional economic

B development and employment

fle #E 3th & A7 2 JB S i 3%
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

T oEE e REaRS

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

To better understand stakeholders’ opinions and expectations
on the Group’s ESG performance, the Group engaged its
stakeholders to conduct a materiality assessment survey.
Both internal and external stakeholders were selected based
on their influence and dependence on the Group. The
selected stakeholders were invited to express their views and
concerns on a list of sustainability issues via an online survey.
As a result, the Group was able to prioritise the issues for
discussion. The result from the materiality assessment survey
has been mapped and presented as below.

EEMTE

=T BT RSN EHAEBESGRIENR
RRHE AEEZAFHEET—HEE
M LB E AEEUFNENLFERNT
ERRBEREESER  HEDANIBRINBRF
NEETEZUETLRE - EENFHES
BELBENHN AT FELERNVEE
REBRRRERT -HIL ZEBE BB Z
HEEEZREFAR BEEUTERAEER
SN EFR

Materiality Assessment

EEMRE

9.50
X ]
18 7
9.00
19
e o
8.50 e o o °
n o 17 6 1
3 e
_8 # 8.00 4 (Y )
ﬁm Y 20 2
©
g 750 e ' e
Sim 9 22 24
g8
£ 700 e
g5 7 o 5
2 o
E 6.50 ®°
1
6.00
o
5.50 E
5.50 6.00 6.50 7.00 7.50 8.00 8.50 9.00 9.50
Significance to business
HEENEEM
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HHERELRERST

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT (continued) BEMTE (@

NUMBER  LIST OF MATERIAL TOPICS

RS EEREBRE
1 Employee diversity and equal opportunities

EBEZTIERTSFHSE

2 Turnover rate
MK K
3 Occupational health and safety
HEREREAZS
4 Training and development
Bl kERE
5 Child labour and forced labour
BT k@B%T
6 Employment relationship and communication
(G T
7 Employee remuneration and benefits
e BB e @A
8 Sewage disposal
5K R IE
9 Greenhouse gas emissions
BERAEPER
10 Air emissions
& R
11 Treatment of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes

RIEBRAENEZEREY

12 Energy and water conservation
BIREERK
13 Natural resources (includes water and energy)

BAER (BEKKREETR)

14 Supplier environmental and social assessment

HEBIRE R E G
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE-HERESHRS

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT (continued)

NUMBER  LIST OF MATERIAL TOPICS

EEMTE (&)

AR o EEREBRE

15 Carbon trading system
WRBE ZR 4R

16 Supplier selection process

HEREERE

17 Anti-fraud and corruption
R EREE R JB B
18 Business continuity plan

EER @SS

19 Product and service quality
EmkRFEEE

20 Complaints handling
K ifrERIE

21 Intellectual property
RN oA 2

22 Customer privacy
ERME

23 Research and development
&

24 Community participation
H&2H

25 Donations
b

The Group built a two-dimensional materiality analysis matrix
and prioritised the 25 issues accordingly. With respect to this
ESG Report, the Group identified quality of work environment
and product and service responsibility as issues of the highest
importance to its stakeholders and the Group. This review has
helped the Group to prioritise its corresponding sustainability
issues and highlight the material and relevant aspects so as to
align them with stakeholders’ expectations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

CARING FOR ENVIRONMENT

As a responsible corporation, we are aware of the shared
responsibility to protect and preserve our planet. We
endeavor to comply with laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopts effective measures to
achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste
reduction. Due to our business nature, apart from emissions
and use of resources for electricity and water, our operation
does not have other significant impact on the environment.

Emission Management

Our greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions primarily stem from
petrol consumption from the use of vehicles (Scope 1),
indirect emissions produced by externally-purchased electricity
consumed in offices (Scope 2), and indirect emissions (Scope
3). We have implemented various initiatives to reduce the
amount of GHG emissions, as further explained in the
subsection headed “Energy Management” of this ESG
Report.

RI-HERERKRS

BEIRIR

ER—REBENRTE > HFIKEBRZHIK
WHBEEE - HMAZHEBTAERIREREN
ERER TREARMERUBRERNS
XA ~ BRI BE TR ARl /L BE FR ) - BB 1 FIRY
EBHEERA BERRERENIRKER
S M EEH RGBT EAMBERT &

M ER

AR ERE (TEERE)) SIREERIR
PFEFSBEFTE R R SUHH FE (&) - i}
RENINEEH EE2) UnEEER (BE
3) cHRFIEEMZEEMLUR D R E R
ME E—FF BN ARESGRE BEREE)
DEe

Air emissions 2020 2019 Unit
B HER —E-EHF —E-NE B
Nitrogen Oxides (“NOx") 2159 (TNOx ) 4.1 4.9 kg T2
Sulphur Oxides (“SOx") &1 (Fsoxy) 0.1 0.2 kg T2
Particulate Matter (“PM") e (TPM ) 0.3 0.4 kg T2
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE-HERESHRS

CARING FOR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

BEIRIF ()

usage in shared office rented by few subsidiaries, which
the electricity consumption data were included in the
management fee paid and unable to be obtained for the
occupied areas.

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIRE4EXEFRAE
Annual Report 2020 —Z ~— ZEER

Emission Management (continued) HERERE (8
GHG emission' 2020 2019 Unit
BERBEHER —EIEH “E-hnE B
Total GHG emissions AERBHINREE 47.6 63.3 Tonnes of COze
(Scope 1, 2 and 3) (#E1~2K3) —_StHmESE (M)
Direct emission (Scope 1) HiZEE (EEN) 27.5 28.6 Tonnes of COe
—SEEE (M)
Indirect emission (Scope 2) EEgE R (EEE2) 17.2 27.6 Tonnes of COze
—ftREE (W)
Other indirect emission? (Scope 3)  HthfEZEERC (FEE3) 3.0 7.1 Tonnes of COze
—SEREE (M)
Intensity of total GHG emissions ~ AEREHENZE 0.2 0.1 kg of COze /m?
M8,/ 75 K)
Energy Management REREIE
The energy consumption information is shown as follow: BEFEERIYIRIT :
Energy consumption 2020 2019 Unit
AE g a3 3 —T-NE B
Total energy consumption HEREFE 117,441.8 127,641.9 kWh F EBF
Intensity of total energy HEREFERE 238.4 259.1 kWh/m?2
consumption (per floor area) (BEEER) BEARTRE
Electricity consumption? B2 19,112.0 31,249.0 kWh F EBF
Petrol P 98,329.8 96,212.9 kWh F FLBF
Note 1:  As the scope of total electricity consumption excluded MizE1 . BARBESSEHEIFGELVEWEAT
those usage in shared office rented by few subsidiaries, AEMNHERARAETEEE  HEES S
which the electricity consumption data were included EEMADNEBEAERENEAER
in the management fee paid and unable to be obtained EE  WMEER RS ErRE S
for the occupied areas, the GHG emission data has not EHHAWNEEESo
included the electricity used by those shared office.
Note 2:  GHG calculation for air travel were made reference to the MsE2 © MmN EE B8R REFRERR
International Civil Aviation Organization Carbon Emissions M4BT EER st SSo
Calculator.
Note 3:  The scope of total electricity consumption excluded those X3 : BESSHEFAGELHWWEATMEA

WHAMAREREE HESEHEE
MAENEERBEETERGRERE

=]
1<°



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

CARING FOR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Emission Management (continued)

As GHG emissions are positively correlated to electricity
and energy consumption, the Group tries to reduce the
consumption of both aspects in its daily operation through
the following specific measures:

o Adopt natural lighting where possible, while energy-
efficient light bulbs are used to reduce electricity
consumption

o Modify the set temperature of air conditioners in the
offices based on the season

o Consider with higher grading of energy efficiency
when selecting electronic devices

o Encourage our employees to switch off idle equipment
(such as computers and lighting equipment) when the
equipment is not in use or employees are getting off

work

o Office copy machines will be automatically switched to
energy saving mode when left idle for a set period of
time

o Encourage our employees to replace business travels

with telephone conference or video conference when
appropriate to reduce related GHG emissions caused
by the transportation required for business travels

o Encourage employees to schedule visits or offsite
meetings within one trip to reduce the frequency of
travel

RI-HERERKRS

BEIRIF ()
REREE (@
M ERBEHFINEFEBRFEMRMIEL &
SR EBBUTARERN D AEEER
AUFE B R FERE :

. F|AIFERRA B 2R RIRFE A ENAEE
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7E i
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PR R EIsER TN
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RIE-HERESHRS

CARING FOR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Water Use and Sewage Discharge

Due to our business nature, we do not consume a large
amount of water resources or generate a large amount of
sewage in our operation. Sewage produced by the Group is
mainly generated from the daily water usage from its staffs
during working hours in office, which is further discharged
to the municipal wastewater treatment plant through the
sewage pipe work. We encourage our employees to build
up the habit of saving water through the following specific
measures:

o Post notice in office pantries and washrooms to
encourage water conservation

o Remind employees to turn off water taps when they
are not in use

o Any leakage or dripping found in office should also
be reported promptly to prevent unnecessary water
consumption

As we operated in leased office premises in Hong Kong
of which both the water supply and discharge were solely
controlled by the respective building management. Hence,
the water usage data was unable to be obtained by us as an
individual occupant. As our business is located in Hong Kong,
there is no issue in sourcing water.

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIRE4EXEFRAE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

CARING FOR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Waste Management

The Group adheres to the waste management principles and
strives to properly manage and dispose wastes produced
by our business activities. Our waste management practice
has been compiled with laws and regulations relating to
environmental protection. Due to the business nature, our
operations do not directly generate hazardous waste. The
non-hazardous wastes generated by the Group’s operations
are mainly consist of paper and domestic garbage generated
in office. The wastes were collected and handled by building
management. The total paper waste generated during the
Reporting Period was 1.2 tonnes (2019: 1.2 tonnes) with
an intensity of 4.4 kg (2019: 2.4 kg) per square meter. We
seek opportunities to reduce resource consumption and
waste generation, reuse and recycle materials in an aim of
minimizing overall quantities of waste. As paper is mainly
consumed by the Group in its offices, the Group has adopted
the following practices to reduce the consumption:

o Encourage both-side printing and the use of recycled
paper for printing and copying

° Disseminate information by electronic means (i.e. via
email) as much as possible

o Provide bins and trays in offices to collect waste paper
for further recycling

o Encourage staff to reduce paper consumption and to
share tips and information on how to adopt a more
environmentally-responsible lifestyle

The Group strongly advocates green office, strengthens
daily operation and management, integrates low-carbon
environmental protection concepts into the daily work of
employees by implementing energy-saving office environment
reforms, promoting paperless office management, raises
employees’ awareness of energy conservation, and
cultivates the environmental habits of employees. With the
implementation of the measures above, we believe the
objectives of saving energy, reducing waste and preserving
the environment can be achieved.

RI-HERERKRS

EEIRIE (B)
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RIE-HERESHRS

CARING FOR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Packaging Material Use

Due to the business nature, the Group does not produce any
finished product and does not have any industrial facilities. As
the suppliers would arrange delivery to our customers directly
for the trading business, we do not consume a significant
amount of packaging materials in our daily operations.

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any incidents of non-compliance with Air Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Water
Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and other relevant laws and regulations
related to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste. The Group did not have any significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.

CARING FOR EMPLOYEES

Our dedicated and skilled workforce is our biggest asset. We
are committed to providing training, equal and development
opportunities for our people to enable them to reach
their potential in a healthy, safe and respectful working
environment.

Equal Opportunities

The Group believes that it is important to provide employees
with equal opportunities based on the principles of fairness
and fairness. We provide fair opportunities for recruitment,
compensation, training, transfer and promotion to our
employees regardless of their gender, ethnic, background,
religion, colour, age, marital status, family status, retirement,
disability or pregnancy.

In addition, the Group adopts a zero-tolerance attitude
towards gender, ethnicity, disability discrimination, and
workplace harassment. We respect human rights and
prohibits discrimination, harassment, child labor and forced
labor in the workplace.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continued)

Equal Opportunities (continued)

We have established whistleblowing policy, which provides
our staff a private channel to voice out any concerns
about possible discrimination or harassment. We keep the
whistleblowers and their report contents confidential, and
protect the legitimate rights and interests of whistleblowers,
thereby encouraging employees to report violation and create
a good business environment.

Employee Remuneration and Benefits

We offer a comprehensive and competitive remuneration
package to enhance our staff morale and satisfaction. In
addition, the Group conducts staff performance assessments
regularly in accordance to changes in macroeconomic factors
(e.g. national policies and price levels), market trend and the
overall effectiveness of the Group, and makes corresponding
adjustments to staff remuneration. Outstanding employees
will get promotion as reward and recognition. Apart from
competitive remuneration packages, we also grant share
options and special bonuses to eligible personnel, depending
on their performances and our financial conditions, in
order to attract and retain the most talented people. Our
employees also enjoy the statutory holidays, annual leaves,
maternity leaves and compassionate leaves regarding to
the relevant laws and regulations. Our employee handbook
outlines the standard working hours, paid leaves, rest periods
and dismissal policy in protection of the rights of our staff.
We disseminate the handbook to all our staff to keep them
well informed of our principles and policies.
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RIE-HERESHRS

CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continued)

Recruitment and Dismissal

To attract high-calibre candidates, the Group offers fair
remuneration and benefits based on the individuals’ past
performance, personal attributes, job experiences and career
aspiration. We follow the principles of fairness, equality,
competitive and non-discrimination to hire outstanding
talents, and devote to protect human right and privacy
of employees. We recruit employees based on a number
of factors, such as professional experience, educational
background and capabilities, and they are not discriminated
against because of their age, sex, sexual orientation, race,
disability, marital status, pregnancy, religion, political factions
and referrals, so as to maintain employment equality.

All employees of the Group have entered into written
employment contracts and such contracts include dismissal
term where the Company has the right to terminate such
contract with an employee who willfully violates local laws
and regulations and the Group's policy.

Promotion of work-life balance

We believe a culture of healthy work-life balance supports
us to build an energetic and more collaborative team. By
providing five-day working week and organizing a wide
variety of recreational activities for our staff, we believe it can
uphold the excellent work performance of employees and
benefit the growth of the Group.

Training and Development

We believe our sustainable growth is largely derived from
the continuous development of our staff. We place a great
emphasis on career development of talents and are dedicated
to providing our employees with abundant opportunities for
career development.

We provide and encourage employees at all levels to
participate in various internal and external courses, including
technical and vocational training seminars, forums, on-job
and continuing training courses. We also offer educational
subsidies to our employees to attend academic and
commercial course. These not only enhance their job-
related skills and knowledge, but also provide them equal
opportunities for learning, training and promotion.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

CARING FOR EMPLOYEES (continued)

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware
of any incidents of non-compliance with the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Minimum
Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608 of the laws of Hong Kong) and
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485
of the laws of Hong Kong) and other relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunities,
diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group pays great attention to the physical, mental
and occupational health of its employees. We aim to offer
and maintain a safe and healthy working environment for
employees to protect them from work-related accidents or
injuries.

We are committed to achieving this goal by implementing the
measures including but not limited to:

Provide personal medical insurance and business travel
insurance for all employees

o Provide sufficient first-aid kits and personal protective
equipment at workplaces

o Prohibit smoking in all enclosed areas within our
offices without exception

o Perform regular checking and maintenance of
machines, equipment and fire extinguishers

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any incidents of non-compliance with The Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and other relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group relating to providing
a safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards. We also did not receive any reports
on work-related injuries or causalities during the Reporting
Period.
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RIE-HERESHRS

LABOUR STANDARD

In strict accordance with applicable local laws and
regulations, we adopt a zero-tolerance approach to unethical
labour practice including but not limited to child labor and
forced labor. Once any breach of regulations is discovered,
the labour relationship will be terminated immediately. All
recruitment procedure and promotion are managed by the
Human Resource Department to ensure no child labour or
forced labour is employed.

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any incidents of non-compliance with the Employment of
Children Regulations made under the Employment Ordinance
(Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) or other relevant laws
and regulations on preventing child or forced labour.

CARING FOR CUSTOMER

The Group attaches importance to quality, safety and
environment, and endeavors to fulfill social responsibilities
and facilitate sustainable development of the food industry.

Product Responsibility

As one of our principal business is trading of grocery food
products, we have always endeavored to provide safety
food products to our customers. We have registered as
food importer and food distributor under the Food Safety
Ordinance (Chapter 612 of the Laws of Hong Kong). We
have registered as a food importers/food distributors under
the Food Safety Ordinance. In order to demonstrate that
we are committed to selecting cooking oil suppliers with
adequate and appropriate records, we have registered
as registered supplier to the Hong Kong Cooking Oil
Registration Scheme under Hong Kong Quality Assurance
Agency ("HKQAA") on voluntary basis. Regarding to
product recall, we attach great importance to the food alerts
issued by Centre for Food Safety as well as related market
information. Once we noticed our product is involved with
quality and safety issues and necessary to be revoked, we
will fully collaborate with related regulatory authorities and
recall the relevant products as required. Recall arrangement
will be announced and the recalled products will be handled
appropriately. During the Reporting Period, no product recall
has been incurred.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

CARING FOR CUSTOMER (continued)

Personal data privacy

In accordance with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
(Cap. 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Group handles the
personal data of our customers carefully by collecting only
necessary personal data and ensures that the information
obtained is protected from unauthorised or accidental access.
Our employees are constantly reminded the importance of
respecting the privacy of personal and business data.

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with the Consumer Goods Safety
Ordinance (Chapter 456 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Food
Safety Ordinance (Chapter 612 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
Food and Drugs (Composition and Labelling) Regulations
(Chapter 132W of the Laws of Hong Kong), Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and other relevant laws and regulations that constitutes a
significant impact on the Group in relation to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

We value mutually beneficial and longstanding relationships
with our suppliers. Our major suppliers are suppliers of
grocery food products, consumables and agricultural
products, external business consultants and general office
supply. The selection of suppliers is based on criteria
such as quality, cost, business scale and reputation, with
preference given to potential suppliers that demonstrate their
commitment to the environment. Full compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations is a must for our suppliers.
When a supplier is found to be inconsistent with our policy
or contractual requirements, we will terminate future
cooperation until the situation got improved.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware that
any key suppliers had any significant actual and potential
negative impact on business ethics, environmental protection,
human rights and labour practices, nor any of them had any
non-compliance incident in respect of human rights issues.
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RIE-HERESHRS

CARING FOR SOCIETY

We are committed to participating in community events and
the improvement of community wellbeing and social services.
We support and encourage staff to actively participate in a
wide range of charitable events outside working hours, raise
awareness and concern for the community, last but not least,
inspire more people to take part in serving the community.

During the Reporting Period, the Group made contributions
to various charitable organization, such as Ten Percent
Donation Scheme Foundation and The Hong Kong Federation
of Youth Groups with approximately of HK$43,900 (2019:
HK$23,000).

ANTI-CORRUPTION

We regard honesty, integrity and fair play as core values that
must be upheld by all directors and staff at all times. The
Group strictly complies with applicable laws and regulations
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud or anti-money laundering.
Any misconduct related to bribery, extortion, fraud or anti-
money laundering are strictly prohibited within the Group.

We have established reporting channels where employees can
report illegal and non-compliance conducts that they have
noticed by in-person, phone, email or letter. The reporting
content will be confidential and never be exposed to third

party.

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other
relevant laws and regulations and there was no legal cases
concerned with corrupt practices were brought against the
Group or Directors or employees.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

/Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA ECO-FARMING LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued into
Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of China Eco-Farming Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out
on pages 102 to 310, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BAZEETIRS

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN
We draw attention to Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred loss
attributable to the owners of the Company of approximately
HK$58,845,000 and had approximately HK$56,410,000
net cash used in operating activities for the year ended 31
December 2020 and, as of that date, the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
HK$2,665,000. These conditions, along with other matters as
set forth in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described
in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section,
we have determined the matters described below to be the
key audit matters to be communicated in our report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
FEETEER

BILZHEN RS

R EF1E (@)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANBSHMAHRARETFRETRE

Impairment assessment on other receivables and loans to associates

HLh FE UL TR IR K A B 2 B 1B H B R BV R E AT A

As disclosed in Note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2020, the Group’s
gross other receivables amounted to approximately
HK$26,105,000, and an allowance for credit losses of
approximately HK$651,000 were included in the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position.

MM S B RRNF24FIRE K2 _ZTF+ A
=+—H> BEENHMEBWRIEMREEL%26,105,000
B EEBIBEAELN651,0008TE A EEENG
SURBIRRE

The impairment loss, net of reversal, on other receivables
included in the Group’s consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income for the year
ended 31 December 2020 amounted to approximately
HK$640,000.

Ht U IER R E R R (0FREE[E]) 49640,0008 7T B
TA BEEBE_Z_ZHE+__A=+—HLEEERN
GReEBEmRRAMEEKTR

As disclosed in Note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2020, the Group's
gross loans to associates amounted to approximately
HK$38,056,000, and an allowance for credit losses of
approximately HK$1,145,000 were included in the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position.
HUEETHBERRWF26MMIEZE RS 2EF+Z
A=+—H> BEXEENEBEATFHERBENS
38,056,000/ 70 E EREEHX1,145,0008 T B 5t
A BEEENREMBERRR

Our audit procedures in relation to
management’s assessment on allowance for
credit loss of other receivables and loans to
associates included:
BMAMEMBKSRIEBERABERABIELE
M EEEEBEENEERETG 2 BEZER
B8

- understood and evaluated the modelling
methodologies for expected credit
losses measurement, assessed the
reasonableness of the model selection
and key measurement parameters
determination;

— BERETGEERACEEBEFENER
FE HERERANER T EAEDHE
EHNEENM ;

- for the historical information, discussed
with management to understand
the management’s identification
of significant increase in credit risk,
defaults and credit-impaired receivables,
corroborated management’s explanation
with supporting evidence;

— WMELEHME AEIEEwmIUIER
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

RS EFE (@)

Key audit matter

FREFE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANESHMAHRARETFRETRE

Impairment assessment on other receivables and loans to associates (continued)

Hh FEUW TR IR K [A B E A B H BBV RE TG ()

The impairment loss on loans to associates included in the
Group's consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2020 amounted to approximately HK$386,000.

M E A B FLE EMANBERE4386,000% T BE5t
A BERBE_Z_EFF+_A=+—HLEFENR
EEmRKHEMEREE @R -

The allowance for credit losses of other receivables and
loans to associates represents the management’s best
estimates at the end of the reporting period of expected
credit losses under Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standard 9: Financial Instruments’s Expected Credit Loss
Model.

HMEWRIBERAEE ABSIFHERNEEHEIEREIE
EEBRBEBYFHRESERFIN M T AEREE
BEENHEREERBN RS AR REMS -

Management assesses whether the credit risk of other
receivables and loans to associates have increased
significantly since their initial recognition, and apply a
three-stage impairment model to calculate their expected
credit losses.
EEEMEEMBRREBERABEABMEFHEERNEES
BBz B B s URA KRG 0 X AR = R E
RSt EHARESBE
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for forward-looking measurement,
assessed the reasonableness of
economic indicator selection, economic
scenarios and weightings application,
assessed the reasonableness of the
estimation by comparing with industry
data;
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challenged the management the
sufficiency of impairment loss based on
the specific facts and circumstances;
and;
REERFERBENEREEELH A
EEBNEERSTRE ) &

checked major data inputs used in the
Expected Credit Loss Model on sample
basis to the Group’s record.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) BfEEstEIE (4B)
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
FEETEER BB MAHNRARETERETEE

Impairment assessment on other receivables and loans to associates (continued)

HMEWRIE R ABE AR EHERRETE (8

The measurement models of expected credit losses involves
significant management judgement and assumptions,
primarily including the followings:
FFHEEEENTERAIREREEEHE MR
FECREUTAR !

- selection of appropriate model and determination
of relevant key measurement parameters, including
probability of default, loss given default and
exposure at default;

— WEBERALRETHEBIEZESF228 0FE
LHPREM ENTHEBEAENK RO ;

- criteria for determining whether or not there was a
significant increase in credit risk or a default; and

— BETEERRESAKBIZENNBEETEONEE
4

- economic indicator for forward-looking
measurement, and the application of economic
scenarios and weightings.

— HIBEMFENKEEEUARKSEBERIREZER
FEF °

We consider impairment assessment on other receivables
and loans to associates as a key audit matter because of
its significance to the consolidated financial statements
and the significant estimates and judgement involved in
determining the expected credit losses allowance on the
other receivables and loans to associates.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’'s report that includes our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section
90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors of the
Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BAZEETIRS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIRE4EXEFRAE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Cheng Ting Chiu

Practising Certificate Number: P06598

8/F, Catic Plaza

8 Causeway Road
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

30 April 2021

BILZHEN RS

AT 5T & M B IR R AR
B1E (@)

RPEMAEEBRRER RAFLMEFNS
BRI ENEBEXRER/ER I E MM
BEAFEGEMKISEXERMBLM
PR ERHMEAMEIE LUKk 2HREE M
REBVITEI S E RARIBhE AR CNERA) -

HEAEERENEER RPREWES
ERARGEVHBREANEARRESR
MBI R B FH  RPIERBENRES
HILBERE [RIFEZRERTAFF AR
BELEFE AEBBERNBERT WRE
ERAERMRETEEESFTRENNER
BREBBEENLARMmD  HAIREFEE
wWEPEBZER

ERL(BFR) St EHBAABERAR
HETEET

BT

HEFBERSE 1 P06598

5B
&L REsH

2 —-FWA=+H

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIEZ 4 EHRAF
Annual Report 2020 — &~ T £

101



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

-
n‘m & sf&éﬁ”&ﬁﬁ%
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HEZZFE+_A=1+—HIFE
2020 2019
—ETHF ZET-NF
NOTES HK$000 HK$'000
s FAET TFET
Revenue & 6
Goods and services 3 fm e IR 75 33,549 27,334
Leases HE 266 3,222
Interest under effective interest BERHEEFTEDN
method FE 1,381 1,280
Total revenue g 35,196 31,836
Cost of sales 5 & A As (29,365) (20,658)
Gross profit EH 5,831 11,178
Other gains or losses H a8 8 10,061 2,968
Impairment losses under expected A EEREEREAE TN
credit loss model, net of reversal BEEE (0R#ED) 10 (10,781) 3,536
Loss from changes in fair value of KREMEN R FEESH
investment properties, net 548 JFRA 18 (11,673) (29,207)
Gain (loss) from changes in fair value of ZAFEFAEBRZ
financial assets at fair value through ETMBEATE
profit or loss ﬁ@]”&?ﬁ (B518) 27 7,278 (10,077)
Impairment loss on goodwill ERERIE 19 - (3,547)
Impairment loss on interests in associates HAH%%’/_}T B2 AY
BERE1E 21 (855) (2,619)
Selling and distribution expenses HE RDIHEE (1,174) (1,394)
Administrative expenses THHEZ (54,386) (47,777)
Share of results of associates DMEBE AT ES 21 (9,258) (17,263)
Finance costs Ei=Ya7%:N 9 (8,455) (11,945)
Loss before tax PRIR ARS8 (73,412) (106,147)
Income tax credit FriSinik 11 14,528 6,669
Loss for the year KFEEEE 12 (58,884) (99,478)
Other comprehensive (expense) income: Hfth2E (FEsk) Wi :
Item that will not be reclassified to HTEEN THEE
profit or loss: Em 2 EEH -
Fair value loss on investments in equity ZAF{Ezt AEHMEE
instruments at fair value through Wamz#Em TEKEN
other comprehensive income NSV SF = (2,206) (15,410)
Item that may be reclassified HEBGE#H 7 EE
subsequently to profit or loss: Em 2 EHEH
Exchange differences arising on MBBINEREE
translation of foreign operations bE @ = %8 11,834 (7,957)
Other comprehensive income (expense) 7~ E E 2 HE W
for the year, net of income tax (B > OBRFA1ERR 9,628 (23,367)
Total comprehensive expense AEEZERZEEE
for the year (49,256) (122,845)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEmkEMEERZR
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZH+_A=+—HLEFE

2020 2019
—E2IEFE CZT—AF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET FAET
Loss for the year attributable to: B AFERE !
Owners of the Company KANTHEA A (58,845) (99,411)
Non-controlling interests R ARG R e B (39) (67)
(58,884) (99,478)
Total comprehensive expense BEAFEEZEHS
for the year attributable to: 4a%E .
Owners of the Company KANTHEA A (48,322) (122,721)
Non-controlling interests IR ARG B e B (934) (124)
(49,256) (122,845)
Loss per share: SKEE
Basic and diluted (HK cents) BEARFE#E GBL) 15 (6.31) (12.37)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

U EEMBRAR
At 31 December 2020
N —ETEF+"H=1+—H

2020 2019
“EIEFE Z2—hNHF
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
s F#&T FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Plant and equipment R 5= K 5 16 1,387 2,948
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 17 1,010 3,550
Investment properties KEME 18 18,367 59,183
Goodwill mE 19 725 725
Intangible asset mILEE 20 758 =
Interests in associates N NCIPA - T 21 43,436 53,549
Equity instruments at fair value BATES ARMERE
through other comprehensive Wz #mTHR
income 22 7,871 9,571
Deposits paid BfNEE 23 86,152 59,768
Other receivables HAEWIE 24 12,459 -
Loans to associates aEANBEHER 26 7,075 =
179,240 189,294
CURRENT ASSETS MENE E
Inventories, finished goods F5 8 Mm 69 908
Trade and other receivables FE W BR R R EAth
&R IE 24 34,900 24,244
Loan and interest receivables R E R &F) 2 25 2,876 21,148
Loans to associates ABEABEHER 26 29,836 31,559
Financial assets at fair value through BAFESFAEBRZ
profit or loss TREE 27 20,243 7,685
Restricted bank balance ZIRAIIRITAS BR 28 10 =
Bank balances and cash IRIT4EGRRIEE 29 2,951 2,416
90,885 87,960
Assets classified as held for sale DEAFIEHEEE 30 - 77,610
90,885 165,570
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENEE
Trade and other payables FEAT BR AR E At
FE(TFRIE 31 30,857 40,362
Contract liabilities BHNEaRE 32 1,246 =
Amounts due to non-controlling INER2 T
interests R IE 33 2,745 2,995
Borrowings EE 34 41,318 43,366
Margin loans payables G REBEER 35 6,514 6,012
Lease liabilities HE&E 36 517 1,107
Financial guarantee contract MBEREHN 37 10,306 727
Income tax payable e PSR 47 244
93,550 94,813
104 China Eco-Farming Limited FEERELXEFR AT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
RE MBI TR

At 31 December 2020
RNIETEF+"HA=+—H

2020 2019
—EBECEE —Z—NEF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Mzt FHET FET
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES) ASSETS =E) (BR) BE T (2,665) 70,757
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRHER
LIABILITIES 176,575 260,051
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERENEE
Borrowings EE/N 34 = 19,612
Lease liabilities HEas 36 506 2,636
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEE 38 934 15,212
1,440 37,460
NET ASSETS BEFE 175,135 222,591
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BERRK#HE
Share capital (&N 39 9,325 9,325
Reserves EL 129,250 176,792
Equity attributable to owners of KABHEE NELER
the Company 138,575 186,117
Non-controlling interests JEERE R R wm 36,560 36,474
TOTAL EQUITY R 4EEE 175,135 222,591
The consolidated financial statements on pages 102 to 310  F102E310BENGEHBREAESTZN

were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 30 April 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

So David Tat Man

T —FMA=+HHEREETIE > WK

THALEE

Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith

BIEX
Director

EF

28R
Director

EF
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CONSOLlDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
n\7|'\ *"—-‘-L@@J%

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE_S-SE+_A=f-OILEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KAFRA AL
Investment Share Non-
Share Share  Contributed revaluation options Translation Specal Other ~ Accumulated controlling
capital premium surplus resenve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Subtotal interests Total
PEE BRE FER
iz hireE SABH B i ARG ShlE U EitbE ast Pt &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§000
TEn Tin Fin Tin TiEn TiEn T Tin Tin T TEn T
Note (3) Note (b)
Higkia) iG]
At1 January 2019 RIB-7E-F-B 1m = 650,298 (16,79) 14616 869 6,026 (764) (352,100) 300,357 36,616 336,973
Loss for the year 1EEER - - - - - - - - (99.411) (99.411) (67) (99.478)
Other comprehensive expense for the year: ~ REEHMAERER :
e that wil ot be HFBENNRER2BE
reclassified to profit or loss:
Fair value loss on investments in equity RATEHAEMEENEL
instruments a fair value through other ERTARENATERS
comprehensive incorne - - - (15410) - - - - - (15410) - (15410)
lem that may be subsequenty recessifed o RETENHEEEZHEL
profitorloss:
Fichange differences arising on transation of B ENEREL I EREE
foreiqn operations o S S = - (7.900) S S S (7,900 (57) (1957)
Other comprehensive expense for the year ~ REEH AT - - - (15410) - (7.900) - - - (23310) 57) (23361)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FEERERSAR - - - (15410) S (7.900) o o (99411) (1211 (124) (122,849)
Placing o new shres (Note 39) EENRR (1530 155 6,994 - - - - - 8548 - 8548
Placing expenses n relaton to the isuance of ~ ARETRIZEERE (H39)
s (Note 39) - (85) - - - - - - = (83) - (85)
Acquiston of nterest n a subsidary without MR HEA TR BUELEZ
change of control (Note 47(b) 88 (W) - - - - - - - 18 - 18 (18) -
Share option lapsed during the year (Note 43) ~ FRBH %ﬁ&& (H3ta3) - - - - (14516) - - - 14616 - - -
Release of investment revaluation resene upon -~ 1R ERAT R ARM2ENEL
disposal of investments n equity instuments ~ ERT ERBRRRAESHEE
at fair value through other comprehensive
income - - - 3260 - - - - (3.260) - - -
At 31 December 2019 RIB-PETZR=+-A 9325 6,909 650,298 (28946) - (16,504) 6,026 (746) (440,155) 186,117 36474 0591
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

maEmEER

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZF+_HA=1t—HILEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LGN
Investment Share Non-
Share Share  Contributed ~ revaluation options  Translation Spedial Other  Accumulated controlling
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Subtotal interests Total
REEf R ) R
k& iR BARER L] L] BHER HRIEE it RithAR gt ks A
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
Fin Fin Fin Fin FiEn FEn FEn Fin Fin Fin Fin Fin
Note (3) Note (b)
M) Hizk(b)
At1 January 2020 ®Z%2%5-5-8 9325 6,909 650,298 (28,94) - (16,59) 6,026 (746) (440,155) 186,117 36,474 22,591
Loss for the year EERR - - - - = = = = (58,845) (58,845) (39) (58,884)
Other comprehensive (expense) income RERHMAE (%) WE
for the year:
ltem that wil not be recessifed to HREENIRERR S
proftor loss:
Fair value loss on investments in equity RATEALMR ARG
instruments at fair value through other ERIARENATARA
comprehensive income - - - (2.200) - - - - - (2.200) - (2.200)
tem that may be subsequenty recssifed o RATEFABRERR
proftor loss:
Fichange differences arising on transation of ~ AEENERELEREE
foreign operations - - - - - 12,129 - - - 12729 (895) 11,834
Other comprehensive (expense) income FERENRE () bE
forthe year, net of income tax MR - - - (2.206) - 1719 - - - 1053 (895) 9,628
Totd comprehensiv (expense) income FEERE (B hE4E
forthe ear . . = (.20 = 0 5 5 (B85 (483 @y s
Recognition of equity-settled share based
payments (Note 43) - - - - 1,800 - - - - 1,800 - 1,800
Acquistion of interest in subsidiaries without
change of control (Note 47(a)) - - - - - - - (1,020) - (1,020) 1020 -
At 31 December 2020 RIBZRETIE=+-H 9325 6,909 650,298 (31,152) 1,800 (3,865) 6,026 (1,766) (499,000) 138,575 36,560 175,135
Notes: MisE
(a) The special reserve represents the difference between the (a) BRHEERN AT NB AT RN EER
nominal amount of share and share premium of the former RO REARBE S _FEEEAME
subsidiary of the Company and the nominal amount of the THARABRSEBEZENELE
Company's shares issued pursuant to a group reorganisation
in 2002.
(b) The other reserve has been set up and dealt with in (b) HmEBLRE BB ABMAREER

accordance with the accounting policies for the changes in
ownership interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss
of control. Details of changes in ownership in interests in a
subsidiary that do not result in loss of control is set out in
Note 47.

25 (FEERKREEFR) PARME 5
H%ﬁ'ﬁux_uilfﬂO—FEMT}%’/}TFEE%H
B (F2ERREEGE) Z5F BN
47 °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n\T\ Eﬁﬁlﬁgﬁ
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BETZETEF+A=1+—HLFE
2020 2019
—EEF T— N
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#&T FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RS
Loss before tax FRIR ARS8 (73,412) (106,147)
Adjustments for: PTFIEEEH AR
Finance costs BB A 8,455 11,945
Depreciation for plant and equipment 7= KRk FHTE 1,294 2,017
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEEITE 786 360
Share-based payments MR AERR TR 1,800 =
Loss on fair value changes of KEMEATEEE
investment properties, net 548 558 11,673 29,207
(Gain) loss from changes in fair value  RZAFEStAEBZZ
of financial assets at fair value THREEAFE
through profit or loss BE) (km) B8 (7,278) 10,077
Impairment loss, net of reversal TREETE > 0k [O]
— goodwill —BE - 3,547
— interests in associates —REE AT m 855 2,619
— financial assets and other —EREEKRTER
items under expected credit loss EEBEERXT
model MEMIEE 10,781 (3,536)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEHRBAE (3,327) (100)
Gain on disposal of plant and HERE k& EN WS
equipment (117) -
Loss on written-off of plant and 155 R B e 5% 1 S 18
equipment 26 1,301
Loss on written-off of trade receivables #fi$4 & 7 FEW R IE 518 - 821
Loss on written-off of other receivables i #4 ELthFEWT R IE
E518 2,934 -
(Gain) loss on settlement of loan and  #EES;EEIKF S
interest receivables (W) B8 (3,962) 191
Loss on settlement of loans to EEOBEABEY
associates BRI 133 -
Share of results of associates DMEHE AT ELE 9,258 17,263
Interest income A E WA (1,821) (4,028)
Dividend income from financial assets AT {Et ABEN
at fair value through profit or loss THEENREWA - (284)
Operating cash flows before AREEEREEAIZ
movements in working capital THSma (41,922) (34,747)
Decrease in inventories FERD 839 13
Increase in trade and & U AR = e ELAth FE Uk
other receivables I A0 (27,851) (3,036)
Decrease in loan and interest receivables & 2K fE UK K] B
DEHA% 341 7,287
Increase in restricted bank balance 2R AR T A4S BRIZ A0 (10) =
Increase in trade and other payables FETBR AR A H At FE (T
FRIEIE N 11,050 6,497
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities &#I&&200 C5L) 1,246 (1,940)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZHF+_A=1+—HILFE

2020 2019
—EZEHF —E-hAEF
NOTE HK$’000 HK$'000
B = FAET FET
Cash used in operations ¥EEFAARE (56,307) (25,926)
Income tax paid BEATFTER (103) (186)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING REXBFRRAREREE
ACTIVITIES (56,410) (26,112)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KREEDH
Proceeds on disposal of equity HEZRFESTAEM
instruments at fair value through PHWGEZETZTAN
other comprehensive income FREENE] = 6,772
Proceeds on disposal of financial assets tH&E A F{E st ABZH
at fair value through profit or loss TREENFTEMRIE 714 2,600
Purchase of financial assets at BREAYEFAEREN
fair value through profit or loss THEE (5,994) =
Proceeds on disposal of asset classified HEDEAFIEHEZ
as held for sale B ENFTSHIE 57,297 20,313
Proceeds on disposal of investment HERBEYENPMSNRIE
properties 29,917 1,740
Proceeds on disposal of plant and HERERRBEN
equipment P18 718 318 -
Interest received BWF S 3 2
Deposit paid for acquisition of WiE—RERE AT
a subsidiary BfEE - (1,000)
Deposit paid for acquisition of further kU B — RS B A T HY
equity interests in a subsidiary EINR PSR E - (8,990)
Dividend income from financial assets &/~ F &5t ABzm Y
at fair value through profit or loss THMEENKREWA - 284
Loan advance to an associate BNFT—HEBHERTDZ
am (6,188) -
Purchase of plant and equipment BERERZE (358) (142)
Payments for right-for-use assets EREEENRIE (17) (182)
Net cash inflow from disposal of HEWBARZ
subsidiaries REMAFER 46 836 100
NET CASH FROM INVESTING RETHELRESER
ACTIVITIES 76,528 21,497
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REED
New borrowing raised MEHEER 6,900 48,807
Increase (decrease) in margin R REEER
loans payables a0 Cas) 502 (12,187)
Repayments of borrowings BEREX (30,045) (42,477)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHEEASE (966) (73)
Proceeds from issue of new shares BITHTIRAD < FR1ERRIE - 8,548
Transaction costs attribute to BoE IR ID FEIERR 5 A A
placing of new shares - (85)
Interest paid BAFE (4,000) (7,856)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n\m Eﬁﬁ;ﬁgﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BETEZ_THE+_A=-+—HILFE

zozo 2019
NOTE HK$ 000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FET
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING MEEZHFTEREFEE
ACTIVITIES (27,609) (5,323)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH R&RIRSEER L IEZRE
EQUIVALENTS (7,491) (9,938)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT F#ZzRERIAS%HE
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 2,416 17,870
Effect of foreign exchange rate SNEEXREEZEE
changes 8,026 (5,516)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT S XxzR&EERE%E>
THE END OF THE YEAR, LUERTTH s RIREY I
represented by bank balances
and cash 2,951 2,416
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Eco-Farming Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman Islands under the Company Law
of the Cayman Islands on 30 November 2000.

The shares of the Company were listed on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 5 February 2002.

During the year ended 31 December 2007, the
Company re-domiciled from the Cayman Islands into
Bermuda by way of de-registration in the Cayman
Islands and continuation as an exempted company
under the laws of Bermuda. The change of domicile
was approved by the shareholders of the Company on
15 October 2007 and the Company was continued
into Bermuda with limited liability with effect from 29
October 2007.

The addresses of the registered office is Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda
and the principal place of business of the Company
is 20/F, Wanchai Central Building, 89 Lockhart Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong. The directors of the Company
(the "Directors”) do not consider any company to be
the ultimate holding company and parent company of
the Company.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
business of one-stop value chain services, property
investment, trading of consumables and agricultural
products, trading of grocery food products, provision
of money lending services and provision of financial
services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the
functional currency of the Company. Other than those
subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC") and incorporated in Taiwan whose
functional currencies are Renminbi (“RMB") and New
Taiwan dollars ("NTD") respectively, the functional
currency of the Company and its subsidiaries is HK$.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

HEZ

2.

ETEF+"A=+—HUEFE
APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year
In the current year, the Group has applied the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards and the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™)
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for
the annual period beginning on or after 1 January
2020 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:
Amendments to Definition of Material
Hong Kong
Accounting
Standards
("HKAS") 1
and HKAS 8
Amendments to
HKFRS 3
Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39
and HKFRS 7

Definition of a Business

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Except as described below, the application of the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards and the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year had no material impact
on the Group's financial positions and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

2.1

2.2

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material

The Group has applied the Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 for the first time in the
current year. The amendments provide a new
definition of material that states “information
is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring
it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements, which
provide financial information about a specific
reporting entity.” The amendments also clarify
that materiality depends on the nature or
magnitude of information, either individually or
in combination with other information, in the
context of the financial statements taken as a
whole.

The application of the amendments in the
current year had no impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

The Group has applied the amendments
for the first time in the current year. The
amendments clarify that while businesses
usually have outputs, outputs are not required
for an integrated set of activities and assets
to qualify as a business. To be considered a
business, an acquired set of activities and assets
must include, at a minimum, an input and a
substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
“ECEF+"A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

BE
2.

2.2

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business (continued)
The amendments remove the assessment
of whether market participants are capable
of replacing any missing inputs or processes
and continuing to produce outputs. The
amendments also introduce additional guidance
that helps to determine whether a substantive
process has been acquired.

In addition, the amendments introduce an
optional concentration test that permits a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is not a business.
Under the optional concentration test, the
acquired set of activities and assets is not a
business if substantially all of the fair value of
the gross assets acquired is concentrated in
a single identifiable asset or group of similar
assets. The gross assets under assessment
exclude cash and cash equivalents, deferred
tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the
effects of deferred tax liabilities. The election
on whether to apply the optional concentration
test is available on transaction-by-transaction
basis.

The Group has elected to apply the optional
concentration test on the acquisition of L & T
Development (HK) Limited as detailed in Note
45 and concluded that such acquisition does
not constitute a business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but
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are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendment to
HKFRS 16
Amendments to

HKFRS 3
Amendments to

HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4

and HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Amendments to
HKFRSs

Hong Kong
Accounting
Guideline 5
(Revised)

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments’
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions*

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
- Phase 2°

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)’

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts
- Cost of Fulfilling a Contract?
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020?

Merger Accounting for Common
Control Combinations?
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_EHF+_B=+—HULHFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not

yet effective (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a

date to be determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
June 2020.
E Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2021.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the Directors anticipate that
the application of all other new and amendments
to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions

The amendment is effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.

The amendment introduces a new practical expedient
for lessees to elect not to assess whether a Covid-19-
related rent concession is a lease modification. The
practical expedient only applies to rent concessions
occurring as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 that
meets all of the following conditions:

o the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially
the same as, or less than, the consideration for
the lease immediately preceding the change;

o any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June
2021; and

o there is no substantive change to other terms

and conditions of the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B IRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZF+_HA=1t—HILEE

2. EREERMBHRSER (EEH

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions (continued)

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts
for changes in lease payments resulting from rent
concessions the same way it would account for the
changes applying HKFRS 16 Leases if the changes
are not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver
of lease payments are accounted for as variable lease
payments. The related lease liabilities are adjusted
to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a
corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or
loss in the period in which the event occurs.

The application is not expected to have impact on
the Group’s financial position and performance as
the Group does not intend to apply the practical
expedient.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework
The amendments:

o update a reference in HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations so that it refers to the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual
Framework”) instead of Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements (replaced by the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting 2010 issued
in October 2010);
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_EHF+_B=+—HULHFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not

yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the

Conceptual Framework (continued)

° add a requirement that, for transactions
and other events within the scope of HKAS
37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies,
an acquirer applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework
to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a
business combination; and

o add an explicit statement that an acquirer does
not recognise contingent assets acquired in a
business combination.

The application of the amendments is not expected to
have significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer
settlement for at least twelve months from reporting
date for classification of liabilities as current or non-
current, which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current should be based on
rights that are in existence at the end of the
reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be
affected by management intentions or
expectations to settle the liability within
12 months; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020) (continued)

(i) if the right is conditional on the
compliance with covenants, the right
exists if the conditions are met at the
end of the reporting period, even if the
lender does not test compliance until a
later date; and

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could,
at the option of the counterparty, result in its
settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own
equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only
if the entity recognises the option separately
as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised
as a consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to
align the corresponding wordings with no change in
conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31
December 2020, the application of the amendments
will not result in reclassification of the Group’s
liabilities.

2.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

HEZ

2.

ETEF+"A=+—HUEFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

The annual improvements make amendments to the
following standards.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of
assessing whether modification of terms of original
financial liability constitutes substantial modification
under the “10 per cent” test, a borrower includes only
fees paid or received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or the lender on the other’s behalf.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to Illustrative Example 13
accompanying HKFRS 16 removes from the example
the illustration of reimbursement relating to leasehold
improvements by the lessor in order to remove any
potential confusion.

HKAS 41 Agriculture

The amendment ensures consistency with the
requirements in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement by
removing the requirement in paragraph 22 of HKAS
41 to exclude taxation cash flows when measuring the
fair value of a biological asset using a present value
technique.

The application of the amendments is not expected to
have significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_ZZFT_A=1T—HLEE

3. RAEMBRRENEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Group reported loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$58,845,000 and
had approximately HK$56,410,000 net cash used
in operating activities during the year ended 31
December 2020 and, as of that date, the Group’s
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately HK$2,665,000. These conditions
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that
may cast significant doubt about the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern.

Although the Group has been continuously incurring
losses in these years, the Directors are of the opinion
that the Group will have sufficient working capital to
meet its operating cash flows as and when they fall
due for the next twelve months from the end of the
reporting period given that:

(i) the Directors will continuously review the
cost structure of the Group and formulate
appropriate cost saving measures to improve
the performance and the cash flows of the
Group's operations;

(i) the Directors are also considering streamlined
the Group's asset base by realise some of its
investment properties, selling the Group’s
equity interests in PRC and interest in associates
in PRC to strengthen the Group’s cash flows
and utilise the existing standby facility granted
to the Company whenever appropriate.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that it
is appropriate to prepare these consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2020
on a going concern basis. The consolidated financial
statements do not provide for further liabilities which
might arise, and do not include any adjustments
relating to the carrying amount and reclassification of
assets and liabilities that might be necessary should
the Group be unable to continue as a going concern.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment properties and certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or value in
use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B IRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZH+_A=+—HLEFE

3. KREVMBRERGREBE (B

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and
best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties
which are transacted at fair value and a valuation
technique that unobservable inputs is to be used
to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial
recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement
date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

FEMEENRTEFEDERETS
2UHEBBREERBRRERRKI
ARHEEETFHIIEREERERE
KR RACBITH 52 B & T E £ LK T

mAIBEST °

MBATEXSNERTARRKREY
ERNERABER A HERR AR
B EATENMGERNMS  GER
Mo T A2 » DU ERAMT I ¥ 2 FERD

FAVAERIBS N R 5B -

SN M BHREMS » 2 FEFER
BATENENBARBIRREE
RAFESFENGABEREEEREYN

EUENERBE B B _RTE=

o BOT

. FE-—RBABEEERNGE
HEARTLUEENWEREESN &
BRIEEBHIHEZRE REB

8 ;

. E_MBABBERNEENE
FEERIERMITER 2@ A
B (BE—RANEENRER

5

. EZMBABRBEEENER

By AR R B A B o

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIEZ 4 EHRAF
Annual Report 2020 — &~ T £

123



124

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

17 O =

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE
4.

“ECEF+"A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved where the Company:

° has the power over the investee;

o is exposure, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstance indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not
the Group's voting rights in an investee are sufficient
to give it power, including:

o the size of the Group's holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of
the other vote holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other
vote holders or other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

o any additional facts and circumstances that
indicate that the Group has,
have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to be
made,

or does not

including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control of the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including
re-attribution of relevant reserves between the
Group and the non-controlling interests according
to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’
proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable, the cost
on initial recognition of an investment in an associate
or a joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

Effective from 1 January 2020, the Group can elect to
apply an optional concentration test, on a transaction-
by-transaction basis, that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities
and assets is not a business. The concentration test
is met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross
assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable
asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The
gross assets under assessment exclude cash and
cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill
resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities.
If the concentration test is met, the set of activities
and assets is determined not to be a business and no
further assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and
liabilities that do not constitute a business, the Group
identifies and recognises the individual identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed by allocating
the purchase price first to financial assets/financial
liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining
balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the
other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of
their relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such
a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain
purchase gain.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses, other than business
combination under common control, are accounted
for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured
at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in
the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements (replaced by the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in October
2010).

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree
or share-based payment arrangements of the
Group entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-
based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with
that standard; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured
at the present value of the remaining lease
payments (as defined in HKFRS 16) as if
the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a)
the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is
of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the
relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease
when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount
of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment,
the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately
in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are initially measured at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets or at fair value. The choice of measurement
basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group
in a business combination includes a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify
as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date)
about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability
is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting
dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or group of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Goodwill

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that
reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than
its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or
any of the cash-generating unit within the group
of cash-generating units, the attributable amount
of goodwill is included in the determination of the
amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group
disposes of an operation within the cash-generating
unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of cash-
generating units), the amount of goodwill disposed
of is measured on the basis of the relative values of
the operation (or the cash-generating unit) disposed
of and the portion of the cash-generating unit (or the
group of cash-generating units) retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the
acquisition of an associate is described in “interests in
associates” below.

Interests in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control of those policies.

4,

RE BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZH+_A=+—HLEFE
EREEER (8)
e
ENkEmENRTELEN GIRTE
FEAIAAR) SEETRERE > NE
BERETZEUYIERRRMERE
SR HETTRE RIS o U ER & BRI UL
BEENHEMS  EMESEKHEN
REELT BN (NREELEBMUAER)
2R EBARAEITRERIF © 5 P UL
Bl ENHREE BIBEBEE L
WA ECALUTREREENREE A
BREZEM (HREELEEMER)
RIEEERNKREERLADEZHA
BE-

HERRRESELBEUNIRTELE
AN ERREELEBMUR  BG
HESEMALEEDSRNEE -E
FEBHERSELEN (FREEE
BMAARNANIREEEEN) RES
B> HENBESRIZHENER (N
REELEN) MREVBOVEEESE
B (RIREEEEMAER) VEHEE
B5t&e

FEBUBE-—BBEANEENHE
BRI T X T & AR 2 # | Fr it

REEQAT ZEm

BMEANTARELAERREERFEART
ENBER BARERRHRRESHN
MBRICEBERE2ERERNES B
A6 FESO IR S E HEIEFI R FEER

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIEZ 4 EHRAF

Annual Report 2020 — &~ T £

131



132

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A
17 O =

For the
HEZ
4,

R #5 ¥R 2R P 5

year ended 31 December 2020
ETEF+"A=+—HUEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Interests in associates (continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates
are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting.
The financial statements of associates used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate
is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the associate.
Changes in net assets of the associate other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes
in ownership interest held by the Group. When the
Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group's interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Interests in associates (continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate
and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained
interest at fair value at that date and the fair value
is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest
in the associate is included in the determination of the
gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that associate on the same basis as would be
required if that associate had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
by that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the
Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit
or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/
partial disposal of the relevant associate.
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ETEF+"A=+—HUEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Interests in associates (continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when
an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to
that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate are recognised in the
Group's consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate that are not related
to the Group.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their
carrying amount will be recovered principally through
a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.
This condition is regarded as met only when the asset
is available for immediate sale in its present condition
subject only to terms that are usual and customary
for sales of such asset and its sale is highly probable.
Management must be committed to the sale, which
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a
completed sale within one year from the date of
classification.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their previous carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell, except for
financial assets within the scope of HKFRS 9 and,
investment properties which continue to be measured
in accordance with the accounting policies as set out
in respective sections.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct
or a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance as the Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

HEZ

4.

ETEF+"A=+—HUEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a
net basis.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration for
the effects of the time value of money if the timing
of payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly)
provides the customer or the Group with a significant
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services
to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract
contains a significant financing component. A
significant financing component may exist regardless
of whether the promise of financing is explicitly stated
in the contract or implied by the payment terms
agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and
transfer of the associated goods or services is less than
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the transaction price for any significant
financing component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
the date of initial application or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract
is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative standalone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and
instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of offices that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies
the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the
lease term.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the

Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the
option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if

the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market rent
review/expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease modifications (continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for
as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability, less any lease incentives receivable, based on
the lease term of the modified lease by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount
rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified
contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

The Group as lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group's
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as lessor (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange rates at the date
of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserves (attributable to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a
partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or
an associate that includes a foreign operation of which
the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all
of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of
the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed
to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial
disposals of associates that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence), the proportionate share of
the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of that
foreign operation and retranslated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Government grants (continued)

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that
the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise
acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred
income in the consolidated statement of financial
position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of
the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other gains or losses”.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market
rate of interest is treated as a government grant,
measured as the difference between proceeds received
and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing
market interest rates.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefits scheme contributions
Payments to the defined contribution plans in Hong
Kong, the PRC and Taiwan are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)

Short-term employee benefits (continued)

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already
paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be
made by the Group in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in
the liabilities” carrying amounts resulting from service
cost, interest and remeasurements are recognised in
profit or loss except to the extent that another HKFRS
requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an
asset.

Share-based payment

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the
fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the date of grant without
taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to share options reserve. The share
options that vest immediately at the date of grant,
the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payment (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(continued)

Share options granted to employees (continued)
When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to accumulated losses.

Share options granted to non-employees
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
parties other than employees are measured at the
fair values of the goods or services received, except
that where fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in
which case they are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments granted, measured at the date the
entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders
the service. The fair values of the services received are
recognised as expenses.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

4,

RE BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZHF+_A=1+—HILFE
BEAGFHE (&)
MIE (&)
R BREINEERBBRAEE
HAFsERFRR G NEEIREM
ENEREREDNSELERE - AAF
— BT ERRINEG T EERER

SERERIEFN NS AAA TN Y
B 72 BRI 5% 5 P HN AR B By = R FE ST o
i B B = RA R ) 20 b a8 BREF B HF M)
H—BFrZERRN G G stiEd
WRZNWEEKRERMESL  RIBRRIE
EMBEERBEATREB UL &
ERERASREMEZNGES AR
FESBIEIEIR BRI

FIERBEERENB AT RBEAR
AR EEBANERRNE R ZE T LU
D WA EE I ER TR EZEE
B BEA A BEA G5 7] Rk 2R B [E] A
BRIN o BB R E Mg mAERE YA 0
BMERERMEENEEREEERE
RAIBEEE RMERR M UB B Y
Ry 2= B8t A 36 TR AR B] 5 B) R A 2R 4 ]
Ry 520

FIEMIAE ENREER SRS HE
ROERET > W FIAE IR B S0 FE SRR i )
e 2D B EBERF IR

BIERBEERERUEEARNE
REEHBERMANREAE  RER
BEPREERAEL LEBRHNREK
(Ri%) st & o

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIEZ 4 EHRAF

Annual Report 2020 — &~ T £

147



148

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

17 O =

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale,
unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes requirements to the
leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary differences
relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on
right-of-use assets over the lease payments for the
principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity
by the same taxation authority.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or
deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Plant and
equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write-off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement
of an item of plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in
profit or loss.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at their fair values.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investment properties (continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of investment properties are included in profit or loss
for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that
are acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Impairment on plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there
is any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any). Intangible asset with indefinite useful
lives are tested for impairment at least annually and
whether there is an indication that it may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
("CGU") to which the asset belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment on plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets (continued)

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the CGU or group of CGUs to which
the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with
the carrying amount of the relevant CGU or group of
CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU)
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the CGU) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the
group of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro-rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment on plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets (continued)

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the CGU or a group
of CGUs) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or the CGU or a group
of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle that obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Provisions (continued)

Restoration provisions

Provisions for the costs to restore leased assets to
their original condition, as required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, are recognised at the date of
inception of the lease at the directors’ best estimate of
the expenditure that would be required to restore the
assets. Estimates are regularly reviewed and adjusted
as appropriate for new circumstances.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a settlement date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"))
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest/dividend income which are derived from the
Group's ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
selling and collecting contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial recognition
of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive income if
that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_EHF+_B=+—HULHFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit impaired.

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIRE4EXEFRAE
Annual Report 2020 —Z ~— ZEER

4,

EXRGHER (@)

THMIA @

EHEE (B)
EMEENDEREEE (B

HESh > i BIE BR IR KR & 5t ERAC
2 £5 (B B 7 B BEH R 28 1 48 8 Al A
HEAFESARMEE RIS RN
TMEERETEAR R FESF AR

=
EO

() BN RFBEA
HERBHNAFENTRE
ERF B ARBERARE
R -MEBWMATHEREER
HRERAERANRTUHE
HHEBHREERE (R T00
ERBEMRIN - HREBLIRE
ERENEMEE FEBWRAT
BT —REHERBEERE
EBHNABBERMETLL
FESS - IEEREZR T AMNE
ERRFINEMEEMEE
TBEBREERE AT WA
BPEEEEESABHRERR
BZRIRSHORBH TR
EERERERABERAERY
LURESE o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value
recognised in other comprehensive income
("OCI") and accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve; and are not subject to
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or
loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on
disposal of the equity investments, and will be
transferred to accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss
when the Group's right to receive the dividends
is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of
the investment. Dividends are included in the
“other gains or losses” line item in profit or
loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in
the “other gains or losses” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

HEZ

4.

TR+ "A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial
assets (including trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, loan and interest receivables, loans to
associates, restricted bank balance and bank balances
and cash) and financial guarantee contract which are
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group's historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables without significant financing component.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a
significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the
debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause
a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

HEZ

4.

TR+ "A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse

change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default,
i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating
of “investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of
initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has
been a significant increase in the credit risk
since initial recognition of a financial guarantee
contract, the Group considers the changes in
the risk that the specified debtor will default on
the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

4.

(ii)

(ii)

Definition of default (continued)

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(@] the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market
for that financial asset because of
financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case
of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written-off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights. The Group
uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables using a provision matrix
taking into consideration historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward looking
information that is available without undue cost
or effort.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_EHF+_B=+—HULHFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

4.

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group
is required to make payments only in the event
of a default by the debtor in accordance with
the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed.
Accordingly, the ECL is the present value of the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for
a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that
the Group expects to receive from the holder,
the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for
which the effective interest rate cannot be
determined, the Group will apply a discount
rate that reflects the current market assessment
of the time value of money and the risks that
are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to
the extent that, the risks are taken into account
by adjusting the discount rate instead of
adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant
credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes
into consideration the following characteristics
when formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;
° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless
the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated based on
amortised cost of the financial asset.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade and other receivables, loan
and interest receivables and loans to associates
where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

17 O =

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HEZ

4.

ETEF+"A=+—HUEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity
instrument which the Group has elected on initial
recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative
gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss,
but is transferred to accumulated losses.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Equity instruments (continued)

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’'s own
equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
amounts due to non-controlling interests, borrowings,
margin loans payables and lease liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payments when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured
initially at their fair values. It is subsequently measured
at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation
recognised over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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year ended 31 December 2020
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting
policies, which are described in Note 4, the Directors
are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from
those involving estimations (see below), that the
Directors have made in the process of applying the
Group's accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Going concern and liquidity

The assessment of the going concern assumptions
involves making judgement by the Directors, at a
particular point of time, about the future outcome of
events or conditions which are inherently uncertain.
Please refer to Note 3 in relation to the going concern
assumptions adopted by the Directors.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B IRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZF+_HA=1t—HILEE

sHHER R st A ER R

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Impairment of interests in associates

In view of significant loss made by the associates,
the Group performed impairment assessment on
associates. Determining whether impairment loss
should be recognised requires an estimation of the
recoverable amount of the relevant associate which
is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal. The recoverable amount of interests in
associates requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flow expected to arise from the associates and a
suitable discount rate including the risk adjustment in
order to calculate the present value. The assumption
includes management best estimate of the set of
economic condition in the future.

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of
interests in associates is approximately HK$43,436,000
(2019: HK$53,549,000). Impairment loss on interests
in associates of approximately HK$855,000 (2019:
HK$2,619,000) was recognised in profit or loss for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGU to
which goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher
of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal.
The value in use calculation requires the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from
the CGU and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. Where the actual future
cash flows are less than expected, or change in facts
and circumstances which results in downward revision
of future cash flows or upward revision of discount
rate, a material impairment loss or further impairment
loss may arise. Furthermore, the estimated cash
flows and discount rate are subject to higher degree
of estimation uncertainties in the current year due
to uncertainty on how the Covid-19 pandemic may
progress and evolve and volatility in financial markets.
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S TE+ A HIEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Impairment of goodwill (continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of
goodwill was approximately HK$725,000 (2019:
HK$725,000), net of accumulated impairment
loss of approximately HK$22,869,000 (2019:
HK$22,869,000). Details of the recoverable amount
calculation are disclosed in Note 19.

Fair values of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on
the valuation performed by independent professional
valuers. The determination of the fair value involves
certain assumptions of market conditions which are
set out in Note 18.

In relying on the valuation reports, the Directors have
exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the
method of valuation is reflective of the current market
conditions. Whilst the Group considers valuations
of the Group’s investment properties are the best
estimates, the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic has
resulted in greater market volatility depending on
how the Covid-19 pandemic may progress and evolve,
which have led to higher degree of uncertainties in
respect of the valuations in the current year. Changes
to these assumptions, including the potential risk of
any market violation, policy, geopolitical and social
changes or other unexpected incidents as a result
of change in macroeconomic environment, travel
restrictions implemented by many countries, or other
unexpected incidents would result in changes in the
fair values of the Group’s investment properties and
the corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain
or loss reported in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

The Directors have performed internal assessment on
the risks of change in macroeconomic environment
through performing sensitivity analysis in relation to
the Group's investment properties.

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of
the Group’s investment properties is approximately
HK$18,367,000 (2019: HK$59,183,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B IRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZH+_A=+—HLEFE

EREAERGFIERERE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments
As at 31 December 2020, the Group's unlisted
equity instruments amounting to approximately
HK$7,871,000 (2019: HK$9,571,000) were measured
at fair value with fair value being determined based
on significant unobservable inputs using valuation
techniques. Judgment and estimation are required
in establishing the relevant valuation techniques and
the relevant inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions
relating to these factors could result in material
adjustments to the fair value of these instruments. See
Note 41(c) for further disclosures.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-
impaired are assessed for ECL individually. In addition,
the Group uses practical expedient in estimating
ECL on trade receivables which are not assessed
individually using a provision matrix. The provision
rates are based on aging of debtors as groupings
of various debtors taking into consideration the
Group's historical default rates and forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At every
reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. Due to greater financial uncertainty
triggered by the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has
increased the expected loss rates in the current year as
there is higher risk that a prolonged pandemic could
led to increased credit default rates. The information
about the ECL of the Group's trade receivables are
disclosed in Note 41(b).
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Provision of ECL for deposits and other
receivables and loans to associates

Provision of ECL for deposits and other receivables
with significant balances and loans to associates
are assessed for ECL individually. The provision rate
are based on internal credit ratings and taking into
consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue
costs or effort. At every reporting date, changes in the
forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. Due to greater financial uncertainty
triggered by the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has
increased the expected loss rates in the current year as
there is higher risk that a prolonged pandemic could
led to increased credit default rates. The information
about the ECL of the Group’s deposits and other
receivables and loans to associates are disclosed in
Notes 41(b).

Provision of ECL for loan and interest receivables
The Group estimates the estimated loss rates of loan
and interest receivables based on historical credit loss
experience of the debtors as well as the fair value of
the collateral pledged by the borrowers to the loan
and interest receivables. At every reporting date, the
management assesses the collateral and credit quality
of each borrower based on borrowers’s background
information, financial position, past experience and
relevant factors.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. Due to greater financial uncertainty
triggered by the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has
increased the expected loss rates in the current year as
there is higher risk that a prolonged pandemic could
led to increased credit default rates. The information
about the ECL of the Group's loan and interest
receivables are disclosed in Note 41(b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZH+_A=+—HLEFE

EREAERGFIERERE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Provision of ECL for financial guarantee contract
The determination of the present value of the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for
a credit loss that it incurs requires an estimation
of discount rate. The discount rate is based on
management best estimate of the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks
that are specific to the cash flows.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. Due to greater financial uncertainty
triggered by the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has
increased the expected loss rates in the current year as
there is higher risk that a prolonged pandemic could
led to increased credit default rates. The information
about the ECL of the Group’s financial guarantee
contract are disclosed in Note 41(b).
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6. REVENUE 6. W=
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (i) ZERASHINZNEENT
with customers
Trading of
consumables
One-stop and  Trading of  Provision of
value chain  agricultural  grocery food financial
services products products services Total
—i5 HEMR 12
EEERE RERES BRES RUSHERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-F-F
+ZB=+-HLEE
Geographical markets Btz
Hong Kong ) 2,031 14,375 14,738 1,434 32,578
Australia BARE LA - - - 971
3,002 14,375 14,738 1,434 33,549
Timing of revenue recognition AR S FS
At point in time el 3,002 14,375 14,738 1434 33,549
Sales channel/type of customer HERE /BFEY
Wholesale #E 3,002 14,375 14,455 - 31,832
Retail ZE = = 283 - 283
Corporate tE - - - 1,434 1,434
Total @t 3,002 14,375 14,738 1,434 33,549
Trading of
consumables
One-stop and Trading o~ Provision of
value chain ~ agricultural  grocery food financial
services products products services Total
—ibz HEME B
BEERE RERE EmBR RUSERH st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TiEn TR
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BEZZ-nE
+ZB=+-RALEE
Geographical markets B s
Hong Kong &8 7,282 11,674 5,182 3,196 27,334
Timing of revenue recognition AR MBS
At point in time R 7,282 1,674 5,182 3,19 27,334
Sales channel/type of customer HERE /BREY
Wholesale 3 7,282 11,674 5182 - 24,138
Corporate T2 - - - 3,19 3,196
Total it 7,282 11,674 5182 3,19% 27,334




REVENUE (continued)

()

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
with customers (continued)

Set out below is the reconciliation of the
revenue from contracts with customers with the
amounts disclosed in the segment information.

RE BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZH+_A=+—HLEFE

6. Il (48)
() HEREHWREHEN (B)

TXHEHINER G X W m o &
BRPTIRENE R IR

Segment revenue

7 BB =
2020 2019
“EIEF Z2—NHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAET
One-stop value chain services — — UGB {ESEARTS 3,002 7,282
Trading of consumables and HERMRRERES
agricultural products
— Reusable bags —IRR= 6,149 5,030
— Recycle plastics — Bl EB R 8,226 6,644
Trading of grocery food IEHEmES
products
— Ramen and udon —H B A5 5,247 5,182
— Frozen foods and others —RREmKREM 9,491 =
Provision of financial services RS RIARTS 1,434 3,196
Revenue from contracts with ZF A &4
customers 33,549 27,334
Leases HE 266 3,222
Interest under effective interest FZEEFIZEAFHENIFIE
method 1,381 1,280
Total revenue MU 35,196 31,836

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIEZ 4 EHRAF

Annual Report 2020 — &~ T £

175



176

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A1 5 ER R M 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_EHF+_B=+—HULHFE
REVENUE (continued)

4 A
17 O =

6.

(i)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Provision of one-stop value chain services
The performance obligation is satisfied when
services are rendered and the credit period
granted to the customers is normally due upon
completion of the service.

Sales of reusable bags

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
delivery of the goods. The Group typically
receives a deposit on acceptance of orders and
the balance payment is generally due within
0 to 60 days from delivery. When the Group
receives a deposit before the provision of
services, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract until the goods have
been delivered to the customer.

Sales of recycle plastics

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
delivery of the goods and payment is generally
due within 0 to 60 days from delivery.

Sales of ramen and udon

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
delivery of the goods and payment is generally
due within 30 to 60 days from delivery.

Sales of frozen foods and others

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
delivery of the goods and payments is generally
due within 0 to 90 days from delivery.
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(ii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. REVENUE (continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (continued)

Provision of financial service

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
completion of the service. The Group typically
receives a deposit ranged from 33% to 50% of
service fee on acceptance of the engagements
and progress billing is generally due when the
stated milestones in the contract are reached.
When the Group receives a deposit before
the provision of services, this will give rise to
contract liabilities at the start of a contract,
until the revenue recognised on the relevant
contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.

RE BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZF+_HA=1t—HILEE

6. LI&ﬁIL (IIE)
(i) ERENNEHET (@)

fERE MR

BHEBR THRBRZSE
T rEEBERRERORU
Y F33% E50% IR & 157
Be EREENRREREN
EEANTFI BRI -
s 7 5= B % 42 14 AR 75 0 R B 3%
& B RIB IR B 4T L EEE
Iﬁ“fﬁﬁﬁmu’]qﬂﬁﬁ BI U A B
BrTERIEARANGNER.

Transaction price allocated to the (i) XEBREEZEEELESHZERT
remaining performance obligation for JBAYE(T
contracts with customers
All revenue contracts are for period of one HRETERBESYNAENEA
year or less. As permitted by HKFRS 15, the —EGLUT - GEBUBREE
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied BIEE1558 2 B E » W BB o
contracts is not disclosed. ZRBHEHNZRZ B
Leases (iv) #HE
2020 2019
“EIEF Z—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
For operating leases: BERAKERE
Lease payments that are fixed — [EEFEE 7 EE 266 3,222
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_EHF+_B=+—HULHFE

Vo

OPERATING SEGMENTS

Information reported to the board of Directors (the
“Board”), being the chief operating decision maker
(“CODM"), for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance focuses
on types of goods or services delivered or provided.
No operating segments identified by the CODM
have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable

segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under

HKFRS 8 are as follows:

a. One-stop value chain services

—IATUBEERTS

b. Property investment

MERE

C. Trading of consumables and
agricultural products

HERMRRERE

d. Trading of grocery food products
EHEmE

e. Provision of money lending
services
R BEARTS

f. Provision of financial services

R RRE

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIRE4EXEFRAE
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REEDER
RHETERDE kD EBRFTEGD
Exge (858 AXEBEERKE
(TE2EERRE)) REVEHE
BERMRNRREENERNRBVE
Bl e RERAEBAVR] 28, D ERK > =
EEBRRELERFIHAANEED
EREEAR -

LTHEHZ AEBEREEBMHHREER
BB DRI 2RO ECUT ¢

provision of total solution services including trading,

packaging and

logistics solutions

RHEEERRDERYS (BEES BERYVARBERS

%)

generated rental i

ncome from operating leases of Group’s

investment properties

FEERBEVECEHEEENEEUA

trading of consumables and agricultural products

HERMARERES

trading of grocery

EHEmES
provision of mone

RMHBERSS

food products

y lending services

provision of financial and investment advisory and
corporate financial services

MM B RIEES

AU T R E AR TS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

17 O =

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HEZ

Vo

TR+ "A=+—HIFE

OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

Segment revenues and results (continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group's accounting policies described
in Note 4. Segment profit (loss) represents the profit
earned by (loss from) each segment without allocation
of central administration costs, directors’ emoluments,
certain other gains or losses, interest income, gain
(loss) from changes fair value of financial assets at
FVTPL, dividend income from financial assets at FVTPL,
share of results of associates, (reversal of) impairment
loss recognised on goodwill/interests in associates/
loans to associates/financial guarantee contract,
loss on written-off of plant and equipment, certain
(reversal of) impairment loss/loss on written-off of
other receivables, gain on disposal of subsidiaries, gain
on deregistration of subsidiaries and finance costs. This
is the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B IRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZH+_A=+—HLEFE

OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 7. R (48)
Segment assets and liabilities SMEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and MW TAKNEEIKZD] 23K ZRE
liabilities by reportable and operating segments: PDZEEHEEBGBD
2020 2019
—ETF "E—hEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Segment assets PEEE
One-stop value chain services — b B E B ARTS 830 471
Property investment MERKE 27,089 61,553
Trading of consumables and HEMKREERES
agricultural products 14,750 7,916
Trading of grocery food products IEHEmES 6,058 876
Provision of money lending services RIEBERT 2,876 21,148
Provision of financial services RIS RARTS 47 43
Total segment assets DEPEELEE 57,866 92,007
Unallocated corporate assets RO ABEE 218,574 185,247
Assets classified as held for sale NEAFELEENEE = 77,610
Consolidated assets EoEE 270,125 354,864
Segment liabilities DEFEE
One-stop value chain services —IE N EEERTS 1,146 478
Property investment MERKRE 1,648 16,852
Trading of consumables and HEMKREERE S
agricultural products 7,717 3,210
Trading of grocery food products fEHEmES 3,482 252
Provision of money lending services R BERT 107 742
Provision of financial services RIS RARTS 933 667
Total segment liabilities NE B EMEEE 15,033 22,201
Unallocated corporate liabilities AN v/N=TR =L 79,957 110,072
Consolidated liabilities meas 94,990 132,273
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_EHF+_B=+—HULHFE

Vo

OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances
and allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to operating segments
other than certain plant and equipment,
certain right-of-use assets, goodwill, interests
in associates, equity instruments at fair value
through other comprehensive income, deposits
paid, certain other receivables, loans to
associates, financial assets at FVTPL and certain
bank balances and cash; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than certain other payables, amounts
due to non-controlling interests, margin loans
payables, borrowings, certain lease liabilities,
financial guarantee contract, income tax
payable and deferred tax liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

Geographical information

The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong, the
PRC and Taiwan.

Information about the Group's revenue from external
customers is presented based on the location of
customers. Information about the Group’s non-current
assets is presented based on the geographical location
of the assets.

RE BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZH+_A=+—HLEFE
REDE (1)
& &
REBPEFUNRER PR E-

FEBERBIBEZEFVPARRENE
HhgERte 25 - AEBIFASE
ENRBEMEMEZS]-

Revenue from

Hong Kong A
The PRC HE
Taiwan ]k
Australia BAR

Note: Non-current assets excluded financial instruments.

external customers Non-current assets
REMBEE Z Wi EREEE

2020 2019 2020 2019
—EZEE “T-HE CBIEE _"ZT-AE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT TET FET TERT
33,959 28,614 103,833 64,875
266 3,222 48,002 96,932
- = = 17,916
971 = = S
35,196 31,836 151,835 179,723

Mz : FRBEETEEESMIA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i TS ER R MY EE
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZHE+_A=1+—HILFE
7. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)
Information about major customers
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the
Group is as follows:

REDE (&)

EREXEERIEN
HEFEREBERZWAGRERR
WA EBB10% 2 ERAT !

2020 2019
“EIEFE Z—hNHF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Customer A ' BERA 6,362 =
Customer B 2 = B2 4,418 N/A 58 Fa4
Customer C ! zZRC 3,824 N/A 58 a4
Customer D 2 BZRD? 3,466 =
Customer E 3 ZHE = 3,222

L Revenue from trading of grocery food products.

g Revenue from trading of consumables and
agricultural products.

: Revenue from property investment segment.

4 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over
10% of the total revenue of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B IRRMEE

For the year ended 31

December 2020

BE_ T ZFE+_HA=1+—HLEE
OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES 8. Hihhz= o518
2020 2019
—EBEIEE _—T-hNEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Bank interest income RITH BULA 3 2
Loan interest income BFA BRA 901 =
Loan interest income on loans to EEE QB EHERD
associates EEGIISUYON 917 4,026
Dividend income from financial BAFEEST ABEH
assets at FVTPL EREEMREWA = 284
Sundry income HIEWA 180 48
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERB R (Fi5E46)
(Note 46) 3,327 100
Gain on disposal of plant and HE MR R R s W e
equipment 117 -
Gain (loss) on settlement of loan and #EEEREEWF] B
interest receivables Wz (E518) 3,962 (191)
Loss on written-off of plant and 155 R B e 5% 1 5 18
equipment (26) (1,301)
Government grants (Note) B EED (MI5E) 680 -
10,061 2,968

Note:

MIEE -

During the current year, the Group recognised government
grants of approximately HK$655,000 in respect of Covid-

RAREE > EE TR E N R E 15 AR
BT #6 B #9655,00078 73 » B2 B BUF B9 fR

19-related subsidies, which relates to Employment Support PR B AR
Scheme provided by the Hong Kong government.
FINANCE COSTS 9. FEMZ
2020 2019
—BIEFE C"Z—NHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFAET
Interest on borrowings ERlIS! 4,762 6,798
Reimbursement of finance costs borne {13 & 75 Fi&IE 2 B E A A&
by lenders (Notes 34(b) and 34(c)) (fFEE34(b)F034()) 1,579 1,515
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEMN S 322 88
Interest on margin loans payables B RETERF S 723 852
Interest on balancing payment WENBABIELH@m
for the acquisition of ENNE I
further interest in subsidiaries (E& R MzE23(@))
(as defined in Note 23(a)) 861 2,692
Others Hh 208 -
8,455 11,945
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_EHF+_B=+—HULHFE

10. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT 10. ﬁgﬁ{%gﬁg?ﬁ*ﬁﬂlﬁ?miﬁfﬁﬁ
LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL 18 0pR#E [
2020 2019
—EITHF ZT-NHF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
Impairment losses recognised AT BB (BE) B
(reversed) on: AERIE
— Trade receivables — B S ENIE 259 100
— Other receivables —HhEWFRIE 640 61
— Loan and interest receivables — B ERF S 543 (4,049)
— Loans to associates —BHMEATEHER 386 (397)
— Financial guarantee contract — B IEREN 8,953 749
10,781 (3,536)
Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note BAETERIEFIEE SN MYEE41(b)
41(b).
11.  INCOME TAX CREDIT 11. FhiefiiE%
2020 2019
—EITHF ZT-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
Current tax: EHATRIA :
Hong Kong Profits Tax: BHEMER
— Current year —KFE 14 140
— Over-provision in prior years —BEFEBRER (108) (333)
(94) (193)
Deferred tax (Note 38): RIEFRIE (MF5E38) -
— Current year —KFE (14,434) (6,476)
(14,528) (6,669)
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11.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill
2017 (the “Bill") which introduces the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law
on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following
day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the
first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group
entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%.

Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the
qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the
first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits
and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits
above HK$2 million.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax
(the "EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for
both years. No EIT is provided for the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019 as the Group did not derive
any assessable profit subject to EIT.

The Taiwan Profit-Seeking Enterprise Income Tax is
calculated at 17% of the estimated assessable profits
for both years. No Taiwan Profit-Seeking Enterprise
Income Tax is provided for the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019 as the Group did not
derive any assessable profit subject to Profit-Seeking
Enterprise Income Tax.

11.

RE BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZH+_A=+—HLEFE
FRiSIRIESR (48)
RZBE-NF=ZBZ+—H &FHBI
FEBE(CE—LERB (B:]) (87
%) RBIER) (TZIRGFIERD) > 5| AF
BRmARSE c ZIFANERR T —/\F
“AZHN\HERBEN WRNERE
BHRNE - REAFHEMRS > SERK
EEERBRIES 25%MMER AT F2
BEBITHMIRIE WiFiZ16.5%09
Ky B AT U LERNRIE R
RFENERMARFERNERB IR
AR AR TE16.5% A — IR R BARIR
IHo

Hit fERERE2AES Brz st
FERM 148 25% st B EBFF/N
M2BEB BT L2 A5 BRI & A
16 5%t BE BB -

RIFPECEREBRZE (TREFRAER
1) RIEERERIEBIERG] > B
BABRMEFENKRET%25% H
RAEE T BIEGREREMEEFER
HNERERRAEN B RpREE—S
“EFERIE-AF+ZAE=+—H
IEFEFHR B EMESREE-

BMEREEFERERBEMES
0 {5 3t MR AR R R 017 % 2 R 3t
B o £ A 5 B O A A A A
RIERATSMNERINT B
HE_E_SER-B—hE+A
=+—BILFE (R A E R
SR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020

B=E

11.

TERCRFEA A=+ —HILFE
INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

The tax credit for the years can be reconciled to the
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as

follows:

11. FriSHIESE (B

ZEFERARBERIKREGESED
K E 2 B U & BRI AT B R AR
L

2020 2019
—BI2F _—ET—hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Loss before tax PRIG AR 1E (73.412) (106,147)
Tax at the domestic income tax ARSI E16.5%
rate of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) (ZBE—HFE :16.5%)
STERNRIE (12,113) (17,514)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible ~ REIHIM AL KR 755 &
for tax purpose 948 4,715
Tax effect of income not taxable for BEFHRNBANREZE
tax purpose (680) (790)
Tax effect of share of results of DMEBE AR EENRBEE
associates 1,528 2,848
Tax effect of deductible temporary RSB AHIRERERE
differences not recognised MB 2 68 920
Tax reduction MRIEF0 R (37) (40)
Over-provision of income tax expense BT FEEFTSIRF 2 BREEH
in prior years (108) (333)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised FREEBRIBEBENRFEFE 278 6,291
Utilisation of tax losses previously BRI AR MIEEE
not recognised (1,063) (48)
Effect of different tax rates of REMBEEERLZH
subsidiaries operating in other MEBABSINFERERE
jurisdictions (5,385) (2,718)
Income tax credit PRSI % (14,528) (6,669)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS |
REMBIRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZH+_A=+—HLEFE

12.  LOSS FOR THE YEAR 12. ZEEEIE
Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging: KAEEBEENRIORTYIRIEREYL
2020 2019
“EI%F E2—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Directors’ emoluments (Note 13(A)) BFE2ME BEsE13(A)) 3,276 3,176
Other staff costs HtB T4
(excluding directors’ emoluments) (FBEEESZM®)
Salaries and other benefits e REMEF 14,494 13,634
Retirement benefits scheme BIREN T B HRR
contributions 449 632
Total staff costs BT A48%8 18,219 17,442
Auditors’ remuneration: ZE BN & -
— Audit services —IZER 970 1,034
— Non-audit services —IEZBRTS 262 -
Amount of inventories recognised BRAsHZZFENIE
as an expense 28,540 20,638
Depreciation for plant and equipment BB KRR EITE 1,294 2,017
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREESEINE 786 360
Loss on written-off of trade receivables #fi#H & 5 FE W BR FXBIES 18 - 821
Loss on written-off of other receivables #fi#4 H fih & W R IBRIES 1B 2,934 -
Loss on settlement of loan to associates %5 & A B & AT /EH B
B8 133 -
Share-based payments to consultants 21 FEER BRI LARR 1D %
BRI 1,500 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N E=g:v ke
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_EHF+_B=+—HULHFE
13(A). DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the six
(2019: five) directors and the chief executive of the
Company for the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019 were as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2020

1BA).ZEZZME
BE_ZE_TER_S—AE+_A
=+ —HLEEERAARNNES (T
B—HE AL RTBERSEEN
SEMESmT

BE_E_EF+_A=+—HILF

=
Retirement
Other Net other benefits scheme Share-based
Fees emoluments Waived salaries emoluments  contributions payments Total
RIKER PUr]
ik Hit & BENEE | EtiE&FE IR ERMI® @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TR TR TR TER TR
(Note(d))
(GEI)
Executive directors HiTES
So David Tat Man BEX - 1,300 (100) 1,200 18 300 1,518
Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith 28R - 1,300 (100) 1,200 18 - 1,218
Sub-total NG - 2,600 (200) 2,400 36 300 2,736
Non-executive director FRTES
Leung Chung Hee (appointed on 2o (R-222F
6 July 2020) tAXBEER - - = = = - -
Independent non-executive BIFRTES
directors
Zhang Min RE 180 - - - - - 180
Yuen Wai Man B0 180 - - - - = 180
Yick Ting Fai, Jeffery HEE 180 - - - - - 180
Sub-total NG 540 = = = - - 540
Total emoluments ik 540 2,600 (200) 2,400 36 300 3,276
For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—_E—hE+_-_A=+—8HIE
E
Retirement
Other  benefits scheme
Fees emoluments contributions Total
\ o] \
ik HitniE BEIGSHA st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET FAET TAT TAT
Executive directors HITESE
So David Tat Man BREX - 1,300 18 1,318
Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith =) - 1,300 18 1,318
Sub-total INEt - 2,600 36 2,636
Independent non-executive directors BIIJERITES
Zhang Min RE 180 - - 180
Yuen Wai Man ==Y 180 = = 180
Yick Ting Fai, Jeffery SRR 180 - - 180
Sub-total INgt 540 = = 540
Total emoluments [ EE 540 2,600 36 3,176
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13(A). DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes:

(a

()

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group.

The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services as
directors of the Company.

No chief executive of the Company was appointed
for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, Mr. So
David Tat Man and Mr. Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith
agreed to waive their emoluments of approximately
HK$100,000 and HK$100,000 respectively (2019:
Nil).

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

13(B). FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, two (2019: two) were Directors whose
emoluments are included in Note 13(A) above. Details
of the remuneration for the years of the remaining
three (2019: three) highest paid employees who are
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company

are as follows:

RE BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZF+_HA=1t—HILEE

BA).EFZZME (&)

13(B).

MEE

@  EXFRAITERZHMENRRES
KRB RAEREHEEMEHRZ
ARFSSZ S o

() EXATRBIFNTEEZMEM
REREARBD ZESFAREZR
B e

(© BE TEERIE-AETT
H:+—EIJJ:EEF£ KRB ES
EITBBH -

(d) HEZE-ZEE+"HF=+—HLt
EE BRENEERZENLER
BEWERE D BIA%100,00058 7T K
100,0008 T E (ZE—NE !

) o

e REBEE_ZZFER_FT-—AEF
+TZIBR=t+—HLEFE KXEHIL
EAEEZNEAME  FRIA
REBIPRMAR ZZ/ > NFEH
BERAEE -

hlukEHMES
rEBAOURSHMA LTS M (2
T-NFE W) AEF REMESEH
ALEXMEE13(A) c RFEELIFR AR
BAEEARSTHRAEZH =4
T—NE I =) S HMNES Z
BT

2020 2019

—EBECEE —ZE—NEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Basic salaries and allowances N o= 4,364 2,400
Retirement benefits scheme BRIREA ST

contributions 36 54

4,400 2,454
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(., NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
U G BHRRIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_ZZHE+_A=+—HILFE

13(B). FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued) 13B). ENI RS MES (48)
The number of the highest paid employees who are SRR U THSEANNTIEFEENE
not the Directors whose remuneration fell within the SEHINEENHBWT .

following bands is as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 7T 2 3
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 5% 3,000,000 75 1 -
During the two years ended 31 December 2020 and RBEEZETFRZZE—NEFE+Z
2019, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the A —‘f——EIJJ:I:ﬁT[EEEW REEE I i
highest paid individuals (including the Directors) as an M= A L (BEES) X HEH
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as B ERMAREBINMNARZ 82
compensation for loss of office. Bho SiEA BERRBE(E o
14.  DIVIDEND 14. HQE

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary HE ZFE+"RB=+—HUILHF
shareholders of the Company during the year ended g #EEE##\F']ZIK’A}T 58 e A BRI Bl 2
31 December 2020, nor has any dividend been ﬁi‘iﬁﬁt_ﬁﬂné HEHRSHRETE
proposed since the end of the reporting period (2019: EIMEARE CE—NF . 8
Nil).
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15.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LOSS PER SHARE

RE BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZH+_A=+—HLEFE

15. &HREE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share

EABDEBEANBLEERENREEE

attributable to the owners of the Company is based on EBILENR LU TEESTE
the following data:
2020 2019
—EIEFE —E—heF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Loss ]
Loss for the year attributable to RABHEA NI FEREE
owners of the Company (58,845) (99,411)
2020 2019
“EBECEE —ZE—NEF
Number of shares i avig =4 =]
Weighted average number of ordinary &8I i1 F 98
shares for the purpose of basic and (MEREAKREEEIE
diluted loss per share ms) 932,552,430 803,532,540

The denominators used are the same as those detailed
above for both basic and diluted loss per share.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the
computation of diluted loss per share does not assume
the exercise of the Company’s share options because
the exercise price of those share options was higher
than the average market price for shares for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the
computation of diluted loss per share does not assume
the exercise of the Company’s share options since
their exercise would result in decrease in loss per share
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

MEREANREEBIEMES AN
DR FEFAMEARR o

HE_ T ZFE+_B=+—HLE
B> SREEIHEBENHETREREAR
BB R EETTE LD RN R EER
EHNTEEESREE S _SF+=
B=1+—BLEEENRGFHITE.

REEZT—AhF+ZA=+—81L
FE - SRESIHEENGELRBR
RATINEBREETE LB RZ
ETEBENHEE _T—NE+ "8
—+—BLEEFEENSREERD -
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196

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= AL

777 g |

B35 SR R MY 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZHE+_A=1+—HILFE

16.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ﬁ%&%ﬁ{ﬁ
Computer,
Furniture, network
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and and related Motor
improvement machinery equipment equipment vehicles Total
B EER BN BER
HENEEE BERES B 1HRRE HE EH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr TEr TEn TEn TEn TEr
cosT B
At 1January 2019 RZZ-NE—F—H 6,676 598 2,611 361 3,719 13,965
Additions RE 137 - 5 - - 142
Written-off 6] (3,751) (598) - S - (4,349)
Exchange adjustment ERBEE (17) = (17) = (17) (51)
At 31 December 2019 RIZ—h%E
+ZB=+-8 3,045 - 2,599 361 3,702 9,707
Additions RE 348 - 10 - - 358
Disposals HE - - - - (1,144) (1,144)
Written-off s (417) - 217) (243) - (877)
Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary  WE—RIBAFFE
(Note 45) (Mztas) - - - - 250 250
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 46) HERBAR (Hz6) (238) - (497) (80) (500) (1315)
Exchange adjustment ERBEE 52 - 61 2 16 131
At 31 December 2020 RZBZ%%
+ZR=+-H 2,790 = 1,95 40 2,324 7,110
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Rith&
At 1 January 2019 RZB-hE—-A—-H 3,598 598 1,326 297 1,988 7,807
Provided for the year FREE 935 - 452 38 592 2,017
Eliminated on written-off Nl SEaE] (2,450) (598) = s s (3,048)
Exchange adjustment ERER (6) = ) = o (17)
At 31 December 2019 RZB—hE
TS 2,077 - 1,771 335 2,576 6,759
Provided for the year FREE 495 - 448 2 330 1294
Eliminated on disposals R ERSEH - - - = (943) (943)
Eliminated on written-off R EsE (391) = 17) (243) = (851)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 46) HERBAR (H3k46) (38) - (381) (78) (175) (672)
Exchange adjustment ERBEE 51 - 56 2 27 136
At 31 December 2020 R-E-EE
+ZB=+-H 2,194 = 1677 37 1815 5723
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2020 R-B-EE
+-B=+-AH 5% - 279 3 509 1,387
At 31 December 2019 RIB—hE
+ZB=1+—H 968 - 828 26 1,126 2,948
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17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B IRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZF+_HA=1t—HILEE

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 16. BERSHE (B)
The above items of plant and equipment are e mEREEEE RN EGET
depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the A A ERRBEG EF U TERR
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum: =S
Leasehold improvement  Over the shorter of the THEY it E PHEEEENE20%
term of the leases, or UBEEEA%E)
20%
Plant and machinery 20% % B Ry 144 28 20%
Furniture, fixtures and 20% RIEEE 20%
equipment i
Computer, network and ~ 20% E IS~ 448 20%
related equipment e FBRE %
Motor vehicles 20% HE 20%
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. EFREEE
Lease
properties
HEME
HK$'000
FAET
As at 31 December 2020 A\ZEZEF+ZRA=+—8
Carrying amount IREE 1,010
As at 31 December 2019 RZE—-h&E+ZB=+—H
Carrying amount IREE 3,550
For the year ended 31 December 2020 8E_T”_THX+°"H=+—H
ILEFE
Depreciation charge HEER 786
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BHE_ZT-NEF
+ZA=+—HLEE
Depreciation charge TEER 360
2020 2019
— v E— E = _j-LEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Expense relating to short-term leases %2 #AFHAI 2 698 3,137
Total cash outflow for leases MENRESMHAREE 1,169 3,392
Additions to right-of-use assets EREEBERNE 1,111 3,821
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 46(a)(i)) HEMB AT (MfsE46(a)ii)) 2,857 =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A
17 O =

For the
HEZ
17.

Ch
An

R #5 ¥R 2R P 5

year ended 31 December 2020
ETEF+"A=+—HUEFE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

For both years, the Company leases various offices
for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into
for fixed term of 1 to 2 years (2019: 1 to 3 years),
but may have termination option as describe below.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length
of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases
for offices. As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio
of short-term leases to which the short-term lease
expense disclosed above.

Rent concessions

During the year ended 31 December 2020, lessors
of an office premise provided rent concessions to
the Group through rent reductions of a month.
The reduction of the Group’s lease liabilities of
approximately HK$8,000 and a corresponding
adjustment of the same amount to the right-of-use
assets were recognised.

Termination option

The Group has termination options in a lease for
office (2019: none). It is used to maximise operational
flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the
Group's operations. The additional lease liabilities
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2020
as a result of not exercising termination option that
the Group was not reasonably certain not to exercise
amounted to approximately HK$90,000.

The Group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain
to not to exercise a termination option upon the
occurrence of either a significant event or a significant
change in circumstances that is within the control of
the lessee. During the year, there is no such triggering
event.
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17.

ERAEEE (8

RmEFE ZARARHEEEEZRE
WMAZE-STUEESHNNEEHRRA—
EME (CE-NAF —EZF) > T
FEA T XFralipI#% LB - FHE R
T E R EEE R - RN EEEEHRR K
SHE R AR AR RER > NEEE
BHNBRLETE SO MITRHE
fi o

A BB AEEBET AL
ACERCEER-F-AET A
=+—B EBEEA AR L REN
TR AATE B 2 A B AT A A B

HEEE

RB8E_T-_ZEF+"A=+—HIL
FE -HHEAZBELRE—EAEE
BAEBREBAEHESEZ -AEH
AEaER/ 48,0008 T TEME
BRNHERTENEREEEFEHME
FESREE o

ARIERELE
FEERMAEHNPEAR L EER
“E-AF L E) HNDAR&KRKR
EMEeEErEREETRERN
EENESBEIE -BE_ZT_ZF
TZRA=+—HLEE AFXERILE
GEBENTEZMRILEZEMEE
AUERSMK IE BRI 2 8R4V 7390,000
BT
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18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the
Group leases out various premises under operating
leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases
typically run for an initial period of 3 years, with
unilateral rights to extend the lease beyond initial
period held by lessees only. Majority of the lease
contracts contain market review clauses in the event
the lessee exercises the option to extend.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group is
not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the
lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in
the respective functional currencies of group entities.
The lease contracts do not contain residual value
guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase the
property at the end of lease term.

18.

RE BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZH+_A=+—HLEFE
REME
RBE_B_ZFR_FB-NF+Z
B=+—HLEFE xAEENKLESHEE
WArAEEREYE HEBAEBRAX
o HENBIR—MRA3FE  EXK
BB R HAE & E X016 HA IR USMAY
BREEN KRFDEESNTEI™
HBBEERE (MRAEAITEERERE
&) -

REE_Z-—AF+-A=+—HL
FE AEETEREHNEEZHE
HBSNE R AR ARENEUER
BRZENIEERSE-HEGHT
BERBREERRRSHABARE
SRR B R EEE -

2020 2019
—BI2F _—ET—hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
FAIR VALUE NEE
At 1 January w—B—H 59,183 169,800
Disposals HE (29,917) (1,740)
Net decrease in fair value RBmPERENATFE
recognised in profit or loss B ER (11,673) (29,207)
Reclassified to assets held for sale BN EAREHENEE
(Note 30) (M$5E30) - (77,610)
Exchange adjustment PE % 774 (2,060)
At 31 December R+_-_B=+—H 18,367 59,183
Net unrealised loss on property StABEGHYEE G REIR
revaluation included in profit or loss [ SEi=pEC (1,701) (28,328)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

BEZ
18.

T RE+"HA=+—HIFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The fair value of all of the Group's investment
properties as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 has
been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried
out on the respective dates by Ravia Global Appraisal
Advisory Limited (“Ravia Global”) (2019: AVISTA
Valuation Advisory Limited and Ravia Global),
independent qualified professional valuers not
connected to the Group.

In determining the fair value of the relevant properties,
the Group engages third party qualified valuers to
perform the valuation. The Directors work closely
with the qualified valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurement.

There has been no change from the valuation
technique used in the prior year. In estimating the fair
value of the properties, the highest and best use of the
properties is their current use. The ongoing Covid-19
pandemic has resulted in greater market volatility
depending on how the Covid-19 pandemic may
progress and evolve, which has led to higher degree of
uncertainties in respect of the valuations in the current
year.

The following table gives information about how
the fair values of the investment properties as at
31 December 2020 and 2019 are determined (in
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used):

18.

REWME (8
FEERR_Z_EER_FB-NEF
TZTR=+T—HZABEREWER
FEDRENEZEGETGERNERAT
(K%LDB&Q$$IEM%@W
BYGEREREMGERN CE-AEF:
Iitcﬁfﬁun u@ﬁﬁﬁ@j&iﬁ_%ﬁ_}&i*
SHEFBAERAE) RAERBHFE
ZhEER-

RETHBYENATER  ~EEE
EBE-—FaERLEMETHE-EF
HAERGEMEYSIFUMATE
STERESBNMEED EZRERNE
UN ¢ &

BEFEMRBANGEES AL EES-
GERSWEZATER ZFVER
BRERERRNHIFRBR FAIMTE
Fi e BRI AR AN R 3k R R B > 151 R
BXEEENHIERBER > B
FEMEZTHEELEES-

TREMBANER T _SER_
T—nF+-A=+—ANAFEZ
R AN E R LR R B R
GENTEOR

Fair value Fair value as at Valuation technique and
hierarchy 31 December 2020 key inputs
RZBZEE+ZA=+-H
ATEER WATE “EAIRIEHARE
Investment properties located in Level 2 HK$12,300,000 Direct comparison approach — Market unit rate,

Hong Kong (2019: HK$13,000,000)  taking into account the recent transaction prices for
similar properties adjusted for nature, location and
conditions of the property

R EENREME EZMA 12,300,000 ERLEE-HHEMBER CEEFHMENLE
(Z2—% 1 13,000,00087T)  MERKRIELARNELMENEBRRZBIE
Investment properties located in Level 2 RMB5,090,000 (Equivalent to  Direct comparison approach — Market unit rate,
PRC approximately HK$6,067,000)  taking into account the recent transaction prices for
(2019: RMB25,520,000 (Equivalent to  similar properties adjusted for nature, location and
approximately HK$28,519,000))  conditions of the property
IR EIRE BN SRR AR 5,090, 00075 (7fﬁ KA BREBEA-TREAER CEEUMENLE-
6,067,00087) CE-—AF: (AERKRFLBEZNECMENTBRZER
)\Eﬁ%zs,szo,ooo% (FEERH
28,519,00077T) )
Investment properties located in Level 2 Nil (2019: NTD68,600,000  Direct comparison approach — Market unit rate,

Taiwan (Equivalent to approximately  taking into account the recent transaction prices for

HK$17,664,000))  similar properties adjusted for nature, location and
conditions of the property
i BENREME EZRA Z(C2-NEF HAK68,600000r BERLEE-—TREMER KEEAMENEE
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18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
There was no transfer into and out of Level 3 during
the year.

The investment properties located in PRC with the
fair value of approximately RMB5,090,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$6,067,000) as at 31 December
2020 (2019: approximately RMB5,980,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$6,683,000)) have been pledged
to a PRC company (“Entity A”) to secure a 3-year loan
of RMB13,000,000 (the “Loan B") granted to Gold
Wide Holdings Limited (“Gold Wide"), an associate of
the Group. Loan B is bearing an interest rate at 8%
per annum and repayable on 14 January 2022. The
term of pledge is from the grant date of Loan B to the
date falling three years after the due date (Note 21).
Gold Wide is the lender of the interest-free unsecured
other borrowing of RMB13,000,000 as detailed in
Note 34(c).

As at 31 December 2020, the investment
property located in Hong Kong with the fair
value of approximately HK$12,300,000 (2019:
HK$13,000,000) has been pledged to a financial
institution in Hong Kong to secure an other borrowing
and a margin loan payable granted to the Group.
Details of the other borrowing are set out in Notes
34(g) and 35.

As at 31 December 2019, the investment properties
located in Taiwan with the fair value of approximately
NTD68,600,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$17,664,000) have been pledged to a bank to
secure the bank borrowing granted to the Group.
Details of bank borrowing are set out in Note 34(j).

18.

RE BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_ZZFT_A=1T—HLEE

REWE (&)
RERILEE S RBZBARBEY -

RIEZEF+ZA=+—8>2F
B4 A AR KS5,090,00070 FHE R
6,067,00087T) (ZZ2—AF  HAR
#5,980,0007t (H8E 146,683,000/

70)) AR AFENKEEYXEIRRT
—RFPERE (MEREA)) UEREE
ShEBBRAT (T&5h) » NEBZ—
BHBEAR) BEN=ZFHERARTE
13,00,0007T (FTE#B1) - ERBZFH
?7’3_-,8%@%?56:7__& A+mA
EBE -HBIHAAEENBELEHERERE
BB =F 28 (fI5E21) o mUnMIsE
34()FfTEEil » oA A R B EIKIFEME
AR 113,000,000t 2 EH ©

R_E_EF+ "/ = + EI”Aﬁ

E497%412,300,000% 7T (— NE

13,000,0003 7T) Eﬁﬁﬁéé%ﬁ’]&ﬁ%

XBIRRFEEN —R SRS LUE

RAAE B HNEMER KBTI

HER HMERNF BT R M
34(g)M35°

—NhE+ZA=+—H'2F
B4 5 & 1568,600,0007T (FHE 4T
17,664,00078 7t) LR B ENIREY
ECEBF—RIBETUERALSESR
RHBIRITER  IRITERBEIBES
AT EE34() ©

\—7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U iR EMBmRME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_EHF+_B=+—HULHFE

19. GOODWILL 19. P5&
2020 2019
—EIEFE —Z—NFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
cosT Wz
At 1 January and 31 December W—B—HBAk+_BA=+—H 23,594 23,594
IMPAIRMENT HE
At 1 January w—A—H (22,869) (19,322)
Impairment loss recognised FRETRERSIE
during the year - (3,547)
At 31 December R+-_B=+—H (22,869) (22,869)
CARRYING VALUES IRmEE
At 31 December R+-_B=+—H 725 725

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill have
been allocated to two individual CGUs, comprising
one subsidiary in the trading of consumables and
agricultural products and one subsidiary engaged
in the provision of financial services. The carrying Blof_E-E
amounts of goodwill as at 31 December 2020 and
2019 allocated to these units are as follows:

e

RHETREAR EXPIHHMECED
REMEFRNREEELEML SEFER
EHEMAREREZN—BWBA
BRI ERESRRBH—EHREQ
FRIZ-NAF+ZH
=+—H EoREZFEMNHER
EEWNT :

2020 2019
=32 3 “E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFAET
Trading of consumables and HEMKREERES
agricultural products
— Inno-Bag Limited (Note a) —ERFEREERRAE
GEZ)) 725 725
Provision of financial services RIS RARTS
— China AF Corporate Finance —HEREMBEEERAR
Limited (“CAFCF") (Note b) (TR EERRR)
(MF5Eb) - S
725 725
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. GOODWILL (continued)

Notes:

(a

During the year ended 31 December 2019,
because of the under performance of the
consumables industry, the management assessed
that the aggregate recoverable amount of Inno-
Bag Limited exceeded its aggregate carrying
amount of approximately HK$2,772,000. Goodwill
of approximately HK$2,772,000 arose on the
acquisition of Inno-Bag Limited has been impaired.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the
recoverable amount of Inno-Bag Limited has been
determined on the basis of a value in use calculation.
The recoverable amount is based on certain similar
key assumptions. The value in use calculations uses
cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a 5-year period,
and a pre-tax discount rate of 15.87% (2019:
16.58%). The cash flows beyond the 5-year period
are extrapolated using a steady 2% (2019: 3%)
growth rate. The growth rate is based on the general
inflation rate for the year 2020 and the management
of the Group believe that it is reasonable. Cash flow
projections during the budget period for Inno-Bag
Limited is also based on the budgeted sales and
expected gross margins of Inno-Bag Limited. Based
on the assessment, no further impairment provision
was necessary as at 31 December 2020.

RE BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZF+_HA=1t—HILEE

19. BE @
M5E -
(a) REE_Z—NEF+B=+—H

IFFE HVHERITERRRE
EEBILRERRISLEERA
Bl AT YR [O] 48 & RE B 4B AR BR B 4V
2,772,000 7T c AW BE A BIRRIR
TtEERLABERENBEHELN
2,772,000 7T ©

HE —EFE+ZH=+—HIt
FE> mﬂhf REEBRATW
bl EEEREESEME
E o AU [El & BB FR IR A T A LR
RE-FHREBENAELFERER
EEEMLAEAAFHMHESR
MRS REEA RERATITIRE
15.87% (ZZ—N4F . 16.58%) > M
BEAFHENEREsRERBETEE
BE2% (ZF—NEF 1 3%) fFh#
H-REWERNLENRZZZEHF
HN—RERE BAEEESEBAE
EHBAE HEYBER8CE2AR
NEINREEHRNIRSREBAT
REAERGAEGCEFRABNE
HHERTERENF BRI 1
BT+ _"R=+—H E&E—
TR ERE N E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_ZZHE+_A=+—HILFE

19. GOODWILL (continued) 19. ﬁﬁ = (18
Notes: (continued) MIsE ()
(a) (continued) (a) (&)

Sensitivity analysis

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the
headroom of the cash-generating unit of trading of
consumables and agricultural products is amounted
to approximately HK$666,000. The sensitivity analysis
has been determined based on the exposure to
the pre-tax discount rate and terminal growth rate,
representing the key inputs to the determination of
the recoverable amount.

If the pre-tax discount rate had been 1% higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant,
the headroom for the year ended 31 December
2020 would decrease/increase by approximately
HK$147,000/HK$170,000.

If the terminal growth rate had been 1% higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant,
the headroom for the year ended 31 December
2020 would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$49,000/HK$86,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, due
to current market conditions, CAFCF has made an
application to Hong Kong Securities and Futures
Commission to surrender its licence in September
2019. The goodwill of CAFCF has been fully impaired
upon the cessation of business of CAFCF.

China Eco-Farming Limited FEIRE4EXEFRAE
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BRE D
HE-_TEF+"HB=+—HLt
EE HERREERESNIRE
EEB AR A2 44666,0007
7 o BELIE D AT T IR IR IR AT I IR =
Bk A g K= (BNEE I W ClE 586
FERNEZEHAZIR) EE -

WIRAIITIRE L 1% > AT
EHT@“%Z”H—;T“‘ TRIEEE
“EFE+_A=1+—HILEFEBY
oM, B 49147,0008 7T
/170,0003& 7 ©

ﬁﬁ(%igsztﬂ-/—ﬂzé1%’ﬁ'ﬁ

$_$¢+_ﬁ :+—B¢Ef§&
tH BB A 1B 10, R #949,00078 7T
/86,0007 7T °

RBEEZE-NAFt+ZA=1t—H
HEE AR ERBIHHNRR > HE
EEBREER_Z—AENARE
BRESKINEEHEREZETHF
N TETEFAARCHEHME
BEEREREEHRR LR HBHES
WETERE



20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTANGIBLE ASSET

RE BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_ZZFT_A=1T—HLEE

20. EEE

Licence
h& B
HK$'000
FET
COST B 7
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and R_E—NFE—HF—H-
1 January 2020 —_E-AEFE+ZA=+—HkK
—E-FF—H—H -
Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 45) EBUEKHTEB AR ETHWEEIE
(FF5£45) 758
At 31 December 2020 A _E_EF+_HA=+—H 758
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT RHEHRE
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and 31 \_’3 hE—RB—H>
December 2020 —E-NEFE+BA=+—HBK
:g_gfﬁ—i—_ﬂ =+—H -
CARRYING VALUES IEmEE
At 31 December 2020 A _E_EF+_-_RA=+—H 758
At 31 December 2019 A _E-NEFE+"_B=+—H -

The licence represents the licence plate which enable
the vehicle to travel and hang licence plate in both
PRC and Hong Kong. The licence is renewable every
year at minimal cost. The Directors are of the opinion
that the Group would renew the licence continuously
and has the ability to do so.

As a result, the licence is considered by the
management of the Group as having an indefinite
useful life because it is expected to generate economic
benefit to the Group indefinitely. The licence will not
be amortised until its useful life is determined to be
finite. Instead it will be tested for impairment annually
and whenever there is an indication that it may be
impaired.

ZEREEEERMENTETERER
THRHENER ZEREENE
H - BRBE -ZB=2R5 AEEEF
BEMZMRIR > WA WMIEITS -

Hit> x&EEEEEDRZRRAS
ERIANEAMR AR ERER
HAM 25 A 2 B 2 AR ASB A o o 52 R PR A
TEREBH EEHERMREERE
Rtk HPRESERSERTRE
BRI R RE R (E R Sy HE TR E A °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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17 O =

For the
HEZ
20.

R #5 ¥R 2R P 5

year ended 31 December 2020

TR+ "A=+—HIFE

INTANGIBLE ASSET (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Directors conducted a review of the carrying amount
of the licence and appointed an independent
professional valuer, Ravia Global, to assist them to
determine the recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount of the licence has been determined on the
basis of its fair value.

The fair value of the licence as at 31 December 2020
has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried
out on the respective date by Ravia Global. The
Directors work closely with the valuer to establish the
appropriate valuation technique and inputs for fair
value measurement.

In estimating the fair value of the licence, the highest
and best use of the licence is to resale it. The ongoing
Covid-19 pandemic has resulted in greater market
volatility depending on how the Covid-19 pandemic
may progress and evolve, which has led to higher
degree of uncertainties in respect of the valuation in
the current year.
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mEBEE (B
R8EE_ZE_ZEHF+"A=+—HI1t
FE EEZHZEBNREEEETT
B WHREBIIEEGEMHSIRIK
1 Bh 1R S A U] & RE c Z KR RV A]
WElEEELIREEAFEBEERT

ZRBR _E_ZF+_H=+—H
AT EDRE R SRR AEB B
ETHNGEESH EFUGEMERS
B LR ATFEFEREBENGEER
i e iy A\ AR ©
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20.

21.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTANGIBLE ASSET (continued)

Direct sales comparison approach under market
approach has been used to estimate the fair value
of the licence. The estimated fair value of the
licence as at 31 December 2020 is approximated to
HK$1,300,000.

Since the recoverable amount exceeded their
recoverable amounts, no impairment loss on the
licence was recognised for the year ended 31
December 2020.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

RE BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZH+_A=+—HLEFE
20. BEEE (&)
M EFE THNEZBEELEZEAN
At ZBRN AT E - ZERN T
EF+_A=+T—BHHEFAFEN
%1,300,0007 7t ©

== A B Gl N i K (== DRI
Cl&E WRBEE_S _TEFE+_A4
=+ —H I FE R &SRR
ER51E

21. RBERARZEm

2020 2019
—EB8F _—Z—AFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFAET

Cost of unlisted investments in REE AT ZIF LHREMA
associates 69,212 69,212

Share of post-acquisition loss and MW EREBEER

other comprehensive expense Hih2mEMAxX (22,302) (13,044)
46,910 56,168
Less: Accumulated impairment B REHRE (3.474) (2,619)
43,436 53,549
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R EMBRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_EHF+_B=+—HULHFE

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 21. PREBEATIZ#EDS (8)
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group had RN _E _EBEFR_EBE—HE+_A
interests in the following associates: =4+ —H AEER TS AT HE
B
Proportion of
Place of ownership interests
incorporation/ or participating
establishment/  Class of shares held by Proportion of
Name of entity Form of entity operation shares held the Group voting power held Principal activity
e/ HI/ FEEMTEMARELT
-t EiErA e Frsiin 2 ) BERRZILH FiRERILA IEEK
2020 2019 2020 2019
I3ZEF “E-nEF ZECEE IR
Direct associates
E#EEAT
FDC Limited (Note) Limited liabilty Samoa Ordinary shares 49% 49% 49% 49%  Inactive
FDC Limited (Ff3%) BIRAF BES LER BEH
Zhonghe Huaxia (Bejing) Investment Limited liability PRC Paid up capital 40% 40% 40% 40%  Investment holding
Consulting Co., Ltd.** ("Bejing HX")
%5 IR RESIBRAT"  ERAT e #REL BEy
(HtREE)
Gold Wide Holdings Limited (“Gold Wide") ~ Limited Liability HK Ordinary shares 25% 25% 25% 25%  Investment holding
SNEBBRAA (M&34) BRAT &# LRk BEER
Indirect associates
REREAT
Zhonghe Xinnong (Beijing) Investment Limited liability PRC Paid up capital 2% 22% 2% 22%  Investment holding
Co., Ltd.* ("Bejing XN")
aiR (b5 REBRAT ERAR E BRER ek
(im0
Fuyu Zhonghe Xinnong Market Real Limited Liability PRC Paid up capital 2% 22% 2% 22%  Properties development
Estate Co., Ltd. * ("Fuyu”)
HEpaNRmRERERAD ERAR e HRER nERE
(THkeR))
4 English name for identification only * WL TR (E R
" Sino-foreign joint venture 2 HINS B
* Wholly domestic owned enterprise t 2ERNEDE
Note: FDC Limited was inactive since its incorporation, the MisE © FDC Limited B 5 it A% i AR I #R 2

carrying amount attributable to the Group is not
significant.
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21.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B IRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZH+_A=+—HLEFE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 21.
Summarised financial information of material

associates

Summarised financial information in respect of each of
the Group’s material associates is set out below. The
summarised financial information below represents
amounts shown in the associate’s financial statements

prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

All of these associates are accounted for using
the equity method in these consolidated financial

REEQRZ#E (8)

FEMEATZMBERRE

AEBESIEME AR ZHWHENR
2HN T XM HER B RIE
REBUBREERREROBELT

AR

ARERANBRE ERSHEA

B EAEmESR

statements.

Beijing HX and its subsidiaries ITRESERENBAR 2020 2019
(the “Beijing HX Group”) (MlEmREEEHE)) —E-EFE _—ES—hHE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current assets MENEE 337,000 383,346
Non-current assets EREEE 107 117
Current liabilities mEas (248,897) (254,265)
Non-current liabilities ErRsas (19,182) (11,250)
Net assets BEFE 69,028 117,948
2020 2019
—BIEFE _—ZE—-hEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue W - -

Loss and total comprehensive AEFEEBBEREEMSZEE
expense for the year (48,920) (36,726)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

\ = AH =
RSB ERRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BETZETEF+A=1+—HLFE
21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 21.
The reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the interests in
associates are set out below:

REE QB 2w (]R)
EX 2T BEENBEERRBEAS
Z RERE A HIREBMNT

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FAET
Net assets of the Beijing HX Group IEREEEENEEZFE 69,028 117,948
Non-controlling interests of Beijing IEREEHRBATDN

HX's subsidiaries JEER R (33,658) (55,350)
35,370 62,598

Proportion of the Group’s 40% KREBNRIEREEER 240%

ownership interest in Fi B #E R = LE )

Beijing HX Group 14,148 25,039
Goodwill B 855 855
Carrying amount of the Group's REBRNITRESER

interest in Beijing HX Group @ AREE 15,003 25,894
Less: Accumulated impairment o REHRE (855) =
Carrying amount of the Group's AEFERIIRESEER

interest in Beijing HX Group @ AREE 14,148 25,894

2020 2019

Gold Wide E3h —EIEHF = —NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000

FHAT FET

Current assets MENEE 16,619 1,032
Non-current assets ERENEE 119,011 125,570
Current liabilities mENEE (18,479) (15,983)
Net assets BEFE 117,151 110,619
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21.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, included in the
current liabilities is the Loan B (as defined in Note
18) of RMB13,000,000, which is bearing an interest
rate of 8% per annum, secured by the investment
properties of the Group located in PRC with the fair
value of approximately RMB5,090,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$6,067,000) (2019: approximately
RMB5,980,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$6,683,000)) (Note 18) and financial guarantee
provided by the Group (Note 37), and repayable on 14
January 2022. Since Gold Wide has breached the loan
covenants, the Loan B became repayable on demand
and was therefore classified as current liabilities.

21.

RE BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_ZF+_HA=+—HILEE
REE AT Z DS (@)
RN_ZE2_EFERZZE—NAE+ZA
=+—H>8#&%8 (ExRK:E18) AR
#513,000,0007cst ATMBI BB RER
8%5t 2 AAFELARS,090,000
7T (FBE R 496,067,000 T) (ZZE—H
F AR 5,980,000t (FBE R
6.683,000%7T)) (M5E18) Z A E
NEAEBEREMERAERIREZHG
BER (MYsE37) fFIRiR BAR R
T —AtOHEE -BREAER
RE#HZ#E EFBAREREE
At DA REa R,

2020 2019

—ECEE —T—NE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Revenue W - -
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive — ZxEEF]E (B518) &

income (expense) for the year EWE (B 8% 6,532 (11,755)

The reconci